
               

 

                                                                                        

 

 

Regular Meeting 

of the 

Yonkers Industrial Development Agency 

 

PRELIMINARY 
AGENDA 

  

July 5, 2022 

At  

11:30 a.m. 

 

Agenda Subject to Change 

 

 

 

1) Roll Call  

 

2) Minutes for the March 31, 2022 and April 20, 2022 Meetings 

 

3) Financials for December 2021 thru April 2022 

 

4) Resolutions for Consideration: 

 

I. Final Resolution – St. Clair Development LLC 

 

5) Other Business/and Any Other Business that Comes Before the Board 

 

6) Legal Updates  

 

7) Adjournment 



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12 Yonkers Industrial Development Association
13 Board Meeting
14 March 31, 2022
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 1

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com

DRAFT



Minutes 
of The City of Yonkers Industrial Development Agency 

Regular Board of Directors Meeting
March 31, 2022 at 1:00 p.m.

Join Zoom Meeting
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83671486733?
pwd=OVBUSi9oUzhMdnYwbjRRK3JkOFpJZz09

Meeting ID: 836 7148 6733
Passcode: 504303
One tap mobile

+16465588656,,83671486733#,,,,*504303# US (New York)
+13126266799,,83671486733#,,,,*504303# US (Chicago)

Dial by your location
+1 646 558 8656 US (New York)
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)

+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)
+1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)

Meeting ID: 836 7148 6733
Passcode: 504303

Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdJ4gZaGXJ

BEFORE:
Mayor Mike Spano - Chairman
Peter Kischak - Vice Chairman
Melissa Nacerino - Treasurer
Marlyn Anderson  Secretary
Cecile D. Singer - Member
Henry Djonbalaj - Member
Roberto Espiritu - Member (Excused)

IDA STAFF:
Jim Cavanaugh - President/CEO
Jaime McGill - Executive Director
Siby Oommen - Chief Fiscal officer
Fiona Khan - Administrative Assistant

OTHERS:
Michael Curti Esq. - Harris Beach PLLC, Transaction Counsel 
Larry Sykes, Esq. - IDA Counsel
Frank Badalato - City of Yonkers
Dean Bender - Thompson and Bender
Mark Fonte - 1969 Central Park Ave LLC
Ray Ocasio - The Plant Manor
Roger Pine - Conifer - Warburton Ave Apartments LLC
Joseph Apicella - St. Clair - Macquesten Companies
Diana Bunin Kolev, Esq. - DelBello Donnellan Weingarten Wise & 
Wiederkehr, LLP
Kirk Lewin - KCT Inc.
Steve Accinelli, Esq. - Veneruso, Curto, Schwartz & Curto, LLP 
Sara Brody - Yonkers Downtown BID



1
2
3
4 JIM CAVANAUGH:  It looks like the mayor
5
6
7
8
9

10

is on.
JAIME MCGILL:  Yeah, he's logging in.

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I was talking and I
didn't realize you guys weren't hearing me. 
Okay.  Good morning -- or good afternoon, 
everybody.  Siby, do you want to start?

11 SIBY OOMMEN:  Yes, good afternoon.
12 Mayor Mike Spano?
13 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Here.
14 SIBY OOMMEN:  Pete Kischak?
15 PETER KISCHAK:  Here.
16 SIBY OOMMEN:  Marlyn Anderson?
17 MARLYN ANDERSON:  Here.
18 SIBY OOMMEN:  Melissa Nacerino?
19
20
21
22
23
24

MELISSA NACERINO:  Here.
SIBY OOMMEN: Cecile Singer?
CECILE SINGER:  Here.
SIBY OOMMEN:  Henry Djonbalaj?
HENRY DJONBALAJ:  Here.
SIBY OOMMEN:  Roberto is out.  Mayor,

25 we have a quorum.

Page 2

JAIME MCGILL:  The mayor will be 
joining shortly.  So we're just going to hang for 
a few minutes while he jumps on.

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, good.  Thank
2 you.  Do we have minutes that we need to approve?
3 JAMIE MCGILL:  We do.  We have minutes
4 for the December 8th meeting and the February 3,
5 2022, meeting.
6 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, great.  So
7 does anybody have any questions on the minutes
8 that they have?  Or are there any questions?
9 CECILE SINGER:  A motion.

10 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Hearing, no
11 questions, Cecile has made a motion that we
12 accept the minutes.
13 PETER KISCHAK:  Second.
14 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Seconded by Pete.
15 All in favor.
16 AYE RESPONSES:  Aye.
17 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any negatives?
18 Hearing none, the minutes have passed.  All
19 right, Siby, let's do financial.
20 SIBY OOMMEN:  Yes.  For financials, for
21 the months of August through November, we
22 received agency fees of $478,000.  Our cash on
23 hand at the end of November was $3.96 million.
24 Thank you.
25 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  Thanks, Siby.

Page 3

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 Are there any questions about the financials?
2 Hearing no questions, does somebody want to make
3 a motion?
4 PETER KISCHAK:  I'll make a motion.
5 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Pete's made a
6 motion.
7 HENRY DJONBALAJ:  Second.
8 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Seconded by Henry.
9 All in favor?

10 AYE RESPONSES:  Aye.
11 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any negatives?
12 Hearing none, the item is passed.  Okay, Jamie.
13 JAMIE MCGILL:  Our next item is the
14 approval of the 2021 audit.  We have Cecile
15 Singer here, who is the chair of our Audit
16 Committee.  And I believe we also have Rob
17 Daniele on the line,
18 CECILE SINGER:  So I would like to say,
19 I would like to congratulate all of our personnel
20 and Jamie.  We had a clean opinion and, of
21 course, that's very good.  And it was recommended
22 that we submit our approval to our Committee and
23 with the recommendation that it be passed.
24 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  Are there any
25 questions?  Would somebody like to make a motion

Page 4

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 that we accept?  Henry, do you want to make a
2 motion?
3 HENRY DJONBALAJ:  I'll make a motion.
4 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Second it?
5 MARLYN ANDERSON:  I'll second it.
6 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, a second by
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Marlyn.  All in favor?
AYE REPONSES:  Aye.
MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any negatives?

Hearing no negatives, the items have passed.  And 
thank you to the staff for its usual, doing a 
good job.  These are important documents, 
important reports.  I know they are a lot of work 
but I know you all stay on top of it.  So Jim, 
Jamie, Siby, to the whole team, thank you.  And, 
Cecile, thank you for your hard work too, as 
always.

JAIME MCGILL:  Thank you, Mayor.  The 
next item is approval of the PAAA 2021 annual 
report.  This is an ancillary report to our 
annual audit.  In your packets, you have our 
measurements report.  It summarizes the 
operations and the accomplishments of the Yonkers 
IDA.  It highlights six new projects that were 
closed in 2021.  This year, we have 86 active

Page 5

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 projects.  The annual report summary and
2 measurements report along with the approved
3 annual audit will be uploaded today to ABO once
4 approved.
5 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  All right.
6 So are there any questions about the report?
7 Hearing no questions, do we want --
8 does somebody want to make a motion that we
9 accept the report?  Cecile has made a motion --

10 HENRY DJONBALAJ:  Second.
11 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Seconded by Henry.
12 All in favor?
13 AYE MEMBERS:  Aye.
14 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Negatives?  Hearing
15 none, the item is passed.
16 JAMIE MCGILL:  Thank you, Mayor.  The
17 next, we roll into our resolutions for
18 consideration.  We're going to go a little bit
19 out of order from the agenda.  We're going to
20 take Item 5 first, which is a resolution
21 authorizing the increase in mortgage recording
22 tax exemption, sales tax exemption, and
23 readoption of the final resolution for KCT, Inc.
24 a/k/a/ CubeSmart.  We do have representatives
25 from CubeSmart here.  We have Kirk Lewin and

Page 6

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 Steve Accincelli.  We have Michael Curti who is
2 representing the transaction.
3 Just to summarize, this request is to
4 increase the previously approved mortgage amount
5 by approximately $2.8 million resulting in an
6 additional $43,000 in exemption as well as
7 increase to the sales tax exemption in an amount
8 of $39,000.
9 The project indicated that subsequent

10 to the IDA's final approval as required by land
11 use approval, they were required to provide for
12 additional onsite parking.  As a result of
13 inflation and the additional parking
14 requirements, it just drove the project costs up
15 by approximately $3 million.
16 We did have a supplemental analysis
17 done on this request and the conclusion was that
18 the increase had minimal to no impact on the on
19 the original Camoin report.  It does not alter
20 their recommendation for -- that this project
21 still adds a positive benefit cost ratio to the
22 city.  And they do recommend approving the
23 request.
24 Again, we have Michael Curti here, who
25 is transaction counsel, and representatives from

Page 7

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 KCT on the line.
2 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, are there any
3 questions?  I think it's pretty straightforward.
4 Are there any additional questions?  All right
5 here no questions, somebody want to make a
6 motion?  Henry?
7 Pete's made a motion seconded by Henry.
8 all in favor?
9 AYE MEMBERS:  Aye.

10 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any negatives?  The
11 item is passed.  Thank you.
12
13
14

STEVE ACCINELLI:  Thank you, everyone. 
MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Thanks, Steve. 
JAIME MCGILL:  Thank you.  Our next

15 item is an inducement resolution for Warburton
16 Avenue Apartments, LLC.  We have Roger Pine, one
17 of the principals from the project, as well as
18 Steve Accinelli here to represent the project,
19 and, as always, Michael Curti here representing
20 the transaction.
21 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, who wants to
22 start?
23 MICHAEL CURTI:  Roger and Steve, maybe
24 you start out and then I'll walk the resolution -
25 - I'll walk the Board through the resolution at

Page 8

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 the conclusion of that presentation.  James,
2 Roger and yourself.
3 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Just, just on a side
4 note, Steve, just on a side note, Mike Curti's
5 got good camera.  He has the best camera of all
6 of us.  Just throwing that out there.  Sorry.
7 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Private, private
8 sector.  They, you know, they got lots of money,
9 especially after we pay their bills.

10 STEVE ACCINELLI:  Harris Beach is high
11 tech.
12 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Yes, you're not
13 kidding.  Look at it, jeez, he actually even
14 looks handsome.  I mean, well, he looks more
15 handsome.
16 MIKE CURTI:  Thank you.
17 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Hi, Steve.
18 STEVE ACCINNELLI:  Good afternoon, Mr.
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Mayor and members of the Board, everyone, hey, 
Jamie.  Again for the record, Steve Accinelli 
from Vneneruso, Curto, Schwartz and Curto on 
behalf of the co-developers.  This is a project, 
co-development project involving C.U.R.E together 
with Conifer.  In addition, obviously, the City 
of Yonkers is involved as a partner in as much as 
a

Page 9

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 number of the parcels involved with the proposed
2 development are Yonkers owned and City
3 foreclosure lots.
4 This project proposes the development
5 of a senior affordable housing community that
6 will house 94 units on a six-story structure on
7 Warburton Avenue.  The property is currently --
8 it's existing vacant property.  There's a couple
9 of vacant structures that are currently existing.

10 Those structures will be taken down and in its
11 place will be the development of the, of the six-
12 story structure.
13 It's a transit oriented development.
14 It's part of the community redevelopment and
15 revitalization.  The project meets the goals of
16 HCR and also providing long term housing
17 opportunities for seniors in the surrounding
18 community.  I'm very excited about the project.
19 In addition, the project will bring
20 fundamental socioeconomic benefits that will
21 further transform the community by providing high
22 quality, long-term, income-restricted homes for
23 an aging senior population representative of the
24 demographics in the city of Yonkers.
25 Once again, it will be 94 studio and

Page 10

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 one bedroom apartments; 37 studios, there will be
2 56 one-bedroom and also one super's apartment.
3 It will be a state of the art construction
4 project.  It will meet NYSERDA standards, as well
5 as LEED standards.
6 And I think that summarizes the basics
7 of the project.  If there are any questions, I'm
8 here.  James Simmons from Cure is here, as is
9 Roger Pine, who is the vice president of

10 development for Conifer.
11 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Thank you.
12 MIKE CURTI:  Just a few things, Mayor.
13 Just a little bit about the resolution that's
14 before you.  It's a little bit more than our
15 typical inducement resolution for a couple of
16 reasons.  As Steve indicated, the applicant here
17 is pursuing 9 percent tax credits from the State
18 of New York.  The application deadline is today.
19 So they are anxiously requesting the IDA to
20 approve this inducement resolution so they can
21 make it a part of their application package which
22 is due later today.  In addition, to show the
23 State that there's meaningful progress insofar as
24 acquiring the properties, in addition to the
25 private sites that they've acquired, there's

Page 11

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 also, there's also a local law that's before the
2 City Council right now that we have every
3 expectation will be adopted by the City Council
4 in the middle part of April.
5 Mayor, to your point yesterday during
6 the State of the City, you pointed out the Point
7 and Ravine project, which is currently under
8 construction.  This is a contemplated phase two
9 of those improvements made in that corridor.

10 The purchase and sale agreement that is
11 before you is based upon the agreement that the
12 IDA approved last year for Point and Ravine.  The
13 City will be receiving $1.99 million -- $1.90
14 million dollars from this transaction.  Any
15 monies received by the IDA would be passed back
16 to the City in the same way it was done in the
17 Point and Ravine transaction.
18 The purchase and sale agreement that
19 would be executed today will be contingent on
20 three things.  One, that the local law is adopted
21 by the City Council on or before 12/31 of this
22 year.  Also that there is no objection from the
23 State once we send out our customary ABO notices
24 that we are disposing of property, even though
25 the IDA is going to be in title for a brief

Page 12

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 moment, we still have to comply with public
2 authorities law with regard to that matter.  And
3 then also the conceptual agreement, development
4 plan is agreed to by and between the City and
5 also the developer.
6 So that's the inducement in a nutshell.
7 If there's any questions again, I'm sure the
8 applicant is more than happy to answer them.
9 Thank you.

10 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Thank you, Mike.
11 Are there any questions?  Okay.  This is a
12 continuation of a very exciting project the City
13 entered into a while ago and we're finally seeing
14 the fruits of all of our labor there.  So I'm
15 excited to see this happen.
16 Somebody want to make a motion, we
17 accept?
18 HENRY DJONBALAJ:  I'll make a motion.
19 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Henry's made a
20 motion.  Seconded by Pete.  All in favor?
21 AYE RESPONSES:  Aye.
22 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Negatives?  Hearing
23 none, the item is passed.
24 STEVE ACCINELLI:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor,
25 members of the Board, Staff, thank you.

Page 13

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Thank you.
JAMIE MCGILL:  The next item is an 

inducement resolution for The Plant Manor, LLC. 
This is a phase too.  We have Ray Ocasio, here 
part of the project, to do a presentation for the 
Board.  I think he's going to share his screen 
with us.

RAY OCASIO:  Thanks, Jamie.  Great. 
Can everybody see my screen?

JAIME MCGILL:  We see it.
RAY OCASIO:  All right.   Mr. Mayor,

members of the Board, I just want to bring you an 
update on where we stand with the Manor.  I know 
that when you last met and did an inducement for 
the project, it was back in 2019 and obviously a 
lot has happened since then.

Now that we're coming out of COVID, 
some of the delays that that occurred back then 
and are now moving forward in full swing and we 
are finalizing all our local entitlements with 
the various boards in the city, the last one 
being the combined site plan approval from the 
planning board that will combine both the Manor 
and the Cliff House, which is an extension out 
the back of the former Bosch Hall.

Page 14

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 So I'll do a quick little summary as a
2 reminder of what the project is.  The Manor is
3 essentially a sister property to The Plant that's
4 also in development and going -- and seeking IDA
5 and is under a separate application and then the
6 Cliff House itself.  So that the estate, formerly
7 the William Boyce Thompson, the state as well as
8 the Cliff House, which was the Seton College
9 Bosch Hall, will be converted into an event

10 venue.
11 And then together, the three spaces
12 will work together to become a global home for
13 climate solutions where entrepreneurs, inventors,
14 climate solutionists can all work together under
15 the roof of The Plant and then convene and have
16 events, curated events at the Manor at Cliff
17 House.  The Manor, as you know, is about seven
18 minutes up the road from The Plant, down at JFK
19 Marina and the site is right here on North
20 Broadway across from the Lenoir Preserve.  It was
21 built by William Boyce Thompson back in the 1920s
22 and has traded hands over the years and is now
23 currently in the possession of The Plant.  The
24 Sisters Charity ran this as Seton College and the
25 dorm.  And back in 2019, Bosch Hall, which was

Page 15

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 immediately behind the Manor, we began the
2 efforts of demolishing that to restore the vistas
3 and the gardens that once were part of the
4 estate.
5 So the current restoration is led by
6 myself and Brian Lindsey from development and
7 construction.  Many of you have probably met with
8 Lela in the past and it will be operated by the
9 team of Jim Kirsch and the Abigail Kirsch team.

10 The architects on both The Plant and the Manor
11 are GKV Architects for the historic preservation
12 and the new construction.
13 So that's the Manor, circa 1912 and
14 then the proposed rendering of the improvements
15 with, again, all the Manor being an historic
16 property being renovated back to its grandeur.
17 And then the grounds behind it and around it
18 we've gone through landmarks and gotten approval
19 for all the statuaries and other landmarks,
20 historical pieces around the property.  And this,
21 this follows that.
22 And then the Bosch Hall, which was
23 formerly here, what remains is the basement
24 levels, which we will excavate to make larger and
25 then return the garden above it.  So basically a

Page 16

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 roof deck garden above the structure.
2 So this is kind of looking east from
3 above.  And you can see how the event hall will
4 be here.
5 Again, as part of our approved zoning
6 resolution.  The property can have events up to
7 435 people.  The Manor, itself, it doesn't have
8 any spaces large enough.  So part of the reason
9 why this is coming before you again, is that the

10 Cliff House space will allow for a larger venue
11 to house events up to that size.  There's just
12 simply no, no single room in the Manor that could
13 accommodate that.  And it's part of the zoning
14 resolution.  That's a contiguous use perspective.
15 So 435 people across the entire campus,
16 regardless of where they're, where they are
17 located.
18 Another view inside the Cliff House.
19 This is kind of the conditions as you see them
20 today and then how we look to restore from a
21 landscaping and gardening perspective.  Three
22 terraces.  The lawn overlook, an herbal garden
23 that could be used by the onsite kitchens.  And
24 then the Cliff House, again, just little details
25 about how it will work towards being built into

Page 17

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 the cliff side and how the space can accommodate
2 larger venues.
3 This is what it looks like today.  And
4 once the improvements are completed.  The back
5 lawn.  Restore views to the Hudson and kind of an
6 overview, again, of the gardens, everything,
7 landscaping in place.  The terraces.  A lot of
8 this down here is all historic and just showing
9 how it will remain in place.

10 And so the types of events.  I mean
11 traditionally many of you know that they held
12 lots of, you know, photo shoots, fashion videos,
13 lots of films have been done here.  That will
14 continue from a kind of a revenue and operations
15 standpoint, but it will also be, as I mentioned,
16 a space where people can have weddings, private
17 weddings and events, screenings, conferences, and
18 climate convening.  So again, the Manor will have
19 many of its rooms restored, roughly 28 bedrooms
20 restored so that they can be overnight guests.
21 It's considered a hotel by zoning perspective,
22 but it's not something that you can book as a one
23 off.  You either book the entire property for an
24 event and therefore those rooms become available
25 like for a wedding for example, or when climate

Page 18

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 solutionists and organizations come to work and
2 stay at The Plant that may have international
3 locations, they can stay there as part of their
4 membership of the planet.
5 So timeline, in terms of approvals, as
6 I mentioned, many of them are finalized with the
7 exception of the combined site plan.  We had the
8 planning approved, the original site plan that
9 didn't have the Cliff House, which is also what

10 you saw last time.  Now with the Cliff House in
11 there, the combined site plan application is
12 before them and it's expected to have a
13 resolution hopefully in April.
14 Traffic studies have been done.  We've
15 gone through both amendments.  Historic tax
16 credits for the Cliff -- for the Manor on both
17 Part One and Parts Two.  As I mentioned, we have
18 Abigail Kirsch working as the operator, GKV as
19 the historic preservation architect, as well as
20 the architect for the Cliff House.
21 Roof work began last year.  We're about
22 80 percent complete now.  If you have driven by,
23 you can see a lot of the work of the slate roof
24 being done as we speak.  But the full site
25 construction which would be this phase of work

Page 19

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 that we're applying for, which will complete both
2 the Manor exterior envelope, interior envelope as
3 well as the Cliff House, we hope to begin
4 sometime in the third quarter of this year and
5 then complete it in the end of 2023 with the
6 facility coming online in the first quarter of
7 2024.
8 A lot of the community support that
9 many of you know that that we're looking to work

10 with and collaborate with in terms of projects on
11 both sides as well as a global community is
12 supportive and likely will look at being tenants
13 or sponsors of The Plant and the Manor mission.
14 And then just a summary of some of the
15 financials that are in your application.  We
16 previously purchased the property.  That's not
17 part of this particular increase in numbers but
18 just need to cite that out.  A total cost of
19 construction, 29 million broken out between 7
20 million in labor, 22 million in equipment and
21 materials, 2.3 million in non-construction FF&E,
22 soft costs of roughly 17 million, for a total of
23 48 million before acquisition.
24 In terms of how the sources and uses
25 roughly, about 13 million is going to be an

Page 20

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 equity, 52 percent of the total cost to be
2 financed, C-PACE and historic tax credits will
3 cover the balance.  Again, for the total of 48
4 inclusive of the acquisition.
5 So before you were looking to add a
6 sales tax exemption for the hard cost, which is
7 22 million, mortgage recording tax which we
8 expect to be about 30.5 million, and then the
9 real property tax abatement PILOT was 15 years.

10 Social impact, you know, The Plant is a
11 social impact company.  Again, we're looking for
12 this to be a center for climate change.  Both
13 buildings, The Plant and the Manor will be
14 developed and designed to be zero carbon, so
15 having no carbon footprint and being completely
16 independent of the of the grid either through
17 onsite renewable energy resources or partnering
18 with a community renewable like a community
19 solar, so that it is 100 percent carbon neutral.
20 Obviously, advancing sustainability jobs.  In the
21 application, we're noting that we'll have 17
22 full-time jobs and 24 part-time jobs at occupancy
23 opening, roughly generating 100 to 200
24 construction jobs or about 228,000 man hours for
25 the power plant.  That, you know, from a wages

Page 21

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 perspective in Yonkers, it's probably from a,
2 from the historic preservation - construction
3 component, it's about 4.5 million.  And then
4 annual wages in the 2.2 to $3 million a year with
5 other benefits to surrounding businesses in the 3
6 to $6 million range within the community of
7 Yonkers.  And then from a construction
8 standpoint, local businesses will probably see
9 somewhere between 10 to $15 million during the

10 period of construction.
11 And that's what I have today.  Unless
12 there's any questions, I'm happy to answer.
13 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, pretty
14 exciting project.  The only thing I would caution
15 you a little bit on is in your community support
16 document, you have this, you know, I know you
17 don't have the City of Yonkers seal, but you have
18 the City Council seal.  I don't know that -- that
19 probably shouldn't be there only because of the
20 nature of what they do.  So just throwing that
21 out there.
22 RAY OCASIO:  No, I appreciate it.
23 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I'm excited about
24 the project.  I'm excited by what you guys have
25 done.  We are patiently waiting for us to get to

Page 22

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 the end of this project because, you know, we
2 believe in what you're doing.  We want this thing
3 to happen.  Some of us, you know, have a little
4 more of an incentive to see you get done a little
5 quicker because some of us wouldn't be here
6 after, you know, after the end of 2023.  So just
7 keep that back in your mind?
8 RAY OCASIO:  No, we're super eager.
9 Obviously with the entitlements being behind us,

10 you know, C-PACE lending and if you're not
11 familiar, it's essentially the gap between what a
12 traditional project would be and how it would be
13 financed.  But because we have all of the
14 environmental and sustainability efforts and
15 trying to get to zero, those obviously add a
16 significant amount of costs and C-PACE comes in
17 and kind of acts as a gap lender.  And so we
18 already have that in place.  We already have
19 historic tax credits in place, and so yeah, we're
20 ready to get going once we get through these
21 finals approvals and permits in place to proceed
22 with the rest of the construction.
23 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Great.  Any
24 questions for anybody on the Board?  All right.
25 Jaime, what do we have to do?   Do we

Page 23

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19 Mayor.
20
21
22

RAY OCASIO:  Thank you.  Thank you,

JAIME MCGILL:  Thanks, Ray.
RAY OCASIO:  Thanks, Jamie.
JAIME MCGILL:  Okay.  The next item is

23 also an inducement resolution.  This is for Saint
24 Clair Development, LLC.  We have Joe Apicella
25 here to give a brief presentation on the project.

Page 24

have to approve an inducement?
JAIME MCGILL:  This is, this is just an 

inducement.  So, we just need to vote on the 
inducement.  There's no benefit until we have a 
final.

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  We, you know, 
we've gone through this.  We've been working with 
you guys for a while, so obviously we're hopeful. 
We're finally seeing the light of day for you, 
for your sake and for ours.  So anybody want to 
make a motion?

Cecile has made a motion seconded by 
Pete.  You all right, Pete, with that?  All 
right.  Do we have -- okay.  How many in the 
affirmative?  All right.  Any negatives?  Hearing 
none, the item is passed.  All right, thank you, 
Ray.  Give our best to Lela.

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 I believe he also has counsel on the line, Diana
2 Kolev.
3 JOE APICELLA:  Hi, good afternoon,
4 everyone.
5 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Do we have to hear
6 Joe Apicella?
7 JOE APICELLA:  Not necessarily.  I'm
8 going to ask Diana to kick it off and I'll jump
9 in where necessary, Mr. Mayor.

10 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  That's all good,
11 Joe, you know that.
12 JOE APICELLA:  I know that.
13 DIANA KOLEV:  So I'll just, I'll just
14 share my screen.  So, good afternoon, Mr. Mayor
15 and members of the Board.  Diana Kolev from the
16 firm of DelBello Donnellan Weingarten Wise &
17 Wiederkehr and yes, Joseph Apicella as well as
18 representative for the applicant, which is Saint
19 Clair Development, LLC.  It is a related entity
20 of MacQuesten Development.  MacQuesten, as you
21 may know, is based in Pelham, New York, and it
22 specializes in financing, designing and
23 construction management of multi-family,
24 affordable housing, and commercial properties in
25 New York City and in Westchester County since

Page 25

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 1992.
2 So the applicant is seeking to develop
3 a vacant property on the corner of Main Street
4 and Riverdale Avenue, as you can see on here.
5 It's about a quarter of an acre and it's located
6 within the city's Riverview Urban Renewal Plan
7 area.  A portion of this property is currently
8 owned by the Yonkers Community Development
9 Agency.  There is an LOI in place.  And the

10 Community Development Agency has designated the
11 applicant as a qualified and eligible sponsor.
12 The remaining portion of the property is owned by
13 the applicant.
14 So the project is a 10-story, mixed
15 use, multi-family building with ground floor
16 commercial space and 76, 100 percent affordable
17 units.  These units will be occupied only by
18 persons of low income, with household income
19 ranging from 40 percent to 80 percent AMI.
20 The breakdown, you know, it might be a
21 little too small to see.  It's a 5 three-bedroom
22 units, 23 two-bedroom, 36 one-bedroom and 12
23 studios.  The site plan approval has already been
24 issued and that happened back in February.
25 The benefits that we're requesting from

Page 26

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 the Agency is a 30-year PILOT, as well as a sales
2 and use tax exemption based on 17.7 million of
3 taxable purchases.  We are not requesting a
4 mortgage recording tax exemption at this time.
5 So the project contemplates financing
6 from the State through HFA, the County and City
7 Home Funds, but it is still not feasible without
8 the assistance of the Agency.
9 The project will provide tangible

10 benefits to the city.  There would be 240
11 temporary construction jobs over a 28-month
12 period, construction period, 20 full-time jobs in
13 management in retail, and the project will also
14 further the City's goals to provide quality,
15 affordable housing, revitalize the downtown, and
16 eliminate blight as envisioned in the Urban
17 Renewal Plan.
18 The applicant also proposes to and has
19 actually executed an agreement for the
20 remediation of the contamination at the project
21 site through the DEC Brownfield Cleanup Program.
22 So we respectfully request that the
23 Board take action today to induce the project and
24 if there's anything further that Joe has, thank
25 you for your attention.

Page 27

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 JOE APICELLA:  Thank you, Diana.  That
2 was an excellent job, but I'll just add that our
3 development anticipates this project being an
4 enterprise green community.  It will be a LEED
5 Silver project.  We build all of our projects to
6 be sustainable over time, both the materials and
7 the uses within the building, bike racks and the
8 like will help to encourage pedestrian access and
9 usage throughout the downtown.  A lot of walking.

10 We want to encourage that downtown vibrance.  We
11 also have a few thousand square feet of retail
12 space that we envision as both a coffee shop and
13 cafe and some other personal uses such as we're
14 looking at the dry cleaners and the like.
15 Now this corner, Mr. Mayor, as you're
16 aware, of Riverdale on the southwest corner, is
17 one of those critical gateways into the
18 waterfront downtown.  And I'm really happy and
19 proud to say that we work collaboratively with
20 the Landmarks Board in their capacity as this was
21 in a historic district.  And they made some
22 really nice upgrades and improvements to the
23 facade of the building, including the
24 incorporation of actual brick, not brick veneer
25 into this building.  So visually, I think it's so

Page 28

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25 JOE APICELLA:  Sure.  So the income

Page 29

critical at that corner, at that gateway to have 
an iconic building.  And I think what you're 
going to see is an iconic building.

Diana also mentioned the Board and to 
you, Mr. Mayor, that this is a Brownfield Cleanup 
Program project that's already been induced into 
the program.  And we're really excited about 
this.  We think this project brings in that 
downtown with the thousands of new market rate 
luxury units, a bit of a balance that's necessary 
from the socioeconomic standpoint.  And we're 
excited about coming back to Yonkers and doing 
work with you and this City.

I can tell you that the entitlement 
process has been terrific.  I can't say that 
about every community I've been in, but it has 
been a real, not easy, but quick process.  I just 
wanted to let you know that.  Thank you.

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, let's -- I got 
a couple of quick questions and I'm sure that 
some of the members of the Board may have some 
questions.  Explain to me this 40 to 80 percent. 
Are you talking City AMI, County AMI?  How many 
apartments?  I need some details.

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 ranges, brackets if you will, for this project,
2 Mr. Mayor ranges from 80 percent of average
3 median income, which is approximately $104,000 of
4 income per family down to 40 percent, which would
5 be a $40,000 income per family.
6 Now this is a what we call a blended
7 income project.  So you're going to have people
8 here that are making between $80-$100,000 a year.
9 These are people who are, you know, blue collar

10 workers, white collar workers, a real mix of
11 people who are all working.  These are people who
12 are gainfully employed and this is a mix of
13 people that economically have disposable income.
14 They're vibrant and contribute to the community
15 and they reach a much needed demographic in the
16 southwest area of Yonkers.
17 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  And what's the count
18 though?  I mean, the first, you know, 100 people
19 to come to your door, all make 40,000.  That's
20 what's going -- you know?
21 JOE APICELLA:  No, we're no, we're
22 going to break it down.  20 percent would be at
23 that level, 23 percent at 50 percent of AMI, 37
24 percent of 60 percent AMI, and 20 percent of 80
25 percent AMI.

Page 30

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Joe, I'm sorry and
2 I'm not trying to be difficult.  Can you just
3 give that to me again?
4 JOE APICELLA:  Sure.  So at 40 percent
5 of AMI, average median income, let's say incomes
6 of 45,000, 20 percent of these units.  So 20
7 percent of 76 units would be at that income
8 level.  23 percent would be at 50 percent of
9 average median income, about 55 to 60,000 in

10 income.  37 percent, the lion's share, would be
11 about 60 to $65,000 in income.  And then another
12 20 percent would be at 80 percent, about 85 to
13 $90,000 would be their annual income.  Is that
14 helpful?
15 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Yeah and no 100
16 percent?
17 JOE APICELLA:  No.
18 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Why not?
19 JOE APICELLA:  Well, because it would
20 what that would do Mr. Mayor is preclude the
21 possibility, because the blended average has to
22 be below 60 percent to get the funding we need in
23 this case from the County and the State.
24 So to get that amount of funding for a
25 project like this, it would disqualify us from

Page 31

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 being able to get that funding and that funding
2 is very significant.
3 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  All right.  I was
4 just under a different impression.  I thought
5 there was going to be a different type of
6 structure.  What other questions?  Does anybody
7 else have any other questions?
8 PETER KISCHAK:  I have a question,
9 Mayor.

10 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Yeah.
11 PETER KISCHAK:  I have a question about
12 30 years.  I mean are we -- I think we discussed
13 in the past to try and reduce that because in 30-
14 years' time, that place is going to need to be
15 built again.
16 JOE APICELLA:  I'm sorry, was there a
17 question?
18 PETER KISCHAK:  It's actually to the
19 Board.
20 JOE APICELLA:  Oh, I'm sorry.
21 JIM CAVANAUGH:  We have gotten away
22 from 30-year PILOTs on any kind of market rate
23 projects.  We just don't do them anymore.  And on
24 a lot of projects, particularly commercial
25 projects, we're bringing them down to as short as

Page 32

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 10 years.  The difficulty with the 100 percent
2 affordable projects is that they don't always
3 work at 20 years.  And a lot of times, the
4 lenders want the PILOT to run with the financing.
5 Maybe Joe can talk about that, but, you know,
6 we're not fans of 30-year PILOTs.  I think we
7 felt we had to do it in this particular case, but
8 maybe, Joe, you could go into that a bit.
9 JOE APICELLA:  That's exactly right.

10 Because the affordability has to, if you're
11 getting financed through the HCR, Housing
12 Community Renewal, it's, again, a requirement,
13 you're dealing with a lot of requirements, one of
14 which is that the PILOT itself, the pay in lieu
15 of taxes extends for at least that same period of
16 time.  And so that's why we're doing it.  In the
17 case of market rate, Peter, we wouldn't even have
18 this discussion.
19 MIKE CURTI:  And to Joe's point, if I
20 may, Mr. Mayor through the chair, one thing we've
21 actually been seeing in the affordable spaces is
22 that most of the financing has been 32 to 33
23 years, Pete.  So, I mean it's actually beyond
24 that period of time.
25 And for the most part, most of the

Page 33

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 affordable deals you know when you get to the end
2 of the term, there's usually some sort of
3 refinancing.  There's usually some sort of
4 improvements that are made to the project and so
5 there's another request for an extension.
6 So in order to keep those buildings
7 affordable, you have to provide a PILOT, you
8 know, to them for, you know, for however long it
9 is affordable.

10 PETER KISCHAK:  I get it.  I do.  And
11 I'm not trying to give anybody a hard time but,
12 you know, Cecile and I have been on this Board
13 for a long time and we've seen that place on
14 Yonkers Avenue come before us a couple of times,
15 next to the Sawmill Parkway.  Right, Cecile?
16 CECILE SINGER:  Yes.  So this certainly
17 is a major development in our affordable housing
18 stock.  And so we're very pleased to see it.  We
19 continue to have significant needs and our city
20 has been very responsive to those needs as the
21 IDA has also.  So we see this.  We hope that with
22 this development there will be a significant
23 amount of people who will benefit long term.  And
24 so what are the total number of units?  Can you
25 repeat that again?

Page 34

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 JOE APICELLA:  Yes, there would be a
2 total of 76 units.
3 CECILE SINGER:  76 units.
4 MARLYN ANDERSON:  And how tall did you
5 said the building was?
6 JOE APICELLA:  10 stories.
7 MARLYN ANDERSON:  10 stories, okay.
8 CECILE SINGER:   Right.  So all right.
9 So there's 76 units.  And then in each, in the

10 category, in the 20 percent of the 45,000, how
11 many units would that be?
12 DIANA KOLEV:  Approximately 15.
13 CECILE SINGER:  15.  All right.  And in
14 this 37 percent, how many units would there be in
15 the 60 to 65?
16 JOE APICELLA:  Do you have that, Diana?
17 You're much better at math than I am.
18 DIANA KOLEV:  That's about 28 units.
19 CECILE SINGER:  About 20.  And in the
20 in the 20 percent that are the 85-90,000?
21 DIANA KOLEV:  I think that would be the
22 same as the other 20 percent.  So it would be
23 another 15.
24 CECILE SINGER:  Another 15.
25 JOE APICELLA:  And I also wanted to

Page 35

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 respond to one of the Mayor's comments earlier.
2 Mayor, if there is a way -- and I'm going to go
3 and verify that -- to bump up some of those units
4 into the 100 percent category and not
5 disqualified financing, we will do that.
6 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  Do you guys
7 absolutely need this now or can we wait till the
8 next meeting?  There are some questions I have.
9 JOE APICELLA:  I'm going to defer to

10 you, Mr. Mayor.  We, from a timing perspective,
11 we're going to the County and the State, so the
12 inducement is helpful.  It's not final obviously
13 in and of itself.  We have to have a project
14 agreement and maybe, I guess what I'm asking is
15 maybe between this and a project agreement, we
16 can have more discussion before that's done.
17 JIM CAVANAUGH:  When are you going to
18 the County?
19 JOE APICELLA:  Well we need to get this
20 package to them and the State within the next two
21 weeks, three weeks.  How does that work on your
22 schedule?
23 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I don't even mind
24 having a special meeting.  I just, I have some
25 questions, you know, so.

Page 36

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 JOE APICELLA:  Okay.
2 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I mean it looks
3 exciting.  It's a project I want to do, but I
4 have some questions.
5 JOE APICELLA:  Okay.
6 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I think that we
7 ought to, we ought to table it for the moment and
8 we can always come back.  We can come back, like
9 I said, for a special meeting if we have to.  But

10 I'd like to maybe get Jim and Jamie, you know,
11 and yourself, let's have a discussion very, very
12 quickly about this.
13 JOE APICELLA:  Okay.
14 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  And then go back to
15 the Board.  There are some questions.
16 JOE APIELLA:  Will do.
17 MAYOR MIKE SPANO: All right, so we'll
18 lay that one aside.  Jamie, which one do you
19 have?
20 JAMIE MCGILL:  So we are on to our last
21 resolution which is a final resolution for 1969
22 Central Park Avenue, LLC.  We have Michael Curti
23 here to represent the transaction for this final.
24 I believe we also have Mark Fonte on the line.
25 MIKE CURTI:  Yes, thank you, Mayor.

Page 37

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 I'll just walk through the resolution very
2 quickly and then I'll turn it over Mr. Fonte to
3 make a brief presentation.  And there's also a
4 cost benefit analysis for the Board to consider
5 presented by the executive director.
6 This project, as you may recall, was
7 induced at a previous meeting.  It involves the
8 construction, improving, and equipping of a five
9 story self-storage facility of approximately

10 91,181 square feet and ground floor retail space
11 of 5815 square feet.  Located on 1969 Central
12 Park Avenue.
13 Now there are a couple of legal matters
14 that I think the Board needs to consider.  And
15 I'm going to go through them with the Board as
16 part of this presentation.
17 The first is as a threshold matter.
18 The City Council amended the zoning code at the
19 request of the self-storage industry and with
20 this particular project in mind back in 2018 to
21 allow self-storage facilities in the retail
22 corridors of the city, specifically, Central Park
23 Avenue provided that such facilities have ground
24 floor retail as part of it.
25 I will note that typically the IDA

Page 38

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 cannot provide financial assistance for those
2 projects that are greater than a third retail.
3 And of course this would be considered as 100
4 percent retail between the self-storage facility
5 and also the ground floor retail.
6 However, there is an exception within
7 the act that allows the IDA to consider those
8 projects which are defined as tourism
9 destinations.  And you have to look within the

10 definition for what a tourism destination is.
11 And what a tourism destination is a location or
12 facility which is likely to attract a significant
13 number of visitors outside the Economic
14 Development Region as established by Section 230
15 of the Economic Development Law in which the
16 project is located.
17 Our Economic Development Region is the
18 Hudson Valley.  And what the applicant has to
19 prove is that their location is one that will
20 attract a significant number of visitors from
21 outside of the Hudson Valley.  And that could
22 come from Connecticut.  It can come from points
23 north of the Hudson Valley.  It can come from New
24 York City or Long Island.
25 There is one case of note which has

Page 39

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 interpreted the State Legislature's intent in
2 authorizing the tourism destination exception.
3 It's a matter of a Iskalo 5000 Main, LLC versus
4 the Town of Amherst Industrial Development
5 Agency.  In that case, the court found that the
6 applicant must make a showing that the project
7 location or the facilities would likely cause
8 visitors to come from outside of the Economic
9 Development Region and not just come to the

10 Economic Development Region for any number of
11 reasons independent of the project.
12 And one example that we often give is
13 if you were going to go to a wedding and you were
14 to patronize a particular hotel, as they did in
15 Iskalo, the basis cannot be, I'm in town for the
16 wedding and oh, by the way, I stay at this hotel.
17 It's that the hotel is the attraction for you to
18 go to the location.
19 In this case, the applicant, by way of
20 an affidavit that they have provided and that was
21 a part of the public hearing minutes, has
22 indicated that based on a pool size of 1000
23 current customers of another facility, another
24 self-storage facility located within the city of
25 Yonkers, 80 percent of the customers of that

Page 40

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 facility come from either the Bronx or New York
2 counties or the state of Connecticut.
3 One important thing for the Board to
4 consider is that when the City Council adopted
5 its zone change back in 2018, one of the reasons
6 that they allowed the self-storage facility to be
7 located in the retail corridor is that a number
8 of patrons were less inclined to go to industrial
9 or light industrial sections of the city where

10 our self-storage facilities are located and more
11 inclined to patronize a location that's located
12 in a retail portion of the city.
13 I will also note that the Board members
14 are well aware that Central Park Avenue has long
15 been one of the primary retail corridors of the
16 city and because of its location to New York
17 City, it has always been a draw for customers
18 coming from New York to Central Park Avenue.
19 So between the affidavit and the
20 research the applicant has provided, I just
21 wanted to provide the Board some context and some
22 things to consider as part of the findings that
23 are located within the resolution.  Thank you.
24 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, are there any
25 questions.

Page 41

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 CECILE SINGER:  Mayor?
2 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Yes, Cecile.
3 CECILE SINGER:  In our planning, you
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

know, is this the highest and best use of the 
property?  I mean, when we look at property in a 
retail corridor where there are many choices, is 
this what we want to do in the retail corridor 
and what does our city plan indicate?

MIKE CURTI:  I can say that the 
Planning Department did recommend this zoning 
change back in 2018.  At the time --

JAIME MCGILL:  You're muted, Mike. 
Mike, you're muted.

MIKE CURTI:  Sorry about that.  I can 
say that at the time, as with any zoning 
amendment that the City Council undertakes, there 
is a recommendation from the Planning Board and 
there was a recommendation from the Planning 
Board at that time.  I believe that there was 
some concern about the viability of Central Park 
Avenue and there was a little bit of reimagining 
Central Park Avenue in the future.  As many of 
you know, Amazon and other types of those types 
of uses have really made some inroads on retail 
and so expanding the types of retail uses on

Page 42

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 Central Park Avenue was meant to sort of address
2 those issues.
3 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Yeah, I mean, there
4 was one thing that concerns me and I would
5 express this to the developer, you know we are
6 reimagining Central Avenue and we see that
7 Central Avenue will probably be, you know, the
8 millennials coming in and having this, you know,
9 live, work, and play in communities that will

10 have, offer, you know, retail, entertainment, and
11 living centers all across Central Avenue.  I see
12 that happening.  So I am concerned about what
13 Central Avenue can become, what it looks like,
14 what we put there, what it looks like.  The thing
15 that we've been talking about to the developers,
16 you know, given the fact that is kind of a
17 gateway into one of our very beautiful
18 neighborhoods in our community, it's also Central
19 Avenue and it's on the corner.  We all expressed
20 concern that we don't -- while we understand that
21 storage facilities are have a need, especially in
22 today's world, what's it going to look like?  We
23 don't want it to look like a storage facility.
24 Certainly don't want a big red cube building
25 there or a big yellow building with a big smiley

Page 43

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 face on it or something, or anything like that.
2 We had gotten some assurances from the
3 development of that wouldn't be the case.  Do we
4 have any renderings at all what it would
5 potentially look like?
6 MARK FONTE:  We had submitted a
7 rendering a while back, but we're working on the
8 design.  After I talked to you last time, you
9 wanted to make sure it was a beautiful building.

10 I intend to do that.  We added a lot of greenery
11 and also this is not just a storage facility.
12 There's approximately 5800 square feet of retail
13 with a drive through.  We also added a very nice
14 green feature with a Tesla supercharging station
15 on the site to charge cars.  There is some
16 outdoor seating and we think that we're going to
17 get a coffee shop, Starbucks, on the corner
18 inside the development.  And that's going to
19 actually bring another element to just storage.
20 It's not just a plain storage facility that you
21 see down at South Broadway.  This is going to be
22 something with a little more of a lively place to
23 go.  And it's going to have a nice retail feature
24 to it, which I think is going to attract a lot of
25 people to the site.

Page 44

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  And I hear Mark on
2 that and I know your family's restaurant was
3 there.  I mean, but you understand how that hill
4 goes up and wraps around this building.  And so
5 everyone, you know, the unusual, I guess, you
6 know, the unusual thing about this particular
7 piece of property is that people will be driving
8 their cars from the top of that building to the
9 bottom of the building, right, which we would

10 normally see in places in Yonkers and certainly
11 in Central Avenue.  So, you know, so we're going
12 to get more attention on that building, more eyes
13 are going to on that building.  More people are
14 going to be critical of us and what we, you know,
15 what we give tax incentives for.
16 MARK FONTE:  And I'm going to try to
17 make you proud and make sure we deliver a
18 building that that is welcoming and not just like
19 a tin can, just like we just did a project in New
20 Rochelle and it came out fabulous.  So everybody
21 was very happy and that was a gateway also and
22 the corner building.
23 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  And importantly that
24 it doesn't look like a storage facility is what
25 I'm trying to say.

Page 45

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 MARK FONTE:  Absolutely.
2 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Anybody else --
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

JIM CAVANAUGH:  Do you do you have 
final site -- I'm sorry -- Mark, do you have 
final site plan approval on this from the 
Planning Board?

MARK FONTE:  I have Planning Board site 
plan approval.  I have Zoning Board approval. 
And I have a current permit to do superstructure.

JIM CAVANAUGH:  I'm sorry, so to get 
the Planning Board approval, I assume you 
submitted a rendering or something.  Right?

MARK FONTE:  Correct.  Yes, we did. 
It's in your packet.  And we also did a plan 
design with trees and grass in the front and 
lighting package, which is in the rendering, 
correct.

JIM CAVANAUGH:  All right.  So, so that 
rendering we should be able to make it available 
to the Board I would think at some point.

MARK FONTE:  Absolutely.  I did submit 
it in the package.

23 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I don't think we got
24 it though.
25 MARK FONTE:  Okay.

Page 46

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Do we have it, Jamie?
2 CECILE SINGER:  Well, none of us have
3
4
5
6

seen it.
JAIME MCGILL:  Hang on one second. 

We're working on getting that up for you.  Stand 
by.

7 PETER KISCHAK:  Mayor, may I ask a
8 question?
9 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Go ahead.

10 PETER KISCHAK:  Did I miss this?  How
11 many stores are there going to be?
12 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Michael Curti.
13 MIKE CURTI:  There's probably going to
14 be -- I'm not sure how many stores there's going
15 to be, but there's about 5100 square feet of
16 ground floor retail.  Most of the site is going
17 to be the storage facility, which is about 91,000
18 square feet.
19 CECILE SINGER:  So the retail is a
20 tiny, tiny part of it.  So what you're, what
21 you're looking at is a use on Central Avenue and
22 what it does to the surrounding areas and what it
23 says to other retail establishments, I mean, we
24 have to be concerned about what's contiguous to
25 it, what we hope for, and it's a real concern to

Page 47

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 take a storage facility and put it into a viable
2 retail corridor and what kind of a message does
3 that send?
4 MARLYN ANDERSON:  Can you just, Mark,
5 is there a storage facility that's right up, like
6 right there?  Isn't there one right there off
7 Central Park Avenue already that --
8 MARK FONTE:  I think that's on the side
9 trade, correct.  That's kind of like further

10 south, but it's not really on Central Avenue.
11 MARLYN ANDERSON:  It's a little off.
12 MARK FONTE:  Correct.
13 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  You know, Cecile, I
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

hear what you're saying, but I'm not as worried 
about it if it's done in a way, in a tasteful way 
where, you know -- well, listen, we're all going 
to take a lot of heat from the people that live 
up the block.  We all know that.  But more to 
your point, it's also what kind of message does 
it send?  And I don't have a problem with the 
storage facility.  I might even want to use one 
day.  But the question is how does it look?
There it is.

JAIME MCGILL:  There we go, Mayor,
we're going to zoom in on that one for you.

Page 48

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 PETER KISCHAK:  So it looks like to me
2 it could be like several stores, several small
3 stores.
4 MARK FONTE:  Correct.  It could be
5 several stores.  Right now, we have five of them,
6 stores, depicted in the picture.  There's also a
7 drive through around the back of the building.
8 So that's why the retail is a little smaller.
9 It's approximately 5800 square feet, I believe

10 the retail.  And the corner store to left would
11 be the drive thru, you know, like a Starbucks
12 will be there on the corner.  That's why it's a
13 little bit smaller retail location because of
14 obviously ground floor encompasses the drive thru
15 in the rear and the staging area for the storage
16 facility to go upstairs and to park your car and
17 bring your belongings upstairs.  And the whole
18 front, which is approximately 30 or 40 feet, is a
19 green grass area in front of the storage
20 facility.  So this is really set back into the
21 hill and there is a patch of, like I said, at
22 least 30 feet of grass and trees that wrap around
23 that whole corner which makes it a little more
24 vibrant and almost like an office park.
25 MARLYN ANDERSON:  Would businesses want

Page 49

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 to actually lease those spaces?  This is kind of
2 hidden and people can't see it from Central Park
3 Avenue because that's the dream of a business
4 being very visible from the space?
5 MARK FONTE:  I think that two things
6 that are going to be drivers for the extra space,
7 which is not that much, you're going to have a
8 Starbucks which is going to bring a lot of people
9 there.  And you're going to also have a Tesla

10 supercharging station, which is going to bring
11 another component of it.  So I think that, you
12 know, filling up the rest of the space is not
13 going to be a problem.  We already have a few
14 people looking at the space.  We have a bank,
15 another tenant that's looking at the leftover
16 space.  So I don't foresee that being a problem
17 filling that space.
18 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, it doesn't
19 look like a storage unit.
20 PETER KISCHAK:  I have to agree with
21 you, Mayor, it looks like an office building.
22 MARK FONTE:  Correct.
23 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Which is what we
24 wanted and I very much appreciate that.
25 MARK FONTE:  Correct.  And we did the

Page 50

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 in an out like you wanted and obviously, you
2 know, yielded less square footage upstairs, but
3 obviously we wanted to have that kind of not just
4 a square box on top of it.  So we did do kind of
5 an in and out kind of facade.  And, and believe
6 me, we'll make it look nice.  Also outside with
7 the greenery, grass, the flowers will make you
8 proud to come there.  And we do have a courtyard
9 in front of the stores too which we have some

10 seats, outdoor seats.  You can have a cup of
11 coffee outside and eat lunch and so on and so
12 forth, which I think will be really nice.
13 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any other questions
14 for anybody?
15 CECILE SINGER:  Yeah.  I still have, I
16 still have a significant concern because it's
17 still bringing something to Central Avenue.  You
18 have other merchants that are all around this
19 area.  I don't know what kind of a message we're
20 sending.  You know, it's a, it's a vibrant retail
21 area.  It's an important street in our city.  And
22 so I do have -- I know that the developer is
23 making a significant effort to try to make it fit
24 and to try and make it a viable space, but I have
25 a real concern.

Page 51

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any other -- Mark,
2 do you have anything to say?
3 MARK FONTE:  I'm here to answer any
4 questions.
5 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I'm just saying that
6 Cecile made a statement and I wanted to see if
7 you guys had anything to say about it.  That's
8 all.
9 MARK FONTE:  I mean I don't think she

10 has -- in my opinion, this went through City
11 Council also, and there's a vibrant need to do
12 storage not in an industrial area.  I think
13 people feel more comfortable going to a retail
14 store going upstairs and storing their
15 belongings.  I think that being, you know, the
16 proponent having the retail on the ground floor
17 is one of the things that even City Council
18 suggested that it be a mixed use project.  So I
19 really think that this is going to be a plus.
20 Also, the retail stores on Central Avenue need
21 storage for themselves.  So I'm sure they're
22 going to use some of the bins, like you said, to
23 store some of their merchandise in order to
24 facilitate their businesses.  So it's going to be
25 a mixed use property.  But I think it's going to

Page 52

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 be a viable location and place.
2 MAYOR MIKE SPANO: Cecile, would you,
3 would you be more excited about it if it was red
4 brick or something?
5 CECILE SINGER:  Right, maybe, but my
6 real concern is what's all around this area?  And
7 how do merchants feel about it?  You know
8 everybody has gone through a very difficult
9 period with COVID and a lot of people have stuck

10 with us and they're anticipating that things will
11 change.  And so who will it attract in the daily
12 work of a retail corridor?  So that's what
13 concerns me.
14 PETER KISCHAK:  Mayor, I just wanted to
15 say when I first seen the project, I'm not a big
16 fan of storage units, But the way this is
17 situated with stores underneath, that's not what
18 we've seen in the past with these type of storage
19 places.  We're seeing something different now.  I
20 think the gentleman brings up a good point about
21 people go to storage units and worried about, you
22 know, they are in industrial areas and people
23 going in.  This might be a new concept of storage
24 units with stores underneath it.  I'm impressed
25 with the site.

Page 53

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 MARK FONTE:  Thank you.
2 PETER KISCHAK:  The way it looks.  It
3 doesn't look like a storage unit.  It looks like,
4 you know, an office going to me.
5 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I agree.  And as
6 long as those reds aren't bright reds, Mark.  I
7 know like storage units like to put these bright,
8 big lit up buildings and, you know, we would like
9 to not see that.  But and if the color scheme

10 could be that of an office building, that would
11 be very, very helpful to us.  And I also think
12 that, you know, in the ever changing world, you
13 know, the millennials use storage facilities.
14 This is a big deal to millennials.  It wasn't a
15 big deal to boomers, but it is to them.  And, you
16 know, maybe having some of this available to them
17 -- at least I think having some of this available
18 to them is a good thing.  I do understand what
19 Cecile is saying, but I think that if we, if we
20 build the structure in a way where it doesn't
21 look like we've just cheated Central Avenue --
22 and I think Mark has accomplished that -- I think
23 it can work, but that's my opinion.
24 PETER KISCHAK:  I agree.
25 MARK FONTE:  Thank you.  The back of

Page 54

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 the building, that there's a mountain in the back
2 there, so you really don't see it, you know the
3 way you would see it if it was a standing alone.
4 It blends in with the mountain in the back also.
5 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  But remember, and
6 that's why I wanted to spike up this
7 conversation, we're going to hear those people up
8 there as they come down the hill.  So you know,
9 will -- are you going to put solar panels on that

10 roof?
11 MARK FONTE:  Actually, it's funny you
12 say that because I'm looking at trying to do it
13 for the roof.  I haven't found the right vendor
14 but that's one of the things we're thinking about
15 doing.  We're also doing an all-electric building
16 with heat pumps and heat efficiency and stuff
17 like that.  So we are trying to plan on doing
18 that.  I'm actually asking even Tesla if would
19 even, and Starbucks, if they would add some solar
20 to the roof.
21 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  I mean I just know
22 from buildings adjacent to you that's a sought
23 after spot for solar panels.
24 MARK FONTE:  Correct.
25 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Are there any

Page 55

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:   Great.  That will
13
14
15
16

be good.
JAIME MCGILL:  So the third party 

economic and fiscal impact analysis that we 
performed was provided to the Board in your

17 packets.  This analyzed the project's request for
18 benefits.  The determination was that the
19 requested mortgage recording tax exemption, sales
20 tax exemption and an abbreviated 15-year PILOT
21 found this project to be viable and still had a
22 positive benefit to cost ratio to the City.  The
23 benefit cost ratio to the City is to $2.23 for
24 every dollar in exemption.
25 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  Cecile, we're

Page 56

questions?  Thank you, Jaime.  You can take that 
down.

MARK FONTE:  Thank you.
         JAIME MCGILL:  Fiona, you can pull that 
down.  Thank you.

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  If there are no 
other questions.

JAIME MCGILL:  Mayor, we just have one 
final thing.  I just need to give you a brief 
recap on the analysis that we performed for this 
project.

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 going to -- I would imagine someone's going to
2 make a motion we accept it.  Are you going to
3 strongly oppose that or are you --
4 CECILE SINGER:  If it is the sense of
5 the Board that they are going to support it, then
6 I will not oppose it.
7 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, thank you,
8 Cecile.
9 CECILE SINGER:  It's something I have a

10 big concern about, but I will not oppose it.
11 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  And I appreciate
12 that and you know I completely respect your
13 opinion.  That's why I didn't want to push
14 forward if you're going to really oppose this.
15 Thank you, Cecile.
16 Does anybody want to make a motion?
17 PETER KISCHAK:  I'll make a motion,
18 Mayor.
19 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Pete's made a motion
20 seconded by Henry.  All in favor.
21 AYE RESPONSES:  Aye.
22 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Any negatives?
23 Hearing none, Mark, please make it look like it
24 belongs.  Promise.
25 MARK FONTE:  I'll make you and the

Page 57

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Board proud.  Thank you.  I promise.
MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Thank you.
MARK FONTE:  Thank you for your help. 

I appreciate it.  Thank you to the Board and 
everybody's help, Jaime, and the whole Board. 
Thank you.

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Thank you.  Thanks 
for your investment.

9
10
11

MARK FONTE:  Thank you.
MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay, Jaime. JAIME 
MCGILL:  That was our last item

12 of business.  I have no other business.  I don't
13 know if Michael Curti has any other updates.
14 MIKE CURTI:  No updates.  Thank you.
15 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Okay.  There are no
16 updates.  Is there any new business before us?
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

JAIME MCGILL:  We have we have no new 
business.

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Peter is leaving us. 
So it would probably be his last meeting and Pete 
has been here for going back to at least Phil 
Amicone, maybe John Spencer --

PETER KISCHAK:  A long time.
MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Yeah, he's been a

fantastic member.  He has led Yonkers through all

Page 58

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 of its redevelopment and we're going to miss you,
2 Pete.  I say thank you for all your service, man.
3 PETER KISCHAK:  Well, it was an honor
4 to be on this Board.  It really has been.  Thank
5 you, very much .
6 CECILE SINGER:  I will miss you
7 personally.  You have always been a wonderful
8 member and I always good luck to you, you know,
9 find out what you were thinking, which was always

10 very good thinking.
11 PETER KISCHAK:  It was always in the
12 best interests of Yonkers.  And again, I
13 appreciate the honor of being on the Board and
14 thank you very much.
15 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  It was an honor
16 having you on the Board and thanks for serving
17 with me through at least my three terms.  And so
18 and there won't be a fourth term.  So I'll be
19 retiring not long after you.  Thanks.
20 PETER KISCHAK:  We'll meet again,
21 Mayor.
22 MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Anybody want to make
23 a motion that we adjourn?
24 PETER KISCHAK:  I'd like to make that
25 motion.

Page 59

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8 HENRY DJONBALAJ:  Have a good evening.
9 (Proceeding concluded)

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 60

MAYOR MIKE SPANO:  Pete made that 
motion seconded by Marlyn.  All in favor?  Any 
negatives?  We're adjourned.  Thank you.

JAIME MCGILL:  And you're just 
reminding everyone for YEDC, we're rolling right 
into that meeting.  So if we can keep everyone 
on.  Henry, you can head out.  Thank you so much.

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 C E R T I F I C A T I O N
2
3 I, Sonya Ledanski Hyde, certify that the
4 foregoing transcript is a true and accurate
5 record of the proceedings.
6
7
8
9 <%12151,Signature%>

10
11 Veritext Legal Solutions
12 330 Old Country Road
13 Suite 300
14 Mineola, NY 11501
15
16 Date:  April 14, 2022
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 61

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



&

& 25:16

1

1.90 12:13
1.99 12:13
10 22:9 26:14 33:1

35:6,7
100 21:19,23 26:16

30:18 31:15 33:1
36:4 39:3

100,000 30:8
1000 40:22
104,000 30:3
11501 61:14
12 26:22
12/31 12:21
12151 61:9
13 20:25
14 61:16
15 21:9 22:9 35:12

35:13,23,24 56:20
17 20:22 21:21
17.7 27:2
1912 16:13
1920s 15:21
1969 37:21 38:11
1992 26:1

2

2.2 22:4
2.23 56:23
2.3 20:21
2.8 7:5
20 27:12 30:22,24

31:6,6,12 33:3
35:10,19,20,22

200 21:23
2018 38:20 41:5

42:11
2019 14:15 15:25

2021 4:14 5:19,25
2022 1:14 3:5

61:16
2023 20:5 23:6
2024 20:7
22 20:20 21:7
228,000 21:24
23 26:22 30:23

31:8
230 39:14
24 21:22
240 27:10
28 18:19 27:11

35:18
29 20:19

3

3 3:4 7:15 22:4,5
3.96 3:23
30 27:1 32:12,13

32:22 33:6 49:18
49:22

30.5 21:8
300 61:13
31 1:14
32 33:22
33 33:22
330 61:12
36 26:22
37 11:1 30:23

31:10 35:14
39,000 7:8

4

4.5 22:3
40 26:19 29:22

30:4 31:4 49:18
40,000 30:5,19
43,000 7:6
435 17:7,15
45,000 31:6 35:10

478,000 3:22
48 20:23 21:3

5

5 6:20 26:21
50 30:23 31:8
5000 40:3
5100 47:15
52 21:1
55 31:9
56 11:2
5800 44:12 49:9
5815 38:11

6

6 22:6
60 30:24 31:11,22

35:15
60,000 31:9
65 35:15
65,000 31:11

7

7 20:19
76 26:16 31:7 35:2

35:3,9

8

80 19:22 26:19
29:22 30:2,8,24
31:12 40:25

85 31:12
85-90,000 35:20
86 5:25
8th 3:4

9

9 11:17
90,000 31:13
91,000 47:17
91,181 38:10
94 10:6,25

a

abatement 21:9
abbreviated 56:20
abigail 16:9 19:18
able 32:1 46:19
abo 6:3 12:23
absolutely 36:7

46:1,21
accept 3:12 5:1 6:9

13:17 57:2
access 28:8
accincelli 7:1
accinelli 8:12,18

9:10,20 13:24
accinnelli 9:18
accommodate

17:13 18:1
accomplished

54:22
accomplishments

5:23
accurate 61:4
acquired 11:25
acquiring 11:24
acquisition 20:23

21:4
acre 26:5
act 39:7
action 27:23
active 5:25
acts 23:17
actual 28:24
add 21:5 23:15

28:2 55:19
added 44:10,13
addition 9:24

10:19 11:22,24
additional 7:6,12

7:13 8:4
address 43:1

[& - address] Page 1

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



adds 7:21
adjacent 55:22
adjourn 59:23
adjourned 60:3
adopted 12:3,20

41:4
advancing 21:20
affidavit 40:20

41:19
affirmative 24:15
affordability

33:10
affordable 10:5

25:24 26:16 27:15
33:2,21 34:1,7,9
34:17

afternoon 2:9,11
9:18 25:3,14

agency 3:22 26:9
26:10 27:1,8 40:5

agenda 6:19
aging 10:23
ago 13:13
agree 50:20 54:5

54:24
agreed 13:4
agreement 12:10

12:11,18 13:3
27:19 36:14,15

ahead 47:9
allow 17:10 38:21
allowed 41:6
allows 39:7
alter 7:19
amazon 42:23
amended 38:18
amendment 42:16
amendments

19:15
amherst 40:4

ami 26:19 29:23
29:23 30:23,24,25
31:5

amicone 58:22
amount 7:4,7

23:16 31:24 34:23
analysis 7:16 38:4

56:10,15
analyzed 56:17
ancillary 5:20
anderson 2:16,17

5:5 35:4,7 48:4,11
49:25

annual 5:19,21 6:1
6:3 22:4 31:13

answer 13:8 22:12
52:3

anticipates 28:3
anticipating 53:10
anxiously 11:19
anybody 3:7 23:24

24:10 32:6 34:11
46:2 51:14 57:16
59:22

anymore 32:23
apartment 11:2
apartments 8:16

11:1 29:24
apicella 24:24

25:3,6,7,12,17
28:1 29:25 30:21
31:4,17,19 32:16
32:20 33:9 35:1,6
35:16,25 36:9,19
37:1,5,13

apiella 37:16
applicant 11:16

13:8 25:18 26:2
26:11,13 27:18
39:18 40:6,19
41:20

application 11:18
11:21 15:5 19:11
20:15 21:21

applying 20:1
appreciate 22:22

50:24 57:11 58:4
59:13

approval 4:14,22
5:19 7:10,11
14:22 16:18 26:23
46:5,8,8,11

approvals 19:5
23:21

approve 3:2 11:20
24:1

approved 6:2,4
7:4 12:12 17:5
19:8

approving 7:22
approximately 7:5

7:15 30:3 35:12
38:9 44:12 49:9
49:18

april 12:4 19:13
61:16

architect 19:19,20
architects 16:10

16:11
area 26:7 30:16

49:15,19 51:19,21
52:12 53:6

areas 47:22 53:22
art 11:3
aside 37:18
asking 36:14

55:18
assistance 27:8

39:1
association 1:12
assume 46:11

assurances 44:2
attention 27:25

45:12
attract 39:12,20

44:24 53:11
attraction 40:17
audit 4:14,15 5:21

6:3
august 3:21
authorities 13:2
authorizing 6:21

40:2
available 18:24

46:19 54:16,17
avenue 8:16 10:7

26:4 34:14 37:22
38:12,23 41:14,18
42:21,22 43:1,6,7
43:11,13,19 45:11
47:21 48:7,10
50:3 51:17 52:20
54:21

average 30:2 31:5
31:9,21

aware 28:16 41:14
aye 3:16,16 4:10

4:10 5:8,8 6:13,13
8:9,9 13:21,21
57:21,21

b

back 12:15 14:15
14:18,25 15:21,25
16:16 18:4 23:7
26:24 29:12 37:8
37:8,14 38:20
41:5 42:11 44:7
49:7,20 54:25
55:1,4 58:21

balance 21:3
29:10

[adds - balance] Page 2

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



bank 50:14
based 12:11 25:21

27:2 40:22
basement 16:23
basically 16:25
basics 11:6
basis 40:15
beach 9:10
beautiful 43:17

44:9
bedroom 11:1,2

26:21,22,22
bedrooms 18:19
began 16:1 19:21
behalf 9:22
believe 4:16 23:2

25:1 37:24 42:19
49:9 51:5

belongings 49:17
52:15

belongs 57:24
benefit 7:21 24:4

34:23 38:4 56:22
56:23

benefits 10:20
22:5 26:25 27:10
56:18

best 9:5 24:17 42:4
59:12

better 35:17
beyond 33:23
big 43:24,25,25

53:15 54:8,14,15
57:10

bike 28:7
bills 9:9
bins 52:22
bit 6:18 11:13,14

22:15 29:10 33:8
42:21 49:13

blended 30:6
31:21

blends 55:4
blight 27:16
block 48:18
blue 30:9
board 1:13 8:25

9:19 13:25 14:6
14:12,23 23:24
25:15 27:23 28:20
29:4,21 32:19
34:12 37:15 38:4
38:14,15 41:3,13
41:21 42:17,19
46:6,7,8,11,20
56:16 57:5 58:1,4
58:5 59:4,13,16

boards 14:21
book 18:22,23
boomers 54:15
bosch 14:25 15:9

15:25 16:22
bottom 45:9
box 51:4
boyce 15:7,21
brackets 30:1
break 30:22
breakdown 26:20
brian 16:6
brick 28:24,24

53:4
brief 12:25 24:25

38:3 56:9
bright 54:6,7
bring 10:19 14:12

44:19 49:17 50:8
50:10

bringing 32:25
51:17

brings 29:8 53:20

broadway 15:20
44:21

broken 20:19
bronx 41:1
brownfield 27:21

29:5
build 28:5 54:20
building 26:15

28:7,23,25 29:2,3
35:5 43:24,25
44:9 45:4,8,9,12
45:13,18,22 49:7
50:21 54:10 55:1
55:15

buildings 21:13
34:6 54:8 55:22

built 15:21 17:25
32:15

bump 36:3
business 50:3

58:12,12,16,18
businesses 22:5,8

49:25 52:24

c

c 21:2 23:10,16
61:1,1

cafe 28:13
call 30:6
camera 9:5,5
camoin 7:19
campus 17:15
capacity 28:20
car 49:16
carbon 21:14,15

21:19
cars 44:15 45:8
case 31:23 33:7,17

39:25 40:5,19
44:3

cash 3:22

category 35:10
36:4

cause 40:7
caution 22:14
cavanaugh 2:4 9:7

32:21 36:17 46:3
46:10,18 47:1

cecile 2:20,21 3:9
3:11 4:14,18 5:16
6:9 24:12 34:12
34:15,16 35:3,8,13
35:19,24 42:1,2,3
47:2,19 48:13
51:15 52:6 53:2,5
54:19 56:25 57:4
57:8,9,15 59:6

center 21:12
centers 43:11
central 37:22

38:11,22 41:14,18
42:20,22 43:1,6,7
43:11,13,18 45:11
47:21 48:7,10
50:2 51:17 52:20
54:21

certainly 34:16
43:24 45:10

certify 61:3
chair 4:15 33:20
change 21:12 41:5

42:11 53:11
changing 54:12
charge 44:15
charity 15:24
cheated 54:21
choices 42:6
circa 16:13
cite 20:18
city 7:22 9:24 10:2

10:24 12:2,3,6,13
12:16,21 13:4,12

[bank - city] Page 3

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



14:21 22:17,18
25:25 27:6,10
29:13,23 34:19
38:18,22 39:24
40:24 41:4,9,12,16
41:17 42:8,16
51:21 52:10,17
56:22,23

city's 26:6 27:14
clair 24:24 25:19
clean 4:20
cleaners 28:14
cleanup 27:21

29:6
cliff 14:24 15:6,8

15:16 17:10,18,24
18:1 19:9,10,16,20
20:3

climate 15:13,14
18:18,25 21:12

closed 5:25
code 38:18
coffee 28:12 44:17

51:11
collaborate 20:10
collaboratively

28:19
collar 30:9,10
college 15:8,24
color 54:9
combine 14:23
combined 14:22

19:7,11
come 19:1 30:19

34:14 37:8,8
39:22,22,23 40:8,9
41:1 51:8 55:8

comes 23:16
comfortable 52:13
coming 14:17 17:9

20:6 29:12 41:18

43:8
comments 36:1
commercial 25:24

26:16 32:24
committee 4:16,22
communities 43:9
community 10:5

10:14,18,21 20:8
20:11 21:18,18
22:6,15 26:8,10
28:4 29:16 30:14
33:12 43:18

company 21:11
complete 19:22

20:1,5
completed 18:4
completely 21:15

57:12
comply 13:1
component 22:3

50:11
concept 53:23
conceptual 13:3
concern 42:20

43:20 47:25 51:16
51:25 53:6 57:10

concerned 43:12
47:24

concerns 43:4
53:13

concluded 60:9
conclusion 7:17

9:1
conditions 17:19
conferences 18:17
congratulate 4:19
conifer 9:24 11:10
connecticut 39:22

41:2
consider 38:4,14

39:7 41:4,22

consideration 6:18
considered 18:21

39:3
construction 11:3

12:8 16:7,12
19:25 20:19,21
21:24 22:2,7,10
23:22 25:23 27:11
27:12 38:8

contamination
27:20

contemplated 12:8
contemplates 27:5
context 41:21
contiguous 17:14

47:24
contingent 12:19
continuation

13:12
continue 18:14

34:19
contribute 30:14
convene 15:15
convening 18:18
conversation 55:7
converted 15:9
corner 26:3 28:15

28:16 29:1 43:19
44:17 45:22 49:10
49:12,23

correct 46:13,17
48:9,12 49:4
50:22,25 55:24

corridor 12:9 41:7
42:6,7 48:2 53:12

corridors 38:22
41:15

cost 7:21 20:18
21:1,6 38:4 56:22
56:23

costs 7:14 20:22
23:16

council 12:2,3,21
22:18 38:18 41:4
42:16 52:11,17

counsel 7:25 25:1
count 30:17
counties 41:2
country 61:12
county 25:25 27:6

29:23 31:23 36:11
36:18

couple 10:8 11:15
29:20 34:14 38:13

course 4:21 39:3
court 40:5
courtyard 51:8
cover 21:3
covid 14:17 53:9
credits 11:17

19:16 21:2 23:19
critical 28:17 29:1

45:14
cube 43:24
cubesmart 6:24,25
cup 51:10
curated 15:16
cure 9:23 11:8
current 16:5 40:23

46:9
currently 10:7,9

12:7 15:23 26:7
curti 7:1,24 8:19

8:23 9:16 11:12
33:19 37:22,25
42:9,14 47:12,13
58:13,14

curti's 9:4
curto 9:21,21
customary 12:23

[city - customary] Page 4

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



customers 40:23
40:25 41:17

d

daily 53:11
daniele 4:17
date 61:16
day 24:9 48:22
deadline 11:18
deal 54:14,15
dealing 33:13
deals 34:1
dec 27:21
december 3:4
deck 17:1
defer 36:9
defined 39:8
definition 39:10
delays 14:18
delbello 25:16
deliver 45:17
demographic

30:15
demographics

10:24
demolishing 16:2
department 42:10
depicted 49:6
design 44:8 46:15
designated 26:10
designed 21:14
designing 25:22
destination 39:10

39:11 40:2
destinations 39:9
details 17:24

29:24
determination

56:18
develop 26:2
developed 21:14

developer 13:5
43:5 51:22

developers 9:22
43:15

development 1:12
9:23 10:2,4,11,13
11:10 13:3 15:4
16:6 24:24 25:19
25:20 26:8,10
28:3 34:17,22
39:14,15,17 40:4,9
40:10 44:3,18

diana 25:1,8,13,15
28:1 29:4 35:12
35:16,18,21

different 32:4,5
53:19

difficult 31:2 53:8
difficulty 33:1
director 38:5
discussed 32:12
discussion 33:18

36:16 37:11
disposable 30:13
disposing 12:24
disqualified 36:5
disqualify 31:25
district 28:21
djonbalaj 2:22,23

4:7 5:3 6:10 13:18
60:8

document 22:16
documents 5:12
doing 5:11 23:2

29:13 33:16 55:15
55:15,17

dollar 56:24
dollars 12:14
donnellan 25:16
door 30:19

dorm 15:25
downtown 27:15

28:9,10,18 29:9
draw 41:17
dream 50:3
drive 44:13 49:7

49:11,14
driven 19:22
drivers 50:6
driving 45:7
drove 7:14
dry 28:14
due 11:22

e

e 61:1
eager 23:8
earlier 36:1
east 17:2
easy 29:17
eat 51:11
economic 39:13,15

39:17 40:8,10
56:15

economically
30:13

efficiency 55:16
effort 51:23
efforts 16:2 23:14
either 18:23 21:16

41:1
electric 55:15
element 44:19
eligible 26:11
eliminate 27:16
employed 30:12
encompasses

49:14
encourage 28:8,10
energy 21:17
entered 13:13

enterprise 28:4
entertainment

43:10
entire 17:15 18:23
entitlement 29:14
entitlements 14:20

23:9
entity 25:19
entrepreneurs

15:13
envelope 20:2,2
environmental

23:14
envision 28:12
envisioned 27:16
equipment 20:20
equipping 38:8
equity 21:1
especially 9:9

43:21
essentially 15:3

23:11
established 39:14
establishments

47:23
estate 15:6 16:4
evening 60:8
event 15:9 17:3

18:24
events 15:16,16

17:6,11 18:10,17
everybody 2:10

14:9 45:20 53:8
everybody's 58:5
exactly 33:9
example 18:25

40:12
excavate 16:24
excellent 28:2
exception 19:7

39:6 40:2

[customers - exception] Page 5

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



excited 10:18
13:15 22:23,24
29:8,12 53:3

exciting 13:12
22:14 37:3

executed 12:19
27:19

executive 38:5
exemption 6:22,22

7:6,7 21:6 27:2,4
56:19,20,24

existing 10:8,9
expanding 42:25
expect 21:8
expectation 12:3
expected 19:12
explain 29:22
express 43:5
expressed 43:19
extends 33:15
extension 14:24

34:5
exterior 20:2
extra 50:6
eyes 45:12

f

f 61:1
fabulous 45:20
facade 28:23 51:5
face 44:1
facilitate 52:24
facilities 38:21,23

40:7 41:10 43:21
54:13

facility 20:6 38:9
39:4,12 40:23,24
41:1,6 43:23
44:11,20 45:24
47:17 48:1,5,21
49:16,20

fact 43:16
familiar 23:11
family 25:23 26:15

30:4,5
family's 45:2
fan 53:16
fans 33:6
fantastic 58:25
fashion 18:12
favor 3:15 4:9 5:7

6:12 8:8 13:20
57:20 60:2

feasible 27:7
feature 44:14,23
february 3:4

26:24
feel 52:13 53:7
fees 3:22
feet 28:11 38:10

38:11 44:12 47:15
47:18 49:9,18,22

felt 33:7
ff&e 20:21
filling 50:12,17
films 18:13
final 6:23 7:10

24:5 36:12 37:21
37:23 46:4,5 56:9

finalized 19:6
finalizing 14:20
finally 13:13 24:9
finals 23:21
financed 21:2

23:13 33:11
financial 3:19 39:1
financials 3:20 4:1

20:15
financing 25:22

27:5 33:4,22 36:5
find 59:9

findings 41:22
fiona 56:4
firm 25:16
first 6:20 20:6

30:18 38:17 53:15
fiscal 56:15
fit 51:23
five 38:8 49:5
floor 26:15 38:10

38:24 39:5 47:16
49:14 52:16

flowers 51:7
follows 16:21
fonte 37:24 38:2

44:6 45:16 46:1,7
46:13,21,25 48:8
48:12 49:4 50:5
50:22,25 52:3,9
54:1,25 55:11,24
56:3 57:25 58:3,9

footage 51:2
footprint 21:15
foreclosure 10:3
foregoing 61:4
foresee 50:16
former 14:25
formerly 15:6

16:23
forth 51:12
forward 14:19

57:14
found 40:5 55:13

56:21
fourth 59:18
front 46:15 49:18

49:19 51:9
fruits 13:14
full 14:19 19:24

21:22 27:12
fundamental

10:20

funding 31:22,24
32:1,1

funds 27:7
funny 55:11
further 10:21

27:14,24 48:9
future 42:22

g

gainfully 30:12
gap 23:11,17
garden 16:25 17:1

17:22
gardening 17:21
gardens 16:3 18:6
gateway 29:1

43:17 45:21
gateways 28:17
generating 21:23
gentleman 53:20
getting 33:11 47:5
give 24:17,25 31:3

34:11 40:12 45:15
56:9

given 43:16
gkv 16:11 19:18
global 15:12 20:11
go 6:18 33:8 36:2

37:14 38:15 40:13
40:18 41:8 44:23
47:9 48:24 49:16
53:21

goals 10:15 27:14
goes 45:4
going 2:2 6:18,19

12:25 14:6 15:4
20:25 23:20 25:8
29:3 30:7,20,22
32:5,14 36:2,9,11
36:17 38:15 40:13
43:22 44:16,18,21
44:23,24 45:11,13

[excited - going] Page 6

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



45:14,16 47:11,13
47:14,16 48:16,25
50:6,7,8,9,10,13
52:13,14,19,22,24
52:25 53:23 54:4
55:7,9 57:1,1,2,5
57:14 58:21 59:1

good 2:9,9,11 3:1
4:21 5:12 9:5,18
25:3,10,14 53:20
54:18 56:13 59:8
59:10 60:8

gotten 16:18 32:21
44:2

grandeur 16:16
grass 46:15 49:19

49:22 51:7
great 3:6 14:8

23:23 56:12
greater 39:2
green 28:4 44:14

49:19
greenery 44:10

51:7
grid 21:16
ground 26:15

38:10,23 39:5
47:16 49:14 52:16

grounds 16:17
guess 36:14 45:5
guests 18:20
guys 2:8 22:24

24:8 36:6 52:7

h

hall 14:25 15:9,25
16:22 17:3

hand 3:23
hands 15:22
handsome 9:14,15
hang 2:2 47:4

happen 13:15 23:3
happened 14:16

26:24
happening 43:12
happy 13:8 22:12

28:18 45:21
hard 5:16 21:6

34:11
harris 9:10
hcr 10:16 33:11
head 60:7
hear 25:5 45:1

48:14 55:7
hearing 2:8 3:10

3:18 4:2,12 5:10
6:7,14 13:22
24:15 40:21 57:23

heat 48:17 55:16
55:16

held 18:11
help 28:8 58:3,5
helpful 31:14

36:12 54:11
henry 2:22,23 4:7

4:8 5:1,3 6:10,11
8:6,7 13:18 57:20
60:7,8

henry's 13:19
herbal 17:22
hey 9:19
hfa 27:6
hi 9:17 25:3
hidden 50:2
high 9:10 10:21
highest 42:4
highlights 5:24
hill 45:3 49:21

55:8
historic 16:11,15

18:8 19:15,19
21:2 22:2 23:19

28:21
historical 16:20
home 15:12 27:7
homes 10:22
honor 59:3,13,15
hope 20:3 34:21

47:25
hopeful 24:8
hopefully 19:13
hotel 18:21 40:14

40:16,17
hours 21:24
house 10:6 14:24

15:6,8,17 17:10,11
17:18,24 19:9,10
19:20 20:3

household 26:18
housing 10:5,16

25:24 27:15 33:11
34:17

hudson 18:5 39:18
39:21,23

hyde 61:3

i

iconic 29:2,3
ida 5:24 11:19

12:12,15,25 15:4
34:21 38:25 39:7

ida's 7:10
imagine 57:1
immediately 16:1
impact 7:18 21:10

21:11 56:15
important 5:12,13

41:3 51:21
importantly 45:23
impressed 53:24
impression 32:4
improvements

12:9 16:14 18:4
28:22 34:4

improving 38:8
inasmuch 9:25
incentive 23:4
incentives 45:15
inclined 41:8,11
including 28:23
inclusive 21:4
income 10:22

26:18,18 29:25
30:3,4,5,7,13 31:5
31:7,9,10,11,13

incomes 31:5
incorporation

28:24
increase 6:21 7:4,7

7:18 20:17
independent 21:16

40:11
indicate 42:8
indicated 7:9

11:16 40:22
induce 27:23
induced 29:7 38:7
inducement 8:15

11:15,20 13:6
14:3,14 24:1,3,4
24:23 36:12

industrial 1:12
40:4 41:8,9 52:12
53:22

industry 38:19
inflation 7:13
inroads 42:24
inside 17:18 44:18
insofar 11:23
intend 44:10
intent 40:1
interests 59:12
interior 20:2
international 19:2

[going - international] Page 7

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



interpreted 40:1
inventors 15:13
investment 58:8
involved 9:25 10:1
involves 38:7
involving 9:23
iskalo 40:3,15
island 39:24
issued 26:24
issues 43:2
item 4:12,13 5:19

6:15,20 8:11,15
13:23 14:2 24:16
24:22 58:11

items 5:10

j

jaime 23:25 56:1
james 9:1 11:8
jamie 2:1,6 3:3

4:12,13,20 5:15,18
6:16 8:14 9:20
14:2,8,10 24:2,20
24:21,22 37:10,18
37:20 42:12 47:1
47:4 48:24 56:4,8
56:14 58:5,10,11
58:17 60:4

jeez 9:13
jfk 15:18
jim 2:4 5:14 9:7

16:9 32:21 36:17
37:10 46:3,10,18
47:1

job 5:12 28:2
jobs 21:20,22,22

21:24 27:11,12
joe 24:24 25:3,6,7

25:11,12 27:24
28:1 29:25 30:21
31:1,4,17,19 32:16
32:20 33:5,8,9

35:1,6,16,25 36:9
36:19 37:1,5,13,16

joe's 33:19
john 58:22
joining 2:2
joseph 25:17
jump 25:8
jumps 2:3

k

k 6:24
kct 6:23 8:1
keep 23:7 34:6

60:6
kick 25:8
kidding 9:13
kind 17:2,19 18:5

18:14 23:17 32:22
43:16 48:2,9,19
50:1 51:3,4,5,19

kirk 6:25
kirsch 16:9,9

19:18
kischak 2:14,15

3:13 4:4 32:8,11
32:18 34:10 47:7
47:10 49:1 50:20
53:14 54:2,24
57:17 58:23 59:3
59:11,20,24

kitchens 17:23
know 5:13,14 9:8

14:13 15:17 18:11
18:12 20:9 21:10
21:25 22:16,16,18
23:1,3,6,10 24:6
25:11,12,21 26:20
29:18 30:9,18,20
33:5 34:1,8,8,12
36:25 37:10 42:4
42:23 43:5,7,8,10
43:16 45:2,5,6,11

45:14 48:13,16,18
49:11 50:12 51:2
51:19,20,22 52:15
53:7,22 54:4,7,8
54:12,13,16 55:2,8
55:21 57:12 58:13
59:8

kolev 25:2,13,15
35:12,18,21

l

labor 13:14 20:20
land 7:10
landmarks 16:18

16:19 28:20
landscaping 17:21

18:7
large 17:8
larger 16:24 17:10

18:2
law 12:1,20 13:2

39:15
lawn 17:22 18:5
lay 37:18
lease 50:1
leaving 58:19
led 16:5 58:25
ledanski 61:3
leed 11:5 28:4
left 49:10
leftover 50:15
legal 38:13 61:11
legislature's 40:1
lela 16:8 24:17
lender 23:17
lenders 33:4
lending 23:10
lenoir 15:20
level 30:23 31:8
levels 16:24
lewin 6:25

lieu 33:14
light 24:9 41:9
lighting 46:16
lindsey 16:6
line 4:17 8:1 25:1

37:24
lion's 31:10
listen 48:16
lit 54:8
little 6:18 11:13,14

15:1 17:24 22:15
23:3,4 26:21
42:21 44:22 48:11
49:8,13,23

live 43:9 48:17
lively 44:22
living 43:11
llc 8:16 14:3 24:24

25:19 37:22 40:3
local 12:1,20 14:20

22:8
located 17:17 26:5

38:11 39:16 40:24
41:7,10,11,23

location 39:11,19
40:7,18 41:11,16
49:13 53:1

locations 19:3
logging 2:6
loi 26:9
long 10:16,22 34:8

34:13,23 39:24
41:14 54:6 58:23
59:19

look 9:13 17:20
20:12 39:9 42:5
43:22,23 44:5
45:24 48:22 50:19
51:6 54:3,21
57:23

[interpreted - look] Page 8

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



looking 17:2 20:9
21:5,11 28:14
47:21 50:14,15
55:12

looks 2:4 9:14,14
18:3 37:2 43:13
43:14 49:1 50:21
54:2,3

lot 5:13 14:16 18:7
19:23 20:8 28:9
32:24 33:3,13
44:10,24 48:17
50:8 53:9

lots 9:8 10:3 18:12
18:13

low 26:18
luck 59:8
lunch 51:11
luxury 29:10

m

macquesten 25:20
25:20

main 26:3 40:3
major 34:17
making 30:8 51:23
man 21:24 59:2
management

25:23 27:13
manor 14:3,13,23

15:2,16,17 16:1,10
16:13,15 17:7,12
18:18 19:16 20:2
20:13 21:13

march 1:14
marina 15:19
mark 37:24 44:6

45:1,16 46:1,4,7
46:13,21,25 48:4,8
48:12 49:4 50:5
50:22,25 52:1,3,9
54:1,6,22,25 55:11

55:24 56:3 57:23
57:25 58:3,9

market 29:9 32:22
33:17

marlyn 2:16,17
5:5,7 35:4,7 48:4
48:11 49:25 60:2

materials 20:21
28:6

math 35:17
matter 13:2 38:17

40:3
matters 38:13
mayor 2:1,4,7,12

2:13,24 3:1,6,10
3:14,17,25 4:5,8
4:11,24 5:4,6,9,18
6:5,11,14,16 8:2
8:10,13,21 9:3,12
9:17,19 11:11,12
12:5 13:10,19,22
13:24 14:1,11
22:13,23 23:23
24:6,19 25:5,9,10
25:14 28:15 29:5
29:19 30:2,17
31:1,15,18,20 32:3
32:9,10 33:20
36:2,6,10,23 37:2
37:6,14,17,25
41:24 42:1,2 43:3
45:1,23 46:2,23
47:7,9,12 48:13,24
50:18,21,23 51:13
52:1,5 53:2,14
54:5 55:5,21,25
56:6,8,12,25 57:7
57:11,18,19,22
58:2,7,10,15,19,24
59:15,21,22 60:1

mayor's 36:1
mcgill 2:1,6 3:3

4:13 5:18 6:16
8:14 14:2,10 24:2
24:20,22 37:20
42:12 47:4 48:24
56:4,8,14 58:11,17
60:4

mean 9:14 18:10
30:18 32:12 33:23
37:2 42:5 43:3
45:3 47:23 52:9
55:21

meaningful 11:23
meant 43:1
measurements

5:22 6:2
median 30:3 31:5

31:9
meet 11:4 59:20
meeting 1:13 3:4,5

36:8,24 37:9 38:7
58:20 60:6

meets 10:15
melissa 2:18,19
member 58:25

59:8
members 6:13 8:9

9:19 13:25 14:12
25:15 29:21 41:13

membership 19:4
mentioned 18:15

19:6,17 29:4
merchandise

52:23
merchants 51:18

53:7
message 48:2,19

51:19
met 14:14 16:7

michael 7:1,24
8:19,23 37:22
47:12 58:13

middle 12:4
mike 2:7,12,13 3:1

3:6,10,14,17,25
4:5,8,11,24 5:4,6,9
6:5,11,14 8:2,10
8:13,21 9:3,4,12
9:16,17 11:11,12
13:10,10,19,22
14:1 22:13,23
23:23 24:6 25:5
25:10 29:19 30:17
31:1,15,18 32:3,10
33:19 36:6,23
37:2,6,14,17,25
41:24 42:2,9,12,13
42:14 43:3 45:1
45:23 46:2,23
47:9,12,13 48:13
50:18,23 51:13
52:1,5 53:2 54:5
55:5,21,25 56:6,12
56:25 57:7,11,19
57:22 58:2,7,10,14
58:15,19,24 59:15
59:22 60:1

millennials 43:8
54:13,14

million 3:23 7:5,15
12:13,14 20:19,20
20:20,21,22,23,25
21:7,8 22:3,4,6,9
27:2

mind 23:7 36:23
38:20

mineola 61:14
minimal 7:18
minutes 2:3 3:2,3

3:7,12,18 15:18

[looking - minutes] Page 9

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



40:21
mission 20:13
mix 30:10,12
mixed 26:14 52:18

52:25
moment 13:1 37:7
money 9:8
monies 12:15
month 27:11
months 3:21
morning 2:9
mortgage 6:21 7:4

21:7 27:4 56:19
motion 3:9,11 4:3

4:4,6,25 5:2,3 6:8
6:9 8:6,7 13:16,18
13:20 24:11,12
57:2,16,17,19
59:23,25 60:2

mountain 55:1,4
moving 14:19
multi 25:23 26:15
muted 42:12,13

n

n 61:1
nacerino 2:18,19
nature 22:20
necessarily 25:7
necessary 25:9

29:11
need 3:2 20:18

24:3 29:24 31:22
32:14 36:7,19
43:21 52:11,20
56:9

needed 30:15
needs 34:19,20

38:14
negatives 3:17

4:11 5:9,10 6:14
8:10 13:22 24:15

57:22 60:3
neighborhoods

43:18
neutral 21:19
new 5:24 11:18

16:12 25:21,25
29:9 39:23 41:1
41:16,18 45:19
53:23 58:16,17

nice 28:22 44:13
44:23 51:6,12

non 20:21
normally 45:10
north 15:19 39:23
note 9:4,4 38:25

39:25 41:13
notices 12:23
noting 21:21
november 3:21,23
number 10:1

34:24 39:13,20
40:10 41:7

numbers 20:17
nutshell 13:6
ny 61:14
nyserda 11:4

o

o 61:1
objection 12:22
obviously 9:24

14:15 21:20 23:9
23:15 24:8 36:12
49:14 51:1,3

ocasio 14:4,8,11
22:22 23:8 24:18
24:21

occupancy 21:22
occupied 26:17
occurred 14:18
offer 43:10

office 49:24 50:21
54:4,10

oh 32:20 40:16
okay 2:9 3:1,6,25

4:12,24 5:6 6:5
8:2,21 13:11
22:13 24:6,14,22
29:19 35:7 36:6
37:1,5,13 41:24
46:25 50:18 56:25
57:7 58:10,15

old 61:12
once 6:3 10:25

12:23 16:3 18:4
23:20

online 20:6
onsite 7:12 17:23

21:17
oommen 2:11,14

2:16,18,20,22,24
3:20

opening 21:23
operated 16:8
operations 5:23

18:14
operator 19:18
opinion 4:20 52:10

54:23 57:13
opportunities

10:17
oppose 57:3,6,10

57:14
order 6:19 34:6

52:23
organizations 19:1
oriented 10:13
original 7:19 19:8
ought 37:7,7
outdoor 44:16

51:10

outside 39:13,21
40:8 51:6,11

overlook 17:22
overnight 18:20
overview 18:6
owned 10:2 26:8

26:12

p

paaa 5:19
pace 21:2 23:10,16
package 11:21

36:20 46:16,22
packet 46:14
packets 5:21 56:17
panels 55:9,23
parcels 10:1
park 37:22 38:12

38:22 41:14,18
42:20,22 43:1
48:7 49:16,24
50:2

parking 7:12,13
parkway 34:15
part 10:14 11:21

12:4 14:5 16:3
17:5,8,13 19:3,17
20:17 21:22 33:25
38:16,24 40:21
41:22 47:20

particular 20:17
33:7 38:20 40:14
45:6

particularly 32:24
partner 9:25
partnering 21:17
parts 19:17
party 56:14
passed 3:18 4:12

4:23 5:10 6:15
8:11 12:15 13:23
24:16

[minutes - passed] Page 10

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



patch 49:21
patiently 22:25
patronize 40:14

41:11
patrons 41:8
pay 9:9 33:14
pedestrian 28:8
pelham 25:21
people 17:7,15

18:16 30:7,9,11,11
30:13,18 34:23
44:25 45:7,13
48:17 50:2,8,14
52:13 53:9,21,22
55:7

percent 11:17
19:22 21:1,19
26:16,19,19 29:22
30:2,4,22,23,23,24
30:24,24,25 31:4,6
31:7,8,8,10,12,12
31:16,22 33:1
35:10,14,20,22
36:4 39:4 40:25

performed 56:10
56:16

period 22:10
27:12,12 33:15,24
53:9

permit 46:9
permits 23:21
personal 28:13
personally 59:7
personnel 4:19
persons 26:18
perspective 17:14

17:21 18:21 22:1
36:10

pete 2:14 3:14
13:20 24:13,13
33:23 58:20 59:2

60:1
pete's 4:5 8:7

57:19
peter 2:15 3:13 4:4

32:8,11,18 33:17
34:10 47:7,10
49:1 50:20 53:14
54:2,24 57:17
58:19,23 59:3,11
59:20,24

phase 12:8 14:4
19:25

phil 58:21
photo 18:12
picture 49:6
piece 45:7
pieces 16:20
pilot 21:9 27:1

33:4,14 34:7
56:20

pilots 32:22 33:6
pine 8:16 11:9
place 10:11 18:7,9

23:18,19,21 26:9
32:14 34:13 44:22
53:1

places 45:10 53:19
plain 44:20
plan 13:4 14:22

19:7,8,11 26:6,23
27:17 42:8 46:5,8
46:14 55:17

planet 19:4
planning 14:23

19:8 42:3,10,17,18
46:6,7,11

plant 14:3 15:3,15
15:18,23 16:10
19:2 20:13 21:10
21:13,25

play 43:9
please 57:23
pleased 34:18
plus 52:19
point 12:5,6,12,17

33:19 46:20 48:19
53:20

pointed 12:6
points 39:22
pool 40:22
population 10:23
portion 26:7,12

41:12
positive 7:21

56:22
possession 15:23
possibility 31:21
potentially 44:5
power 21:25
preclude 31:20
presentation 9:1

14:5 24:25 38:3
38:16

presented 38:5
preservation

16:11 19:19 22:2
preserve 15:20
president 11:9
pretty 8:3 22:13
previous 38:7
previously 7:4

20:16
primary 41:15
principals 8:17
private 9:7,7

11:25 18:16
probably 16:7

22:1,8,19 43:7
47:13 58:20

problem 48:20
50:13,16

proceed 23:21
proceeding 60:9
proceedings 61:5
process 29:15,17
program 27:21

29:6,7
progress 11:23
project 7:9,14,20

8:17,18 9:22,23
10:4,15,18,19 11:4
11:7 12:7 13:12
14:5,15 15:2
22:14,24 23:1,12
24:25 26:14 27:5
27:9,13,20,23 28:3
28:5 29:6,8 30:1,7
31:25 34:4 36:13
36:15 37:3 38:6
38:20 39:16 40:6
40:11 45:19 52:18
53:15 56:11,21

project's 56:17
projects 5:24 6:1

20:10 28:5 32:23
32:24,25 33:2
39:2,8

promise 57:24
58:1

properties 11:24
25:24

property 10:7,8
12:24 15:3 16:16
16:20 17:6 18:23
20:16 21:9 26:3,7
26:12 42:5,5 45:7
52:25

proponent 52:16
proposed 10:1

16:14
proposes 10:4

27:18

[patch - proposes] Page 11

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



proud 28:19 45:17
51:8 58:1

prove 39:19
provide 7:11 27:9

27:14 34:7 39:1
41:21

provided 38:23
40:20 41:20 56:16

providing 10:16
10:21

public 13:1 40:21
pull 56:4
pumps 55:16
purchase 12:10,18
purchased 20:16
purchases 27:3
pursuing 11:17
push 57:13
put 43:14 48:1

54:7 55:9

q

qualified 26:11
quality 10:22

27:14
quarter 20:4,6

26:5
question 32:8,11

32:17 47:8 48:22
questions 3:7,8,11

4:1,2,25 6:6,7 8:3
8:4,5 11:7 13:7,11
22:12 23:24 29:20
29:22 32:6,7 36:8
36:25 37:4,15
41:25 51:13 52:4
56:1,7

quick 15:1 29:17
29:20

quicker 23:5
quickly 37:12 38:2

quorum 2:25

r

r 61:1
racks 28:7
ran 15:24
range 22:6
ranges 30:1,2
ranging 26:19
rate 29:10 32:22

33:17
ratio 7:21 56:22

56:23
ravine 12:7,12,17
ray 14:4,8,11

22:22 23:8 24:17
24:18,20,21

reach 30:15
readoption 6:23
ready 23:20
real 21:9 29:17

30:10 47:25 51:25
53:6

realize 2:8
really 28:18,22

29:7 42:24 48:10
49:20 51:12 52:19
55:2 57:14 59:4

rear 49:15
reason 17:8
reasons 11:16

40:11 41:5
recall 38:6
recap 56:10
received 3:22

12:15
receiving 12:13
recommend 7:22

42:10
recommendation

4:23 7:20 42:17
42:18

recommended
4:21

record 9:20 61:5
recording 6:21

21:7 27:4 56:19
red 43:24 53:3
redevelopment

10:14 59:1
reds 54:6,6
reduce 32:13
refinancing 34:3
regard 13:2
regardless 17:16
region 39:14,17

40:9,10
reimagining 42:21

43:6
related 25:19
remain 18:9
remaining 26:12
remains 16:23
remediation 27:20
remember 55:5
reminder 15:2
reminding 60:5
rendering 16:14

44:7 46:12,16,19
renderings 44:4
renewable 21:17

21:18
renewal 26:6

27:17 33:12
renovated 16:16
repeat 34:25
reponses 5:8
report 5:20,20,22

6:1,2,6,9 7:19
reports 5:13
represent 8:18

37:23

representative
10:23 25:18

representatives
6:24 7:25

representing 7:2
8:19

request 7:3,17,23
27:22 34:5 38:19
56:17

requested 56:19
requesting 11:19

26:25 27:3
required 7:10,11
requirement

33:12
requirements 7:14

33:13
research 41:20
resolution 6:20,23

8:15,24,25 11:13
11:15,20 14:3
17:6,14 19:13
24:23 37:21,21
38:1 41:23

resolutions 6:17
resources 21:17
respect 57:12
respectfully 27:22
respond 36:1
responses 3:16

4:10 13:21 57:21
responsive 34:20
rest 23:22 50:12
restaurant 45:2
restoration 16:5
restore 16:2 17:20

18:5
restored 18:19,20
restricted 10:22
result 7:12

[proud - result] Page 12

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



resulting 7:5
retail 27:13 28:11

38:10,21,24 39:2,4
39:5 41:7,12,15
42:6,7,24,25 43:10
44:12,23 47:16,19
47:23 48:2 49:8
49:10,13 51:20
52:13,16,20 53:12

retiring 59:19
return 16:25
revenue 18:14
revitalization

10:15
revitalize 27:15
right 3:19 6:5 8:4

12:2 14:11 15:19
23:24 24:13,14,15
24:16 32:3 33:9
34:15 35:8,8,13
37:17 45:9 46:10
46:12,18 48:5,6,6
49:5 53:5 55:13
60:5

riverdale 26:4
28:16

riverview 26:6
road 15:18 61:12
rob 4:16
roberto 2:24
rochelle 45:20
roger 8:16,23 9:2

11:9
roll 6:17
rolling 60:5
roof 15:15 17:1

19:21,23 55:10,13
55:20

room 17:12
rooms 18:19,24

roughly 18:19
20:22,25 21:23

run 33:4

s

saint 24:23 25:18
sake 24:10
sale 12:10,18
sales 6:22 7:7 21:6

27:1 56:19
saw 19:10
sawmill 34:15
saying 48:14 52:5

54:19
says 47:23
schedule 36:22
scheme 54:9
schwartz 9:21
screen 14:6,9

25:14
screenings 18:17
seal 22:17,18
seating 44:16
seats 51:10,10
second 3:13 4:7

5:4,5,6 6:10 47:4
seconded 3:14 4:8

6:11 8:7 13:20
24:12 57:20 60:2

section 39:14
sections 41:9
sector 9:8
see 13:15 14:9,10

17:3,19 19:23
22:8 23:4 26:4,21
29:3 34:18,21
43:6,11 44:21
45:10 50:2 52:6
54:9 55:2,3

seeing 13:13 24:9
33:21 53:19

seeking 15:4 26:2
seen 34:13 47:3

53:15,18
self 38:9,19,21

39:4 40:24 41:6
41:10

send 12:23 48:3,20
sending 51:20
senior 10:5,23
seniors 10:17
sense 57:4
separate 15:5
service 59:2
serving 59:16
set 49:20
seton 15:8,24
seven 15:17
share 14:6 25:14

31:10
shoots 18:12
shop 28:12 44:17
short 32:25
shortly 2:2
show 11:22
showing 18:8 40:6
siby 2:10,11,14,16

2:18,20,22,24 3:19
3:20,25 5:15

side 9:3,4 18:1
48:8

sides 20:11
signature 61:9
significant 23:16

32:2 34:19,22
39:12,20 51:16,23

silver 28:5
simmons 11:8
simply 17:12
singer 2:20,21 3:9

4:15,18 34:16
35:3,8,13,19,24

42:1,3 47:2,19
51:15 53:5 57:4,9
59:6

single 17:12
sister 15:3
sisters 15:24
site 14:22 15:19

19:7,8,11,24 26:23
27:21 44:15,25
46:4,5,7 47:16
53:25

sites 11:25
situated 53:17
six 5:24 10:6,11
size 17:11 40:22
slate 19:23
small 26:21 49:2
smaller 49:8,13
smiley 43:25
social 21:10,11
socioeconomic

10:20 29:11
soft 20:22
solar 21:19 55:9

55:19,23
solutionists 15:14

19:1
solutions 15:13

61:11
somebody 4:2,25

6:8 8:5 13:16
someone's 57:1
sonya 61:3
sorry 9:6 31:1

32:16,20 42:14
46:4

sort 34:2,3 43:1
sought 55:22
sources 20:24
south 44:21 48:10

[resulting - south] Page 13

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



southwest 28:16
30:16

space 17:10 18:1
18:16 26:16 28:12
38:10 50:4,6,12,14
50:16,17 51:24

spaces 15:11 17:8
33:21 50:1

spano 2:7,12,13
3:1,6,10,14,17,25
4:5,8,11,24 5:4,6,9
6:5,11,14 8:2,10
8:13,21 9:3,12,17
11:11 13:10,19,22
14:1 22:13,23
23:23 24:6 25:5
25:10 29:19 30:17
31:1,15,18 32:3,10
36:6,23 37:2,6,14
37:17 41:24 42:2
43:3 45:1,23 46:2
46:23 47:9,12
48:13 50:18,23
51:13 52:1,5 53:2
54:5 55:5,21,25
56:6,12,25 57:7,11
57:19,22 58:2,7,10
58:15,19,24 59:15
59:22 60:1

speak 19:24
special 36:24 37:9
specializes 25:22
specifically 38:22
spencer 58:22
spike 55:6
sponsor 26:11
sponsors 20:13
spot 55:23
square 28:11

38:10,11 44:12
47:15,18 49:9

51:2,4
staff 5:11 13:25
staging 49:15
stand 14:13 47:5
standards 11:4,5
standing 55:3
standpoint 18:15

22:8 29:11
starbucks 44:17

49:11 50:8 55:19
start 2:10 8:22,24
state 11:3,17,23

12:6,23 15:7 27:6
31:23 36:11,20
40:1 41:2

statement 52:6
station 44:14

50:10
statuaries 16:19
stay 5:14 19:2,3

40:16
steve 7:1 8:12,13

8:18,23 9:4,10,17
9:18,20 11:16
13:24

stock 34:18
storage 38:9,19,21

39:4 40:24 41:6
41:10 43:21,23
44:11,19,20 45:24
47:17 48:1,5,21
49:15,19 50:19
52:12,21 53:16,18
53:21,23 54:3,7,13

store 49:10 52:14
52:23

stores 47:11,14
49:2,3,5,6 51:9
52:20 53:17,24

stories 35:6,7

storing 52:14
story 10:6,12

26:14 38:9
straightforward

8:3
street 26:3 51:21
strongly 57:3
structure 10:6,12

17:1 32:6 54:20
structures 10:9,10
stuck 53:9
studies 19:14
studio 10:25
studios 11:1 26:23
stuff 55:16
submit 4:22 46:21
submitted 44:6

46:12
subsequent 7:9
suggested 52:18
suite 61:13
summarize 7:3
summarizes 5:22

11:6
summary 6:1 15:1

20:14
super 23:8
super's 11:2
supercharging

44:14 50:10
superstructure

46:9
supplemental 7:16
support 20:8

22:15 57:5
supportive 20:12
sure 13:7 29:20,25

31:4 44:9 45:17
47:14 52:21

surrounding
10:17 22:5 47:22

sustainability
21:20 23:14

sustainable 28:6
swing 14:19

t

t 61:1,1
table 37:7
take 6:20 27:23

48:1,17 56:1
taken 10:10
talk 33:5
talked 44:8
talking 2:7 29:23

43:15
tall 35:4
tangible 27:9
tasteful 48:15
tax 6:22,22 7:7

11:17 19:15 21:2
21:6,7,9 23:19
27:2,4 45:15
56:19,20

taxable 27:3
taxes 33:15
team 5:15 16:9,9
tech 9:11
tell 29:14
temporary 27:11
tenant 50:15
tenants 20:12
term 10:16,22

34:2,23 59:18
terms 19:5 20:10

20:24 59:17
terraces 17:22

18:7
terrific 29:15
tesla 44:14 50:9

55:18
thank 3:1,24 5:11

5:15,16,18 6:16

[southwest - thank] Page 14

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



8:11,12,14 9:16
11:11 13:9,10,24
13:25 14:1 24:16
24:18,18 27:24
28:1 29:18 37:25
41:23 54:1,25
56:1,3,5 57:7,15
58:1,2,3,4,6,7,9,14
59:2,4,14 60:3,7

thanks 3:25 8:13
14:8 24:20,21
58:7 59:16,19

thing 22:14 23:2
33:20 41:3 43:4
43:14 45:6 54:18
56:9

things 11:12 12:20
41:22 50:5 52:17
53:10 55:14

think 8:3 11:6
14:6 28:25 29:2,8
32:12 33:6 35:21
37:6 38:14 44:16
44:24 46:20,23
48:8 50:5,11
51:12 52:9,12,15
52:19,25 53:20
54:11,17,19,22,22

thinking 55:14
59:9,10

third 20:4 39:2
56:14

thompson 15:7,21
thought 32:4
thousand 28:11
thousands 29:9
three 12:20 15:11

17:21 26:21 36:21
59:17

threshold 38:17

throwing 9:6
22:20

till 36:7
time 19:10 21:22

21:22 27:4,12
28:6 32:14 33:16
33:24 34:11,13
42:11,15,19 44:8
58:23

timeline 19:5
times 33:3 34:14
timing 36:10
tin 45:19
tiny 47:20,20
title 12:25
today 6:3 11:18,22

12:19 17:20 18:3
22:11 27:23

today's 43:22
top 5:14 45:8 51:4
total 20:18,22 21:1

21:3 34:24 35:2
tourism 39:8,10

39:11 40:2
town 40:4,15
trade 48:9
traded 15:22
traditional 23:12
traditionally

18:11
traffic 19:14
transaction 7:2,25

8:20 12:14,17
37:23

transcript 61:4
transform 10:21
transit 10:13
trees 46:15 49:22
true 61:4
try 32:13 45:16

51:23,24

trying 23:15 31:2
34:11 45:25 55:12
55:17

turn 38:2
two 12:8 19:17

26:22 36:20 50:5
type 32:5 53:18
types 18:10 42:23

42:23,25
typical 11:15
typically 38:25

u

underneath 53:17
53:24

understand 43:20
45:3 54:18

undertakes 42:16
unit 50:19 54:3
units 10:6 26:17

26:17,22 29:10
31:6,7 34:24 35:2
35:3,9,11,14,18
36:3 53:16,21,24
54:7

unusual 45:5,6
update 14:13
updates 58:13,14

58:16
upgrades 28:22
uploaded 6:3
upstairs 49:16,17

51:2 52:14
urban 26:6 27:16
usage 28:9
use 7:11 17:14

26:15 27:2 42:4
47:21 48:21 52:18
52:22,25 54:13

uses 20:24 28:7,13
42:24,25

usual 5:11
usually 34:2,3

v

vacant 10:8,9 26:3
valley 39:18,21,23
various 14:21
vendor 55:13
veneer 28:24
venue 15:10 17:10
venues 18:2
verify 36:3
veritext 61:11
versus 40:3
viability 42:20
viable 48:1 51:24

53:1 56:21
vibrance 28:10
vibrant 30:14

49:24 51:20 52:11
vice 11:9
videos 18:12
view 17:18
views 18:5
visible 50:4
visitors 39:13,20

40:8
vistas 16:2
visually 28:25
vneneruso 9:21
vote 24:3

w

wages 21:25 22:4
wait 36:7
waiting 22:25
walk 8:24,25 38:1
walking 28:9
want 2:10 4:2 5:1

6:7,8 8:5 13:16
14:12 23:2 24:10
28:10 33:4 37:3

[thank - want] Page 15

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



42:7 43:23,24
48:21 49:25 57:13
57:16 59:22

wanted 29:18
35:25 41:21 44:9
50:24 51:1,3 52:6
53:14 55:6

wants 8:21
warburton 8:15

10:7
waterfront 28:18
way 12:16 36:2

40:16,19 48:15,15
53:16 54:2,20
55:3

we've 16:18 19:14
24:7,7 33:20
34:13 43:15 53:18
54:21

wedding 18:25
40:13,16

weddings 18:16,17
weeks 36:21,21
weingarten 25:16
welcoming 45:18
went 52:10
westchester 25:25
white 30:10
wiederkehr 25:17
william 15:7,21
wise 25:16
wonderful 59:7
work 5:13,16

15:12,14 17:25
19:1,21,23,25 20:9
28:19 29:13 33:3
36:21 43:9 53:12
54:23

workers 30:10,10
working 19:18

24:7 30:11 44:7

47:5
world 43:22 54:12
worried 48:14

53:21
wrap 49:22
wraps 45:4

y

yeah 2:6 23:19
31:15 32:10 43:3
51:15 58:24

year 5:25 12:12,22
19:21 20:4 22:4
27:1 30:8 32:22
33:6 56:20

years 15:22 21:9
32:12,14 33:1,3,23

yedc 60:5
yellow 43:25
yesterday 12:5
yielded 51:2
yonkers 1:12 5:23

9:25 10:2,24 22:1
22:7,17 26:8
29:12 30:16 34:14
40:25 45:10 58:25
59:12

york 11:18 25:21
25:25 39:24 41:1
41:16,18

z

zero 21:14 23:15
zone 41:5
zoning 17:5,13

18:21 38:18 42:10
42:15 46:8

zoom 48:25

[want - zoom] Page 16

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13

Yonkers Industrial Development Agency 
Regular Board of Directors Meeting

14 April 20, 2022
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 1

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com

DRAFT



Minutes 
of The City of Yonkers Industrial Development Agency 

Regular Board of Directors Meeting
April 20, 2022 at 4:00 p.m.

Join Zoom Meeting
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83488200195?pwd=dStkVVVyRHptVlNtRnR0dllHdmRQZz09

Meeting ID: 834 8820 0195
Passcode: 869144
One tap mobile

+16465588656,,83488200195#,,,,*869144# US (New York)
+13126266799,,83488200195#,,,,*869144# US (Chicago)

Dial by your location
+1 646 558 8656 US (New York)
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)

+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)
+1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)
Meeting ID: 834 8820 0195

Passcode: 869144
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcLJ3hyVBG

BEFORE:
Mayor Mike Spano - Chairman (Excused)
Peter Kischak - Vice Chairman
Melissa Nacerino - Treasurer (Excused)
Marlyn Anderson  Secretary
Cecile D. Singer - Member
Henry Djonbalaj - Member
Roberto Espiritu - Member 

IDA STAFF:
Jim Cavanaugh - President/CEO
Jaime McGill - Executive Director
Fiona Khan - Administrative Assistant

OTHERS:
Michael Curti Esq. - Harris Beach PLLC, Transaction Counsel
Larry Sykes, Esq. - IDA Counsel
Frank Badalato - City of Yonkers
Dean Bender - Thompson and Bender
Joseph Apicella - St. Clair - Macquesten Companies
Diana Bunin Kolev, Esq. - DelBello Donnellan Weingarten Wise & Wiederkehr, LLP
Louis Fiore - Forchelli Deegan Terrana
Todd Rollins - Nuveen
Tim Perry - North American Properties
Chris Balestra - Taconic Partners
Kevin Polstan - North American Properties



1 JAIME MCGILL:  We're just waiting on
2 our last Board member who should be joining any
3 moment.
4 CECILE SINGER:  Hi, Jaime.
5 JAIME MCGILL:  Hi, Cecile.  How are
6 you?
7 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Hello, Cecile.
8 CECILE SINGER:  Good, good.  Hi.  Hi,
9 Jim.  Your trip –-

10 JIM CAVANAUGH:  How we doing?
11 CECILE SINGER:  -- looked great, Jim.
12 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Oh, yeah.  It was a
13 wonderful –
14 CECILE SINGER:  It looked terrific.  I
15 was going to go trekking with you.
16 JIM CAVANAUGH:  You would've loved it.
17 You would've loved it.  It was a great trip.
18 Yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.  Good food.  Nice people.
19 Good -– you know, and amazing sights.  Yeah.
20 CECILE SINGER:  So that's great.
21 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Jaime, at this point,
22 we're just waiting for Curti.  Is that it?
23 JAIME MCGILL:  We're waiting for Curti
24 and Roberto.
25 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Okay.

Page 2

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  So tell us more
2 about your trip.  Fill us in.  Where were you?
3 CECILE SINGER:  Yes, yes.
4 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  The rest of us
5 are curious.
6 JIM CAVANAUGH:  It was Peru.  Peru.
7 Went to Lima and Cusco where, you know, Machu
8 Picchu is, and saw the Aztec ruins, and Lima,
9 which is a beautiful, beautiful city on the coast

10 of Peru.  Yeah.
11 It was a trip that was planned a couple
12 years ago and got -– keep getting delayed due to
13 COVID, but it finally happened.
14 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  So I've got to
15 ask.  Did you do the four-day hike, or did you
16 take the train?
17 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Oh, we took the train.
18 We did not do the four-day hike.  We took the
19 train.
20 CECILE SINGER:  Oh, well.
21 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Yeah.  I'm not much a
22 camper or a -– well, I don't mind hiking, but not
23 for four days.  It was a great train ride.
24 JAIME MCGILL:  Okay.  We have our final
25 Board member that joined.  Curti is not on yet.

Page 3

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 Jim, I don't know.  Do you want to wait
2 on Curti, or should we get going?
3 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Why don't we get going?
4 JAIME MCGILL:  Okay.  All right.  So
5 Pete will be chairing today.  I'll start with the
6 roll call.  We have Mayor Mike Spano, who is
7 excused.  Peter Kischak.
8 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Here.
9 JAIME MCGILL:  Marlyn Anderson.

10 MARLYN ANDERSON:  Here.
11 JAIME MCGILL:  Melissa Nacerino is
12 excused.  Cecile Singer.
13 CECILE SINGER:  Here.
14 JAIME MCGILL:  Henry Djonbalai
15 HENRY DJONBALAI:  Here.
16 JAIME MCGILL:  And Roberto Espiritu.
17 Okay.  Mr. Vice Chair, we have a
18 quorum.
19 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Okay.
20 Resolutions for consideration?
21 JAIME MCGILL:  The first item we have,
22 if you recall, this was an item that was tabled
23 at our last meeting.  This is an inducement
24 resolution for St. Claire Development, LLC.  This
25 is a 75-unit workforce housing project slated for

Page 4

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 the corner of 38 Main and Riverdale Avenue.
2 We do have representatives here for the
3 project.  Joe Apicella is with us again as well
4 as counsel on the project, Diana Kolev.
5 JOE APICELLA:  Good afternoon,
6 everyone, and a prayer for the officer who's
7 injured.
8 JAIME MCGILL:  Thanks, Joe.
9 JOE APICELLA:  So we're back before

10 you.  We wanted to revise some of our
11 information, which was indicated to us.  We
12 needed to address some of our numbers as it
13 relates to the average median income.  We have
14 done that.
15 The project before you is the same
16 project that was there last –- I believe it was
17 last month, the last meeting.  I can quickly go
18 through this.
19 This project will create –- it is an
20 all-affordable project with 76 units -- sorry to
21 correct you, Jaime -- 76 units, 240 jobs on
22 construction site, and 15 to 20 jobs on the
23 permanent site (indiscernible).
24 There's no mortgage exemption being
25 considered.  We will get that through the state

Page 5

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 HFA.
2 We are requesting a pilot for which we
3 have a date for an analysis by the IDA yet to be
4 determined on the proposed pilot.  It is a 30-
5 year pilot, as mentioned last time, and that 30
6 years runs pro terminus with the mortgages on an
7 all-affordable project, which we are required to
8 have a 30-year pilot in this instance.
9 Again, 76 units, all affordable.  We

10 provided a detailed breakout to Jaime, and I
11 think she may want to share that with you.  And
12 in addition to that, we have approximately 2,000
13 square feet of retail.  We envision a service-
14 oriented retailer at this site.
15 This site is such a critical corner at
16 the -- a critical corner at the waterfront
17 downtown Riverdale and Main Street.  We've taken
18 some great care with the design of the building,
19 as you can see.  It's a beautifully designed
20 building intended to be sustainable over time.
21 Leads silver designation as well as a roof area.
22 We're going to use the cooperative and work with
23 NYSERDA on this project.
24 This was in the historic district, and
25 we worked with the Landmarks board on both the

Page 6

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 design and the waiver on the Richard Haas
2 district, which was garnered.  We have full
3 approvals for this project, site plan, and
4 otherwise.
5 We think this project works beautifully
6 in the downtown and would be something that is
7 sustainable and create a very nice entrée into
8 the waterfront.
9 I'm happy to answer any and all

10 questions.  We're anxious to move forward.  Our
11 applications are before the state for financing,
12 and the county of Westchester as well.
13 JIM CAVANAUGH:  And I might add the
14 mayor, again who can't be with us today because
15 of the other situation, is in support of this
16 project.
17 The board members recall that the mayor
18 asked it to be tabled at the last meeting.
19 That's because he wanted to further explore the
20 average median income levels that were being
21 proposed, and I think his feeling was that some
22 of the levels that were being proposed were a
23 little bit duplicative of what the housing
24 authority does either through its own housing or
25 through the Section 8 program, so he had asked

Page 7

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 Joe and the crew to come back with a slightly
2 higher AMI mix, which they've done.
3 So now it's geared more towards, you
4 know, there's more of a workforce housing type
5 situation.  We can talk specifically about the
6 AMI levels, but they're a little higher than was
7 originally proposed, and that was the reason why
8 the mayor wanted Joe just to rework it a little
9 bit.

10 CECILE SINGER:  Jim, could you just
11 tell us what the levels are currently now with
12 the new proposal?
13 JAIME MCGILL:  We're going to put it up
14 on the -- up on the screen here what the unit mix
15 is.
16 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Okay.  There you go.
17 CECILE SINGER:  All right.  You can
18 see.
19 JIM CAVANAUGH:  So yeah.  You'll see
20 it's geared toward --
21 CECILE SINGER:  Yes.
22 JIM CAVANAUGH:  -- 50, 60, and 80
23 percent of AMI.  I think there might've been some
24 35 percent AMI units originally.  I'm not 100
25 percent sure, but --

Page 8

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 JAIME MCGILL:  There were 40 that were
2 replaced.  40 was taken out.
3 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Yeah.  40.  Yeah.
4 Yeah.  And you know, this is -- this level still
5 qualifies for the state incentives, so --
6 CECILE SINGER:  Right.  It certainly is
7 something, the design of which would certainly
8 stand with anything else in the city, so that's
9 very good to see.  And certainly it's a plus for

10 the people who will be able to qualify to live
11 there, so it looks like a really great project.
12 JIM CAVANAUGH:  Yeah.  It's a nice-
13 looking building.  And you know, it fits in with
14 the City's goal to have neighborhoods that aren't
15 entirely high-end market or entirely, you know,
16 the opposite.
17 I mean, this is going to be a workforce
18 housing building, but there's literally going to
19 be, you know, a block away from Sawyer Place,
20 which is one of the more expensive market-rate
21 developments downtown, so it really, you know,
22 provides a well economically integrated
23 neighborhood.
24 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Okay.  So can we
25 make motion on this?

Page 9

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 HENRY DJONBALAI:  I'll make a motion.
2 MARLYN ANDERSON:  I'll second.
3 JAIME MCGILL:  Djonbalai has the
4 motion, and who was the second?
5 MARLYN ANDERSON:  Marlyn.  Second.
6 JAIME MCGILL:  Marlyn.  Thank you.
7 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Marlyn.
8 JAIME MCGILL:  That item has passed.
9 We're moving on to our second item.

10 Congratulations, Joe and your crew.  You can jump
11 off the call if you'd like.
12 JOE APICELLA:  Thank you so much, Mr.
13 Chairman -- Acting Chairman and members of the
14 Board.
15 JAIME MCGILL:  Thanks, Joe.
16 JOE APICELLA:  You're welcome.  Good
17 luck.
18 CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Thank you, Joe.
19 JAIME MCGILL:  Our next item is a
20 resolution authorizing the change in ownership of
21 the Ridge Hill project to Ridge Hill Owner LLC
22 and Ridge Hill Property Owner LLC.  This is for
23 the authorization of a transfer and assignment.
24 We have representatives here from the
25 project.  I'm not sure -- they have a brief

Page 10

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 presentation for you.  I'm not sure who exactly
2 is presenting, but we have from Nuveen and North
3 American Todd Rollins, Tim Perry.  We also have
4 Michael Curti I believe jumped on the line now
5 here to represent the transaction.
6 MICHAEL CURTI:  Before we turn it over
7 to Nuveen, Jaime, I'll just briefly go over the
8 resolution that's before the Board.
9 This is a proposed resolution to

10 authorize the transfer of the Ridge Hill facility
11 from its current owners, which is QIC, an
12 Australian company, to a joint venture of Nuveen
13 and some other development partners that they
14 will talk a little bit about during their
15 presentation that you're about to hear.
16 This resolution before the IDA is
17 simply to authorize the transfer to the new
18 Nuveen joint venture entity for their management
19 of the project on a go-forward basis.
20 There is a resolution before the
21 Yonkers Economic Development Coordination Board,
22 which is to authorize mortgage recording tax for
23 the new money portion of their acquisition.
24 They're assuming the existing debt on the
25 property, and then they're also incurring new

Page 11

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 debt of approximately $14.3 million.  That is not
2 part of the resolution that's before this Board,
3 but I just wanted this Board to be aware that the
4 corporation will be considering that resolution
5 at its meeting following this Board meeting.
6           So I think at this point in time, I'll
7 turn it over to the Nuveen representatives to
8 talk a little bit about their acquisition of the
9 project and what they plan on owing with the
10 project going forward.  Thank you.
11           TIM PERRY:  Thank you very much.
12 Thanks, everyone, for your time this afternoon.
13           My name is Tim Perry.  I'm managing
14 partner in North American Properties.  I happen
15 to be based in Atlanta, but North American
16 Properties is going to be responsible as the
17 operating partner for the operations and takeover
18 here in Ridge Hill.
19           I'm joined by our copartners, both New
20 York based, Todd Rollins who is with Nuveen, and
21 Chris Balestra who is with Taconic, as well as
22 Kevin Polston who is with North American
23 Properties in our New Jersey office and will be
24 responsible for on-the-ground property management
25 specifically there at Ridge Hill.

Page 12

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           So if you have just a few minutes, we'd
2 like to very briefly kind of bring you up to
3 speed on the transaction, which we are targeting
4 to close next week.  Very excited to make a large
5 investment and to be a part of the community, and
6 very excited to get started working with all of
7 you, your constituents, and just the community at
8 large.
9           In our assessment so far, the biggest
10 mismanagement in some ways from our previous --
11 the seller, the previous owner, has been, you
12 know, an institutional focus on cash flow and
13 tenants, and not enough of a focus on how the
14 world has changed and retail in particular has
15 changed as generational psychographics have
16 gotten shorter, and behaviors and buying patterns
17 have certainly been altered over the last 10
18 years or so since this was constructed.
19           So I'm going to share really quick.
20 I'm just going to share really quick a brief --
21 assuming everyone can now see the -- full screen.
22 There we go.
23           Everyone is looking at what I see here
24 which is a Ridge Hill proposal.  Yes?
25           GROUP:  Yes.

Page 13

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           TIM PERRY:  Real quick, I'll start by -
2 - I kind of mentioned North America Properties.
3 We're (indiscernible) and based in Cincinnati
4 (indiscernible) family there.  We have developed
5 over the years over 22 million square feet of
6 commercial space, a lot of multifamily housing,
7 office buildings.
8           And currently the strategy for the
9 group that has me based in Atlanta -- we develop
10 houses in Florida, and Dallas, Ohio, and Atlanta
11 -- is to acquire large mixed-use assets that
12 otherwise we would have developed at a purchase
13 price that makes it -- is able to turn it around
14 and really embrace the community which is there,
15 and really enhance the division and the brand
16 associated with the property which attracts
17 retailers, attracts restaurants, and attracts
18 people there.
19           And Todd or Chris, do you want to give
20 a quick (indiscernible) Nuveen and Taconic?
21           TODD ROLLINS:  Yeah.  Hey.  Todd
22 Rollins here, Nuveen Real Estate.  I'm in the New
23 York office.  I run retail for the northeast
24 region, Midwest region, and then urban across the
25 Americas.

Page 14

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           Nuveen is the wholly-owned asset
2 manager of (indiscernible), and we are a very
3 large owner of retail across the U.S. and the
4 world, and we're looking very much forward to
5 getting started with this project.  Over to you,
6 Chris.
7           CECILE SINGER:  So as you speak, tell
8 us what you will do differently than has been
9 done.  How do you view this?  You know, you're
10 making an investment.  What do you expect and
11 how?
12           TIM PERRY:  Sure.  Cecile, you jumped
13 forward to like my next couple slides.
14           CECILE SINGER:  Okay.
15           TIM PERRY:  But I'll get right there.
16 Chris, do you want to say something really quick
17 about Taconic?
18           CHRIS BALESTRA:  Yeah.  Really quickly,
19 Taconic is a 25-year-old New York City based
20 owner-operator-developer, many mixed-use
21 projects, residential, commercial, life science,
22 retail.  And probably is important, I'm a
23 Westchester Resident.  I shop at Ridge Hill, and
24 I'm fully invested here in making it better for
25 the community at large.

Page 15

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 TIM PERRY:  So Cecile, to your
2 question, as I was talking about North American
3 and what we do, we focus -- we call it building
4 community before we build community.  We really
5 focus on the space between the buildings first.
6 It's the easiest thing to fix.  It's the easiest
7 thing to fill.
8 We've got -- you've got to staff it
9 correctly.  You have to -- there's a lot that

10 goes into it, whether it's social media these
11 days or marketing teams that haven't been there,
12 you know, for the last several years anyway, the
13 last five years or so that QIC has owned it.  And
14 it's just been, you know, collect the rent, sweep
15 the streets, you know, that kind of stuff.
16 Small things that you don't notice, or
17 as we like to say, you never notice what's right
18 when everything is right, but you notice what's
19 wrong when it's wrong.  And as you go from
20 walking from end to end and different music or
21 the lack of lighting or the lack of activation
22 kind of throughout, but they haven't really
23 focused on those common areas, and that public
24 realm, and that energy that you get from getting
25 people here, and really in some ways damaged

Page 16

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 Ridge Hill from a destination and made it almost
2 more of a necessity.  I will go if I'm taking my
3 kid to Legoland.  I'll go if I'm going to Apple.
4 I'll go and I'll grocery shop, but we want this
5 to be place where people go and dwell, where on a
6 Friday afternoon or a Saturday on a nice day,
7 this is where you go, and you eat where you can
8 get in, and enjoy the day with friends and family
9 celebrating.
10           So to do that, we kind of look at
11 things that all of these mixed-use centers
12 probably have in common: access, visibility, and
13 parking, architecturally appealing, functionally
14 relevant -- meaning not a lot of circular blocks
15 -- community focused, very active.  There's a 6
16 a.m. coffee, dog walker on the way to work all
17 the way through a playoff game that may run until
18 midnight.  Relevant merchandising.  Technology
19 integration.
20           And then we -- just like Disney -- of
21 course, their team is cast members.  We refer to
22 our team as experience makers to the point where
23 we even trademarked that word.  But everyone,
24 whether they're internal or external, security,
25 custodial, you name it, parking all goes through

Page 17

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 hospitality training so that we interact with the
2 community.
3           And all of these things that are
4 fixable are things that we can do.  And
5 specifically to Ridge Hill, we actually put
6 everyone -- like I said -- through hospitality
7 training.  We brought the Ritz-Carlton Institute
8 in years ago and trained the trainers.
9           The staff here onsite will go from a
10 general manager and a marketing person, engineer
11 to GM, assistant GM, marketing coordinator, event
12 coordinator, social media, accounting,
13 engineering, parking management.  All of them now
14 are part of the ownership team, and all focus on
15 the property.
16           And a lot of it's operational.  So you
17 know, I like to say five-star resort hospitality,
18 year-round programing, ice skating rinks in the
19 winter, and retail that surrounds it serving hot
20 chocolate, versus in the summer it might be loud
21 music on a Friday and snow cones.  Walkable
22 street-level experience.  Just some things that,
23 you know, we would do differently.
24           You know, closing down streets, we
25 would open those back up and bring the cars in

Page 18

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 and define that public from a vehicular realm.  A
2 place of -- a sense of place with unique story.
3 Promote healthy living.  We curate dining,
4 retail, and services experience.  Amenity rich.
5 So there's a lot of amenities here.  They're just
6 not really put into service.  And then
7 (indiscernible) focus.
8 So the big one we'll start -- the two
9 we'll start with will be the memorable

10 experiences, so our marketing team -- even with
11 what is there, there's enough (indiscernible) to
12 come in and start bringing that activation,
13 whether it's Wednesday -- Wellness Wednesdays and
14 Toddler Tuesdays and Live Music Fridays,
15 signature events that as we get our hands on it
16 and understand community, which differ.
17 In one property, Fourth of July is
18 sacred.  That's their big event every year.  And
19 other places it's Saint Patrick's Day.  Other
20 places it's Labor Day weekend.  So we really work
21 with what's already there in place, and bring it
22 even more -- at some of our other properties like
23 (indiscernible) you'll have -- we have 50,000
24 people show up for our annual tree lighting.
25 We'll have, you know, 5,000 people show up at a

Page 19

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 menorah lighting.  They'll just show up to be
2 there and convene and socialize, especially these
3 days.
4           What that looks like -- I went too far.
5 What that looks like here at Ridge Hill
6 specifically, we see here site plan -- I'm good.
7 I need (indiscernible).  I apologize
8 (indiscernible) end of the day because things
9 (indiscernible).
10           One, the heart of the property -- so
11 management really is focused down on folks in the
12 plaza near Whole Foods.  The heart of the
13 property is the heart of the property.  And as
14 the difference of your experiences go from block,
15 to block, to block.
16           So we activate the central plaza.  You
17 can see they're number one.  These prime retail
18 corners were P.F. Chang's used to be in Building
19 F-1, that may be the best space in the entire
20 center because it's going to let us bring in a
21 food and beverage option that residents in
22 Yonkers and Westchester County don't have to
23 leave to go enjoy.  Right.  Something that's
24 getting closer to home, something that's going to
25 be date night.

Page 20

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           And then Building B and C, you know,
2 those remain as kind of your soft goods.   We
3 call that a dwell (indiscernible).  You stroll
4 around and you enjoy the tenants that are there.
5 You have -- you grab something to eat or an event
6 in the plaza.  Maybe on the way home you're
7 stopping by Whole Foods, and you're grabbing
8 groceries for that evening or (indiscernible).
9           Three, bringing community events into
10 the fountain.  So the Fountain Plaza with Lego,
11 with the movies, with a little bit more
12 playfulness, we'll continue energizing that and
13 organizing events that are really focused on the
14 sort of family and community event.
15           Number four, Lord & Taylor, that's a
16 big building, and that building will -- the
17 ground floor is really essential because it needs
18 to have something that's a lot more active than a
19 department store.  Think sports bar.  And have
20 something that's market facing.
21           So the whole Second Street, Market
22 Street, and Plaza, that really collectively
23 becomes the active -- the active center of the
24 property, not just one piece, and it needs to be
25 the heart.

Page 21

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           And then Number 5, parking operations,
2 they will resume.  QIC was -- they were going to
3 drop the gates January 1st.  We were under
4 contract.  And given the state, honestly, of the
5 equipment and the lack of connectivity on the
6 property, we paused that to bring technology into
7 it so that it's all license-plate cameras, and
8 it's all app-based on your phone, so it's a
9 seamless process.  We get to keep all of those
10 traffic corridors through the parking decks open
11 rather than dropping gates and starting to charge
12 you.
13           And so that's sort of -- as you come in
14 off of Ridge Hill Boulevard and you drive up, and
15 you're going to your doctor's office on your
16 left, when you get to that intersection, you feel
17 the music, and the lights, and the people, and
18 the plaza, it draws you to it.  It draws you down
19 the boulevard, and it takes Market Street and
20 shrinks it so that it's not such a, "Oh, that's a
21 long walk."  It kind of takes away that
22 perception.
23           Some of the ideas here around that
24 central plaza, you see on Market Street, that's a
25 raised traffic table.  That's something that cars

Page 22

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 can bump up on.  It flattens so there -- as you
2 go from the plaza over onto the curb, there are
3 no -- there are no curbs, no step ups.  It really
4 connects that space.  At the same time, it slows
5 down traffic.
6           Along Second Street, you see a white
7 box there.  That is concierge building.  This
8 actually brings concierge and valet, so it's here
9 are the events we're doing.  Here's this.
10           Our concierge members, when we put it
11 in place, run the events.  They're out there in
12 shorts doing the kid events, or they're out there
13 in yoga working with our tenants.  We always use
14 our tenants to promote our events.
15           There'll be public restrooms and a
16 stage.  It's covered, so you can do things in all
17 weather.  It'll have the lights and all the
18 sound, and everything wired, so it's not just
19 someone setting up a speaker on a pole that feels
20 very, very, you know, contrived.
21           And then Central Plaza -- you can't see
22 Central Plaza itself looking back toward the Lord
23 & Taylor building.  It'll have an LED screen.
24 We'll really enhance these patios.  We'll get
25 those -- the vehicles here are parked parallel,

Page 23

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 create a great definition between the pedestrian
2 and the vehicular realms, and give people
3 comfort, and just kind of slows down the heart of
4 the property, and then brings the lights, and the
5 music, and the fun, and the activation into it.
6           The small retailers that are there,
7 like I said, I think are more seasonal.  Right.
8 Ice cream doesn't sell all year around, but ice
9 cream may sell in the summer, and hot chocolate
10 may sell in the winter.  Snow cones may sell in
11 the summer, and smores may sell in the winter.
12           And it's really more about that space,
13 providing something for the community to come and
14 spend their day, and spend their time dwelling,
15 and give them something to do.  And so it's the
16 right mix of necessity.  You're going to come to
17 TJ Maxx.  You're going to come to the doctor.
18 You're going to come to Apple or Whole Foods for
19 your groceries.  Service where you've got nails
20 and salons, fitness.  L.A. Fitness had previously
21 an exclusive, so now we can bring some of those
22 boutique fitness and Pilates and such in.
23           And then your experience.  Great food
24 and beverage restaurants.  Competitive
25 socialization (indiscernible) such as that.

Page 24

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           Here's sort of a rough view looking
2 back from the Lord & Taylor building of what this
3 might look like with the concierge building, live
4 music there in the background, and then looking
5 the other way, this clear cube in front of you is
6 actually where the concierge building sits.
7 Looking back at this, you know, 16-by-22 screen
8 that lets us that event whether it's an Olympic
9 opening ceremony or it's a regional sports event
10 or it's a celebration, it lets us use that screen
11 and continue activating the Part B.
12           And then from there, the leasing
13 strategy is to get that part right, especially
14 that old former P.F. Chang's space from an
15 (indiscernible) standpoint.  And then lease out.
16 Let it grow.
17           Toward the north are more soft goods
18 blocks.  Toward the south become a little bit
19 more daily need and services.  you don't, you
20 know, dwell necessarily on a block with such big
21 tenants as The Container Store and Whole Foods,
22 but you dwell in those boutiques that go between
23 the theater block and this, and we've got to
24 enhance those, and we've got to get better.
25           What tenants need more than ever these

Page 25

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 days is to feel like they're not going to be in
2 another retail center that is trending downward.
3 Every tenant that's there asks the same thing,
4 and tenants that are coming.  They want to feel
5 like their brand, more than ever -- because
6 they've burned by too many dying malls.  They
7 need to feel like their brand is protected, and
8 it's enhanced, and it's part of the future story.
9           And that's why we like to say here it's
10 not about the stores; it's about the stories.
11 The events and the things that bring people to
12 the center drive that traffic, which creates the
13 sales, which creates the story and attracts the
14 stores.
15           And the stores will be responsive to
16 the market plan.  Social media is responsive to
17 the marketing plan.  We have proposals on almost
18 every property during the holidays.
19           And you know what?  It's kind of funny.
20 Sometimes it's the -- sometimes it's the guys.
21 Sometimes it's the girl.  Oftentimes, it's their
22 parents who call up and say, "Hey, can you help
23 my son?  He's going to propose, and he wants to
24 do something special."  You know, gender reveals
25 and coloring the fountains.  All of that stuff

Page 26

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 we're open to because it's all things that people
2 do as part of their daily lives, and we want
3 Ridge Hill to be part of their -- those daily
4 lives.
5           Like I said, signature events.  We use
6 our tenants for this, so it's going to Lego and
7 saying, "Hey, let's have you come out of your
8 store and come into the plaza.  Come into the
9 kid's plaza and let's -- and do something with
10 us."
11           It's bringing the Pilates, or the yoga,
12 or the Lululemons out of their store and engage
13 in that wellness, and it's bringing our
14 restaurants, and our food, and our beverage into
15 these live events that we throw in the common
16 areas.
17           Tenant participation, retailer focus,
18 restaurant focus, and traffic driving awareness.
19 Those are kind of where we focus and what we want
20 to use this space between the buildings for.
21           Like I said at the beginning, it's
22 about the -- it's about the space between the
23 building, not about the space inside the
24 buildings where you have to start the story and
25 start this investment.

Page 27

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           Here's comedy that we do.  You can see
2 this is the first Monday I think of every month
3 at this particular property we have a comedy
4 show.  The second Wednesday at this particular
5 property we do ladies' night out, and it is
6 amazing how many hours -- hours -- people will
7 wait in line in a concierge booth to get a swag
8 bag, a glass of wine, and some coupons.  These
9 are all things that we want people to come out
10 to.
11           And then there's wellness -- and maybe
12 my favorite when it really comes to community,
13 this is one that we do at one of our properties
14 called Noon to Night, and it's a fashion show
15 where our retailers provide the clothes.
16           The benefactor of this -- we sell
17 tickets.  The benefactor of this is an
18 organization that sends kids with cancer to
19 Disney World down in Florida, and the kids get to
20 be models.  So these are -- you know, kids that
21 are often kind of insecure about certain things
22 in themselves, they get to be the models.  They
23 get to go on the runway.
24           And it's exceptionally professionally
25 done, and it raises $60,000 or $70,000 a year for

Page 28

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 this cause.  But it just gets everyone in the
2 community, everyone -- even those who don't buy
3 tickets and are standing around the outside, it's
4 not that exclusive.  People are buying tickets
5 that are doing -- because they want to be part of
6 that experience.
7           That's how we operate, and that's the
8 story we tell and how we merchandise it.
9           CECILE SINGER:  It certainly looks very
10 interesting.  It certainly looks very
11 interesting, and of course, as you certainly
12 understand the retail, the bones of the thing,
13 and so getting it right is not simple in a very
14 competitive marketplace.  And so you have a
15 methodology, and so what -- all right.  So what
16 socioeconomic level would you be trying to hit?
17 Do you have -- what's your view?
18           TIM PERRY:  Often the properties aren't
19 large enough to, you know, be more than to a very
20 specific segment.  And I think that the segment
21 that's here has been -- has been right in the
22 middle.  And it's probably (indiscernible) a
23 little bit above and below, right?  You've got to
24 have better -- a very -- a different -- not class
25 -- a classification maybe of food and beverage.

Page 29

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 There's not quite enough quick serve, right, to
2 go in and grab a slice of pizza.  But at the same
3 time, you need an elevated experience so that
4 it's not, "Honey, I want to go to the doctor,"
5 or, "I'm going to take my kid to a party at
6 Legoland and grab something to eat while I'm
7 there."
8           There are only so many times that Yard
9 House and cheesecake, and a public burger are
10 going to satisfy that.  Sometimes you want a nice
11 glass of wine with your wife or your husband
12 while you're there waiting, or before or after
13 that.  So we've got to broaden it a good bit.
14           We really are attracted to the idea
15 that there was that TJ Maxx, Dick's, you know,
16 really in people's daily lives component.  And
17 the absence, a little bit, of the boutique,
18 fitness, and the aspirational side of the
19 (indiscernible) and Lululemons, you know, that
20 sort of aspirational tenant.
21           So depending on where you put it, and
22 that's why the programing of those plazas,
23 Cecile, is so important.  You've got to kind of
24 get the right tenants around the right area.  The
25 other tenants will have to move.  There's a

Page 30

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 little bit of Tetris that you play with them.
2           There are entire blocks that
3 intentionally -- for insane, the block to the
4 north of Plaza, north of Lord & Taylor, you know,
5 those we will intentionally keep very soft goods
6 focused, very smaller, soft goods focused because
7 that's the dwell (indiscernible).  Right.  To put
8 a small 1,500-square-foot tenant down between two
9 large boxes doesn't get the traffic that they
10 need there either.
11           So there's a lot of thought that goes
12 into merchandising it, and where you hold the
13 events and how you (indiscernible), it's a lot of
14 square footage.  And the community support is
15 already evident in some of the sales that are
16 very strong.  And it's also evident in some of
17 the sales that are very weak.  And I think that's
18 the biggest indicator you can see as far as
19 (indiscernible).
20           There are always corporate issues with
21 some retailers, but that's the biggest indicator
22 is what we can see is what's responsive and
23 what's not.
24           We've got to have a lot more food and
25 beverage and a lot more of a destination that

Page 31

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 people think, "What am I going to today?  Oh,
2 we're going to go to Ridge Hill.  I needed to
3 stop in this store anyway.  I need to return
4 something there.  There's a great sushi
5 restaurant.  There's a great Italian restaurant.
6 We don't have to get on a train or go into the
7 city.  Let's go to Ridge Hill.  Catch a movie
8 after dinner."  And it's that -- it's really that
9 emotional connection that gets people there and
10 drives their merchandise.
11           CECILE SINGER:  Well, it sounds very
12 good.  And as you know, it's very important to
13 all of us in the city that you be successful in
14 this, so good luck.
15           TIM PERRY:  Well, we appreciate it.  We
16 don't have our head -- our hands around it yet
17 with the closing next week.  But as we do, you
18 know, we look forward to working with you all.
19 And any assistance that we ever need, we'll -- we
20 appreciate the partnership, and I'm sure we'll be
21 talking in the future.
22           JIM CAVANAUGH:  I have one question for
23 you.
24           TIM PERRY:  Yes, sir.
25           JIM CAVANAUGH:  You have the right to

Page 32

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 build up to 500 residential units on the portion
2 of Ridge Hill which you're going to own.
3           TIM PERRY:  Right.
4           JIM CAVANAUGH:  Have you given any
5 thought to whether you're going to exercise that
6 or not?
7           TIM PERRY:  We would -- we would like
8 to exercise that, yes.
9           JIM CAVANAUGH:  Okay.
10           TIM PERRY:  So we've got that, right.
11 We've got to figure out how to do it on that
12 site.  I think over time, there's a lot of
13 development skeletons.  Here over time, those
14 have been moved around, the sites.  We've got to
15 get them in the right spot, Mr. Cavanaugh.
16           But at the end of the day, at 5:30 or 6
17 when people go home from Ridge Hill as the stores
18 close, we also need people who are coming home to
19 Ridge Hill and dropping their stuff and wanting
20 to go out and enjoy, you know, watching TV, or
21 enjoy dinner, or you know, whatever, enjoy the
22 events.
23           JIM CAVANAUGH:  Right.
24           TIM PERRY:  And all of the properties
25 that we manage, that mix of uses -- and

Page 33

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 ironically, I'm sitting in a -- I'm in a city
2 hall building right now in Peachtree City --
3 sorry -- Peachtree Corners, Georgia, and my
4 meeting at 5:00 is with a city council person to
5 talk about that exact same thing, the importance
6 of specifically rental -- not owned but rental in
7 a tight little town center area, and how
8 important that is to the retailers, and how
9 important it is to the community.
10           You've got to have people to come home
11 to the property, not just leaving to go home at
12 the end of the day.  And that creates that 18
13 hour.  I want someone coming out of his apartment
14 at 6 a.m. who's walking their dog because there's
15 a dog park or because there's a coffee shop where
16 they want to go to catch up on their e-mail or
17 their social media.
18           JIM CAVANAUGH:  Thanks.
19           CECILE SINGER:  So where is the
20 property full of the 500 potential construction
21 sites?
22           TIM PERRY:  It's located on -- actually
23 building sitting on top of the pads where those
24 are entitled currently, so that's why I say there
25 are challenges and things we have to work

Page 34

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 through.  And given that we don't even own it
2 yet, the evaluation of those has been somewhat
3 limited.
4           But that's -- but that's the important
5 piece.  It adds the density.  It doesn't spread
6 it out.  It brings the bodies onto the street.
7           CECILE SINGER:  Thank you.
8           JIM CAVANAUGH:  Do we need a vote?
9           CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Yeah.  I just
10 want to say something.  You know, one of the
11 biggest knocks on Ridge Hill when they first
12 opened up was people paying for parking.  I heard
13 that a lot from a lot of people.  What is your
14 opinion on that?
15           TIM PERRY:  Well, that's something
16 we'll have to get into and see.  I think the --
17 given the structure of some of those decks and
18 the upkeep from them, you know, paid -- some fee
19 for parking is going to be essential to being
20 able to operate and upkeep that in some sort of
21 manner.  They haven't the last few years, and
22 it's reflected, I think.  And a lot of it I defer
23 to maintenance.  A lot of issues that we've
24 identified with those parking decks in
25 particular.

Page 35

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           I think the biggest -- and we've just
2 started in the community.  I think a big part of
3 the parking issue is not the 3.50 that it was
4 costing but the lack of connection to the site,
5 and that you had to pull into a deck, and you
6 paid.  You couldn't get out -- you couldn't pull
7 through the deck.  It wasn't like you could go
8 through it to get from one side to the other.
9 Then if you left that deck because you parked
10 down by Lego, and you wanted to go and stop by
11 Whole Foods on the way home, you had to put money
12 in, and pay again, and lift the arm, and all that
13 other kind of stuff.
14           What we're doing -- we actually have
15 our own parking company -- is you pull in.  You
16 scan, just like you do at a restaurant, the QR
17 code.  You can take a picture of your license
18 plate and Apple pay and be done, and it'll be an
19 hourly experience.  So if you had to go down and
20 pull in at Legoland for an hour, then you wanted
21 to go to Whole Foods, you would do just that.
22 You would go.  You could get to Whole Foods.
23 You're not paying twice.  It's based on the whole
24 property.  There are no more gates to go up and
25 down, so you're -- so it connects, and you can

Page 36

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1 flow through the property.
2           And we'll have valet that'll have some
3 sort of, you know, premium cost, maybe $7 at the
4 decks themselves for the upkeep.  What we found
5 is there's some significant maintenance and costs
6 that need to be offset in those decks themselves.
7 And we'd ask QIC to -- don't drop the gates.
8 Just -- I don't know how you get through the site
9 if you eliminated all of those as vehicular
10 corridors versus keeping them down.
11           CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Okay.
12           HENRY DJONBALAI:  Used to be a trolley.
13 Do you know what happened to that trolley?
14           TIM PERRY:  I do not, but now I'm
15 really curious.
16           HENRY DJONBALAI:  It was great to see
17 it going up and down.
18           TIM PERRY:  Maybe -- Todd, do you
19 happen to have dibs on a trolley somewhere we can
20 grab?
21           TODD ROLLINS:  I'd have to look.  Yeah.
22 I don't think we have any in inventory anywhere,
23 but that's a great idea.
24           TIM PERRY:  Yeah.  That's --
25           TODD ROLLINS:  Definitely look at it.

Page 37

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           TIM PERRY:  Yeah.  Thank you.
2           CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  All right.
3 Jaime, I don't think we have anything else.
4           JAIME MCGILL:  Okay.  So we just need
5 to -- we need a motion on this.
6           CECILE SINGER:  So moved.  Move
7 (indiscernible).
8           JAIME MCGILL:  Cecile makes a motion.
9           CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  I'll make a
10 motion.
11           JAIME MCGILL:  Pete will take the
12 second.  Okay.  So that item is passed.
13           We have no other business on our end.
14 I don't know if Michael Curti has anything -- any
15 legal updates for the board.
16           MICHAEL CURTI:  No legal updates.
17           JAIME MCGILL:  No legal updates.
18           Congratulations to the soon-to-be-new
19 owners of Ridge Hill.  And then we just -- we
20 need motion to adjourn, Pete.
21           HENRY DJONBALAI:  I make a motion.
22           CECILE SINGER:  Second.
23           CHAIR PETER KISCHAK:  Cecile and Henry.
24           All right.  Thank you, gentlemen.
25 Ladies.

Page 38

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1           TIM PERRY:  Thank you.
2           JAIME MCGILL:  Congratulations,
3 everyone.  Thank you.  I'm going to ask the YEDC
4 Board members just to stay on.  We're going to
5 roll right into our IDEC meeting.
6           MICHAEL CURTI:  Do you need this group
7 for that?  There's some confusion --
8           JAIME MCGILL:  Yeah.
9           MICHAEL CURTI:  You do.  Okay.
10           (Proceeding concluded)
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 39

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



1              C E R T I F I C A T I O N
2
3 I, Sonya Ledanski Hyde, certify that the
4 foregoing transcript is a true and accurate
5 record of the proceedings.
6
7
8 <%12151,Signature%>
9 __________________________________
10
11 Veritext Legal Solutions
12 330 Old Country Road
13 Suite 300
14 Mineola, NY 11501
15
16 Date:  May 3, 2022
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 40

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



&

& 21:15 23:23
25:2 31:4

1

1 20:19
1,500 31:8
10 13:17
100 8:24
11501 40:14
12151 40:8
14.3 12:1
15 5:22
16 25:7
18 34:12
1st 22:3

2

2,000 6:12
20 1:14 5:22
2022 1:14 40:16
22 14:5 25:7
240 5:21
25 15:19

3

3 40:16
3.50 36:3
30 6:4,5,8
300 40:13
330 40:12
35 8:24
38 5:1

4

40 9:1,2,3

5

5 22:1
5,000 19:25
50 8:22
50,000 19:23
500 33:1 34:20

5:00 34:4
5:30 33:16

6

6 17:15 33:16
34:14

60 8:22
60,000 28:25

7

7 37:3
70,000 28:25
75 4:25
76 5:20,21 6:9

8

8 7:25
80 8:22

a

a.m. 17:16 34:14
able 9:10 14:13

35:20
absence 30:17
access 17:12
accounting 18:12
accurate 40:4
acquire 14:11
acquisition 11:23

12:8
acting 10:13
activate 20:16
activating 25:11
activation 16:21

19:12 24:5
active 17:15 21:18

21:23,23
add 7:13
addition 6:12
address 5:12
adds 35:5
adjourn 38:20

affordable 5:20
6:7,9

afternoon 5:5
12:12 17:6

agency 1:12
ago 3:12 18:8
altered 13:17
amazing 2:19 28:6
amenities 19:5
amenity 19:4
america 14:2
american 11:3

12:14,15,22 16:2
americas 14:25
ami 8:2,6,23,24
analysis 6:3
anderson 4:9,10

10:2,5
annual 19:24
answer 7:9
anxious 7:10
anyway 16:12

32:3
apartment 34:13
apicella 5:3,5,9

10:12,16
apologize 20:7
app 22:8
appealing 17:13
apple 17:3 24:18

36:18
applications 7:11
appreciate 32:15

32:20
approvals 7:3
approximately

6:12 12:1
april 1:14
architecturally

17:13

area 6:21 30:24
34:7

areas 16:23 27:16
arm 36:12
asked 7:18,25
asks 26:3
aspirational 30:18

30:20
assessment 13:9
asset 15:1
assets 14:11
assignment 10:23
assistance 32:19
assistant 18:11
associated 14:16
assuming 11:24

13:21
atlanta 12:15 14:9

14:10
attracted 30:14
attracts 14:16,17

14:17 26:13
audit 1:13
australian 11:12
authority 7:24
authorization

10:23
authorize 11:10

11:17,22
authorizing 10:20
avenue 5:1
average 5:13 7:20
aware 12:3
awareness 27:18
aztec 3:8

b

b 21:1 25:11
back 5:9 8:1 18:25

23:22 25:2,7
background 25:4

[& - background] Page 1

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



bag 28:8
balestra 12:21

15:18
bar 21:19
based 12:15,20

14:3,9 15:19 22:8
36:23

basis 11:19
beautiful 3:9,9
beautifully 6:19

7:5
beginning 27:21
behaviors 13:16
believe 5:16 11:4
benefactor 28:16

28:17
best 20:19
better 15:24 25:24

29:24
beverage 20:21

24:24 27:14 29:25
31:25

big 19:8,18 21:16
25:20 36:2

biggest 13:9 31:18
31:21 35:11 36:1

bit 7:23 8:9 11:14
12:8 21:11 25:18
29:23 30:13,17
31:1

block 9:19 20:14
20:15,15 25:20,23
31:3

blocks 17:14 25:18
31:2

board 2:2 3:25
6:25 7:17 10:14
11:8,21 12:2,3,5
38:15 39:4

bodies 35:6

bones 29:12
booth 28:7
boulevard 22:14

22:19
boutique 24:22

30:17
boutiques 25:22
box 23:7
boxes 31:9
brand 14:15 26:5

26:7
breakout 6:10
brief 10:25 13:20
briefly 11:7 13:2
bring 13:2 18:25

19:21 20:20 22:6
24:21 26:11

bringing 19:12
21:9 27:11,13

brings 23:8 24:4
35:6

broaden 30:13
brought 18:7
build 16:4 33:1
building 6:18,20

9:13,18 16:3
20:18 21:1,16,16
23:7,23 25:2,3,6
27:23 34:2,23

buildings 14:7
16:5 27:20,24

bump 23:1
burger 30:9
burned 26:6
business 38:13
buy 29:2
buying 13:16 29:4

c

c 21:1 40:1,1
call 4:6 10:11 16:3

21:3 26:22

called 28:14
cameras 22:7
camper 3:22
cancer 28:18
care 6:18
carlton 18:7
cars 18:25 22:25
cash 13:12
cast 17:21
catch 32:7 34:16
cause 29:1
cavanaugh 2:7,10

2:12,16,21,25 3:6
3:17,21 4:3 7:13
8:16,19,22 9:3,12
32:22,25 33:4,9,15
33:23 34:18 35:8

cecile 2:4,5,7,8,11
2:14,20 3:3,20
4:12,13 8:10,17,21
9:6 15:7,12,14
16:1 29:9 30:23
32:11 34:19 35:7
38:6,8,22,23

celebrating 17:9
celebration 25:10
center 20:20 21:23

26:2,12 34:7
centers 17:11
central 20:16

22:24 23:21,22
ceremony 25:9
certain 28:21
certainly 9:6,7,9

13:17 29:9,10,11
certify 40:3
chair 3:1,4,14 4:8

4:17,19 9:24 10:7
10:18 35:9 37:11
38:2,9,23

chairing 4:5
chairman 10:13

10:13
challenges 34:25
chang's 20:18

25:14
change 10:20
changed 13:14,15
charge 22:11
cheesecake 30:9
chocolate 18:20

24:9
chris 12:21 14:19

15:6,16,18
cincinnati 14:3
circular 17:14
city 3:9 9:8 15:19

32:7,13 34:1,2,4
city's 9:14
claire 4:24
class 29:24
classification

29:25
clear 25:5
close 13:4 33:18
closer 20:24
closing 18:24

32:17
clothes 28:15
coast 3:9
code 36:17
coffee 17:16 34:15
collect 16:14
collectively 21:22
coloring 26:25
come 8:1 19:12

22:13 24:13,16,17
24:18 27:7,8,8
28:9 34:10

comedy 28:1,3

[bag - comedy] Page 2

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



comes 28:12
comfort 24:3
coming 26:4 33:18

34:13
commercial 14:6

15:21
committee 1:13
common 16:23

17:12 27:15
community 13:5,7

14:14 15:25 16:4
16:4 17:15 18:2
19:16 21:9,14
24:13 28:12 29:2
31:14 34:9 36:2

company 11:12
36:15

competitive 24:24
29:14

component 30:16
concierge 23:7,8

23:10 25:3,6 28:7
concluded 39:10
cones 18:21 24:10
confusion 39:7
congratulations

10:10 38:18 39:2
connection 32:9

36:4
connectivity 22:5
connects 23:4

36:25
consideration 4:20
considered 5:25
considering 12:4
constituents 13:7
constructed 13:18
construction 5:22

34:20
container 25:21

continue 21:12
25:11

contract 22:4
contrived 23:20
convene 20:2
cooperative 6:22
coordination

11:21
coordinator 18:11

18:12
copartners 12:19
corner 5:1 6:15,16
corners 20:18 34:3
corporate 31:20
corporation 12:4
correct 5:21
correctly 16:9
corridors 22:10

37:10
cost 37:3
costing 36:4
costs 37:5
council 34:4
counsel 5:4
country 40:12
county 7:12 20:22
couple 3:11 15:13
coupons 28:8
course 17:21

29:11
covered 23:16
covid 3:13
cream 24:8,9
create 5:19 7:7

24:1
creates 26:12,13

34:12
crew 8:1 10:10
critical 6:15,16
cube 25:5

curate 19:3
curb 23:2
curbs 23:3
curious 3:5 37:15
current 11:11
currently 8:11

14:8 34:24
curti 2:22,23 3:25

4:2 11:4,6 38:14
38:16 39:6,9

cusco 3:7
custodial 17:25

d

daily 25:19 27:2,3
30:16

dallas 14:10
damaged 16:25
date 6:3 20:25

40:16
day 3:15,18 17:6,8

19:19,20 20:8
24:14 33:16 34:12

days 3:23 16:11
20:3 26:1

debt 11:24 12:1
deck 36:5,7,9
decks 22:10 35:17

35:24 37:4,6
defer 35:22
define 19:1
definitely 37:25
definition 24:1
delayed 3:12
density 35:5
department 21:19
depending 30:21
design 6:18 7:1 9:7
designation 6:21
designed 6:19
destination 17:1

31:25

detailed 6:10
determined 6:4
develop 14:9
developed 14:4,12
developer 15:20
development 1:12

4:24 11:13,21
33:13

developments
9:21

diana 5:4
dibs 37:19
dick's 30:15
differ 19:16
difference 20:14
different 16:20

29:24
differently 15:8

18:23
dining 19:3
dinner 32:8 33:21
disney 17:20 28:19
district 6:24 7:2
division 14:15
djonbalai 4:14,15

10:1,3 37:12,16
38:21

doctor 24:17 30:4
doctor's 22:15
dog 17:16 34:14

34:15
doing 2:10 23:9,12

29:5 36:14
downtown 6:17

7:6 9:21
downward 26:2
draws 22:18,18
drive 22:14 26:12
drives 32:10
driving 27:18

[comes - driving] Page 3

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



drop 22:3 37:7
dropping 22:11

33:19
due 3:12
duplicative 7:23
dwell 17:5 21:3

25:20,22 31:7
dwelling 24:14
dying 26:6

e

e 34:16 40:1
easiest 16:6,6
eat 17:7 21:5 30:6
economic 11:21
economically 9:22
either 7:24 31:10
elevated 30:3
eliminated 37:9
embrace 14:14
emotional 32:9
energizing 21:12
energy 16:24
engage 27:12
engineer 18:10
engineering 18:13
enhance 14:15

23:24 25:24
enhanced 26:8
enjoy 17:8 20:23

21:4 33:20,21,21
entire 20:19 31:2
entirely 9:15,15
entitled 34:24
entity 11:18
entrée 7:7
envision 6:13
equipment 22:5
especially 20:2

25:13
espiritu 4:16

essential 21:17
35:19

estate 14:22
evaluation 35:2
evening 21:8
event 18:11 19:18

21:5,14 25:8,9
events 19:15 21:9

21:13 23:9,11,12
23:14 26:11 27:5
27:15 31:13 33:22

evident 31:15,16
exact 34:5
exactly 11:1
exceptionally

28:24
excited 13:4,6
exclusive 24:21

29:4
excused 4:7,12
exemption 5:24
exercise 33:5,8
existing 11:24
expect 15:10
expensive 9:20
experience 17:22

18:22 19:4 24:23
29:6 30:3 36:19

experiences 19:10
20:14

explore 7:19
external 17:24

f

f 20:19 40:1
facility 11:10
facing 21:20
family 14:4 17:8

21:14
far 13:9 20:4

31:18

fashion 28:14
favorite 28:12
fee 35:18
feel 22:16 26:1,4,7
feeling 7:21
feels 23:19
feet 6:13 14:5
figure 33:11
fill 3:2 16:7
final 3:24
finally 3:13
financing 7:11
first 4:21 16:5

28:2 35:11
fitness 24:20,20,22

30:18
fits 9:13
five 16:13 18:17
fix 16:6
fixable 18:4
flattens 23:1
floor 21:17
florida 14:10

28:19
flow 13:12 37:1
focus 13:12,13

16:3,5 18:14 19:7
27:17,18,19

focused 16:23
17:15 20:11 21:13
31:6,6

folks 20:11
following 12:5
food 2:18 20:21

24:23 27:14 29:25
31:24

foods 20:12 21:7
24:18 25:21 36:11
36:21,22

foot 31:8

footage 31:14
foregoing 40:4
former 25:14
forward 7:10

11:19 12:10 15:4
15:13 32:18

found 37:4
fountain 21:10,10
fountains 26:25
four 3:15,18,23

21:15
fourth 19:17
friday 17:6 18:21
fridays 19:14
friends 17:8
front 25:5
full 7:2 13:21

34:20
fully 15:24
fun 24:5
functionally 17:13
funny 26:19
further 7:19
future 26:8 32:21

g

game 17:17
garnered 7:2
gates 22:3,11

36:24 37:7
geared 8:3,20
gender 26:24
general 18:10
generational

13:15
gentlemen 38:24
georgia 34:3
getting 3:12 15:5

16:24 20:24 29:13
girl 26:21
give 14:19 24:2,15

[drop - give] Page 4

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



given 22:4 33:4
35:1,17

glass 28:8 30:11
gm 18:11,11
go 2:15 5:17 8:16

11:7,19 13:22
16:19 17:2,3,4,5,7
18:9 20:14,23
23:2 25:22 28:23
30:2,4 32:2,6,7
33:17,20 34:11,16
36:7,10,19,21,22
36:24

goal 9:14
goes 16:10 17:25

31:11
going 2:15 4:2,3

6:22 8:13 9:17,18
12:10,16 13:19,20
17:3 20:20,24
22:2,15 24:16,17
24:18 26:1,23
27:6 30:5,10 32:1
32:2 33:2,5 35:19
37:17 39:3,4

good 2:8,8,18,19
5:5 9:9 10:16 20:6
30:13 32:12,14

goods 21:2 25:17
31:5,6

gotten 13:16
grab 21:5 30:2,6

37:20
grabbing 21:7
great 2:11,17,20

3:23 6:18 9:11
24:1,23 32:4,5
37:16,23

groceries 21:8
24:19

grocery 17:4
ground 12:24

21:17
group 13:25 14:9

39:6
grow 25:16
guys 26:20

h

haas 7:1
hall 34:2
hands 19:15 32:16
happen 12:14

37:19
happened 3:13

37:13
happy 7:9
head 32:16
healthy 19:3
hear 11:15
heard 35:12
heart 20:10,12,13

21:25 24:3
hello 2:7
help 26:22
henry 4:14,15

10:1 37:12,16
38:21,23

hey 14:21 26:22
27:7

hfa 6:1
hi 2:4,5,8,8
high 9:15
higher 8:2,6
hike 3:15,18
hiking 3:22
hill 10:21,21,22

11:10 12:18,25
13:24 15:23 17:1
18:5 20:5 22:14
27:3 32:2,7 33:2
33:17,19 35:11

38:19
historic 6:24
hit 29:16
hold 31:12
holidays 26:18
home 20:24 21:6

33:17,18 34:10,11
36:11

honestly 22:4
honey 30:4
hospitality 18:1,6

18:17
hot 18:19 24:9
hour 34:13 36:20
hourly 36:19
hours 28:6,6
house 30:9
houses 14:10
housing 4:25 7:23

7:24 8:4 9:18 14:6
husband 30:11
hyde 40:3

i

ice 18:18 24:8,8
ida 6:3 11:16
idea 30:14 37:23
ideas 22:23
idec 39:5
identified 35:24
importance 34:5
important 15:22

30:23 32:12 34:8
34:9 35:4

incentives 9:5
income 5:13 7:20
incurring 11:25
indicated 5:11
indicator 31:18,21
indiscernible 5:23

14:3,4,20 15:2
19:7,11,23 20:7,8

20:9 21:3,8 24:25
25:15 29:22 30:19
31:7,13,19 38:7

inducement 4:23
industrial 1:12
information 5:11
injured 5:7
insane 31:3
insecure 28:21
inside 27:23
instance 6:8
institute 18:7
institutional 13:12
integrated 9:22
integration 17:19
intended 6:20
intentionally 31:3

31:5
interact 18:1
interesting 29:10

29:11
internal 17:24
intersection 22:16
inventory 37:22
invested 15:24
investment 13:5

15:10 27:25
ironically 34:1
issue 36:3
issues 31:20 35:23
it'll 23:17,23 36:18
italian 32:5
item 4:21,22 10:8

10:9,19 38:12

j

jaime 2:1,4,5,21
2:23 3:24 4:4,9,11
4:14,16,21 5:8,21
6:10 8:13 9:1 10:3
10:6,8,15,19 11:7
38:3,4,8,11,17

[given - jaime] Page 5

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



39:2,8
january 22:3
jersey 12:23
jim 2:7,9,10,11,12

2:16,21,25 3:6,17
3:21 4:1,3 7:13
8:10,16,19,22 9:3
9:12 32:22,25
33:4,9,23 34:18
35:8

jobs 5:21,22
joe 5:3,5,8,9 8:1,8

10:10,12,15,16,18
joined 3:25 12:19
joining 2:2
joint 11:12,18
july 19:17
jump 10:10
jumped 11:4

15:12

k

keep 3:12 22:9
31:5

keeping 37:10
kevin 12:22
kid 17:3 23:12

30:5
kid's 27:9
kids 28:18,19,20
kind 13:2 14:2

16:15,22 17:10
21:2 22:21 24:3
26:19 27:19 28:21
30:23 36:13

kischak 3:1,4,14
4:7,8,19 9:24 10:7
10:18 35:9 37:11
38:2,9,23

knocks 35:11
know 2:19 3:7 4:1

8:4 9:4,13,15,19

9:21 13:12 15:9
16:12,14,15 18:17
18:23,24 19:25
21:1 23:20 25:7
25:20 26:19,24
28:20 29:19 30:15
30:19 31:4 32:12
32:18 33:20,21
35:10,18 37:3,8,13
38:14

kolev 5:4

l

l.a. 24:20
labor 19:20
lack 16:21,21 22:5

36:4
ladies 28:5 38:25
landmarks 6:25
large 13:4,8 14:11

15:3,25 29:19
31:9

leads 6:21
lease 25:15
leasing 25:12
leave 20:23
leaving 34:11
led 23:23
ledanski 40:3
left 22:16 36:9
legal 38:15,16,17

40:11
lego 21:10 27:6

36:10
legoland 17:3 30:6

36:20
level 9:4 18:22

29:16
levels 7:20,22 8:6

8:11
license 22:7 36:17

life 15:21
lift 36:12
lighting 16:21

19:24 20:1
lights 22:17 23:17

24:4
lima 3:7,8
limited 35:3
line 11:4 28:7
literally 9:18
little 7:23 8:6,8

11:14 12:8 21:11
25:18 29:23 30:17
31:1 34:7

live 9:10 19:14
25:3 27:15

lives 27:2,4 30:16
living 19:3
llc 4:24 10:21,22
located 34:22
long 22:21
look 17:10 25:3

32:18 37:21,25
looked 2:11,14
looking 9:13 13:23

15:4 23:22 25:1,4
25:7

looks 9:11 20:4,5
29:9,10

lord 21:15 23:22
25:2 31:4

lot 14:6 16:9 17:14
18:16 19:5 21:18
31:11,13,24,25
33:12 35:13,13,22
35:23

loud 18:20
loved 2:16,17
luck 10:17 32:14
lululemons 27:12

30:19

m

machu 3:7
mail 34:16
main 5:1 6:17
maintenance

35:23 37:5
makers 17:22
making 15:10,24
malls 26:6
manage 33:25
management

11:18 12:24 18:13
20:11

manager 15:2
18:10

managing 12:13
manner 35:21
market 9:15,20

21:20,21 22:19,24
26:16

marketing 16:11
18:10,11 19:10
26:17

marketplace
29:14

marlyn 4:9,10
10:2,5,5,6,7

maxx 24:17 30:15
mayor 4:6 7:14,17

8:8
mcgill 2:1,5,23

3:24 4:4,9,11,14
4:16,21 5:8 8:13
9:1 10:3,6,8,15,19
38:4,8,11,17 39:2
39:8

mean 9:17
meaning 17:14
media 16:10 18:12

26:16 34:17

[jaime - media] Page 6

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



median 5:13 7:20
meeting 4:23 5:17

7:18 12:5,5 34:4
39:5

melissa 4:11
member 2:2 3:25
members 7:17

10:13 17:21 23:10
39:4

memorable 19:9
menorah 20:1
mentioned 6:5

14:2
merchandise 29:8

32:10
merchandising

17:18 31:12
methodology

29:15
michael 11:4,6

38:14,16 39:6,9
middle 29:22
midnight 17:18
midwest 14:24
might've 8:23
mike 4:6
million 12:1 14:5
mind 3:22
mineola 40:14
minutes 13:1
mismanagement

13:10
mix 8:2,14 24:16

33:25
mixed 14:11 15:20

17:11
models 28:20,22
moment 2:3
monday 28:2
money 11:23

36:11

month 5:17 28:2
mortgage 5:24

11:22
mortgages 6:6
motion 9:25 10:1,4

38:5,8,10,20,21
move 7:10 30:25

38:6
moved 33:14 38:6
movie 32:7
movies 21:11
moving 10:9
multifamily 14:6
music 16:20 18:21

19:14 22:17 24:5
25:4

n

n 40:1
nacerino 4:11
nails 24:19
name 12:13 17:25
near 20:12
necessarily 25:20
necessity 17:2

24:16
need 20:7 25:19,25

26:7 30:3 31:10
32:3,19 33:18
35:8 37:6 38:4,5
38:20 39:6

needed 5:12 32:2
needs 21:17,24
neighborhood

9:23
neighborhoods

9:14
never 16:17
new 8:12 11:17,23

11:25 12:19,23
14:22 15:19 38:18

nice 2:18 7:7 9:12
17:6 30:10

night 20:25 28:5
28:14

noon 28:14
north 11:2 12:14

12:15,22 14:2
16:2 25:17 31:4,4

northeast 14:23
notice 16:16,17,18
number 20:17

21:15 22:1
numbers 5:12
nuveen 11:2,7,12

11:18 12:7,20
14:20,22 15:1

ny 6:23 40:14

o

o 40:1
office 12:23 14:7

14:23 22:15
officer 5:6
offset 37:6
oftentimes 26:21
oh 2:12 3:17,20

22:20 32:1
ohio 14:10
okay 2:25 3:24 4:4

4:17,19 8:16 9:24
15:14 33:9 37:11
38:4,12 39:9

old 15:19 25:14
40:12

olympic 25:8
onsite 18:9
open 18:25 22:10

27:1
opened 35:12
opening 25:9
operate 29:7 35:20

operating 12:17
operational 18:16
operations 12:17

22:1
operator 15:20
opinion 35:14
opposite 9:16
option 20:21
organization

28:18
organizing 21:13
oriented 6:14
originally 8:7,24
outside 29:3
owing 12:9
owned 15:1 16:13

34:6
owner 10:21,22

13:11 15:3,20
owners 11:11

38:19
ownership 10:20

18:14

p

p.f. 20:18 25:14
pads 34:23
paid 35:18 36:6
parallel 23:25
parents 26:22
park 34:15
parked 23:25 36:9
parking 17:13,25

18:13 22:1,10
35:12,19,24 36:3
36:15

part 12:2 13:5
18:14 25:11,13
26:8 27:2,3 29:5
36:2

participation
27:17

[median - participation] Page 7

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



particular 13:14
28:3,4 35:25

partner 12:14,17
partners 11:13
partnership 32:20
party 30:5
passed 10:8 38:12
patios 23:24
patrick's 19:19
patterns 13:16
paused 22:6
pay 36:12,18
paying 35:12

36:23
peachtree 34:2,3
pedestrian 24:1
people 2:18 9:10

14:18 16:25 17:5
19:24,25 22:17
24:2 26:11 27:1
28:6,9 29:4 32:1,9
33:17,18 34:10
35:12,13

people's 30:16
percent 8:23,24,25
perception 22:22
permanent 5:23
perry 11:3 12:11

12:13 14:1 15:12
15:15 16:1 29:18
32:15,24 33:3,7,10
33:24 34:22 35:15
37:14,18,24 38:1
39:1

person 18:10 34:4
peru 3:6,6,10
pete 4:5 38:11,20
peter 3:1,4,14 4:7

4:8,19 9:24 10:7
10:18 35:9 37:11
38:2,9,23

phone 22:8
picchu 3:8
picture 36:17
piece 21:24 35:5
pilates 24:22

27:11
pilot 6:2,4,5,8
pizza 30:2
place 9:19 17:5

19:2,2,21 23:11
places 19:19,20
plan 7:3 12:9 20:6

26:16,17
planned 3:11
plate 22:7 36:18
play 31:1
playfulness 21:12
playoff 17:17
plaza 20:12,16

21:6,10,22 22:18
22:24 23:2,21,22
27:8,9 31:4

plazas 30:22
plus 9:9
point 2:21 12:6

17:22
pole 23:19
polston 12:22
portion 11:23 33:1
potential 34:20
prayer 5:6
premium 37:3
presentation 11:1

11:15
presenting 11:2
previous 13:10,11
previously 24:20
price 14:13
prime 20:17
pro 6:6

probably 15:22
17:12 29:22

proceeding 39:10
proceedings 40:5
process 22:9
professionally

28:24
program 7:25
programing 18:18

30:22
project 4:25 5:3,4

5:15,16,19,20 6:7
6:23 7:3,5,16 9:11
10:21,25 11:19
12:9,10 15:5

projects 15:21
promote 19:3

23:14
properties 12:14

12:16,23 14:2
19:22 28:13 29:18
33:24

property 10:22
11:25 12:24 14:16
18:15 19:17 20:10
20:13,13 21:24
22:6 24:4 26:18
28:3,5 34:11,20
36:24 37:1

proposal 8:12
13:24

proposals 26:17
propose 26:23
proposed 6:4 7:21

7:22 8:7 11:9
protected 26:7
provide 28:15
provided 6:10
provides 9:22
providing 24:13

psychographics
13:15

public 16:23 19:1
23:15 30:9

pull 36:5,6,15,20
purchase 14:12
put 8:13 18:5 19:6

23:10 30:21 31:7
36:11

q

qic 11:11 16:13
22:2 37:7

qr 36:16
qualifies 9:5
qualify 9:10
question 16:2

32:22
questions 7:10
quick 13:19,20

14:1,20 15:16
30:1

quickly 5:17 15:18
quite 30:1
quorum 4:18

r

r 40:1
raised 22:25
raises 28:25
rate 9:20
real 14:1,22
really 9:11,21

13:19,20 14:14,15
15:16,18 16:4,22
16:25 19:6,20
20:11 21:13,17,22
23:3,24 24:12
28:12 30:14,16
32:8 37:15

realm 16:24 19:1

[particular - realm] Page 8

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



realms 24:2
reason 8:7
recall 4:22 7:17
record 40:5
recording 11:22
refer 17:21
reflected 35:22
region 14:24,24
regional 25:9
relates 5:13
relevant 17:14,18
remain 21:2
rent 16:14
rental 34:6,6
replaced 9:2
represent 11:5
representatives

5:2 10:24 12:7
requesting 6:2
required 6:7
resident 15:23
residential 15:21

33:1
residents 20:21
resolution 4:24

10:20 11:8,9,16,20
12:2,4

resolutions 4:20
resort 18:17
responsible 12:16

12:24
responsive 26:15

26:16 31:22
rest 3:4
restaurant 27:18

32:5,5 36:16
restaurants 14:17

24:24 27:14
restrooms 23:15
resume 22:2

retail 6:13 13:14
14:23 15:3,22
18:19 19:4 20:17
26:2 29:12

retailer 6:14 27:17
retailers 14:17

24:6 28:15 31:21
34:8

return 32:3
reveals 26:24
revise 5:10
rework 8:8
rich 19:4
richard 7:1
ride 3:23
ridge 10:21,21,22

11:10 12:18,25
13:24 15:23 17:1
18:5 20:5 22:14
27:3 32:2,7 33:2
33:17,19 35:11
38:19

right 4:4 8:17 9:6
15:15 16:17,18
20:23 24:7,16
25:13 29:13,15,21
29:23 30:1,24,24
31:7 32:25 33:3
33:10,15,23 34:2
38:2,24 39:5

rinks 18:18
ritz 18:7
riverdale 5:1 6:17
road 40:12
roberto 2:24 4:16
roll 4:6 39:5
rollins 11:3 12:20

14:21,22 37:21,25
roof 6:21
rough 25:1

round 18:18
ruins 3:8
run 14:23 17:17

23:11
runs 6:6
runway 28:23

s

sacred 19:18
saint 19:19
sales 26:13 31:15

31:17
salons 24:20
satisfy 30:10
saturday 17:6
saw 3:8
sawyer 9:19
saying 27:7
scan 36:16
science 15:21
screen 8:14 13:21

23:23 25:7,10
seamless 22:9
seasonal 24:7
second 10:2,4,5,9

21:21 23:6 28:4
38:12,22

section 7:25
security 17:24
see 6:19 8:18,19

9:9 13:21,23 20:6
20:17 22:24 23:6
23:21 28:1 31:18
31:22 35:16 37:16

segment 29:20,20
sell 24:8,9,10,10

24:11 28:16
seller 13:11
sends 28:18
sense 19:2
serda 6:23

serve 30:1
service 6:13 19:6

24:19
services 19:4

25:19
serving 18:19
setting 23:19
share 6:11 13:19

13:20
shop 15:23 17:4

34:15
shorter 13:16
shorts 23:12
show 19:24,25

20:1 28:4,14
shrinks 22:20
side 30:18 36:8
sights 2:19
signature 19:15

27:5 40:8
significant 37:5
silver 6:21
simple 29:13
simply 11:17
singer 2:4,8,11,14

2:20 3:3,20 4:12
4:13 8:10,17,21
9:6 15:7,14 29:9
32:11 34:19 35:7
38:6,22

sir 32:24
site 5:22,23 6:14

6:15 7:3 20:6
33:12 36:4 37:8

sites 33:14 34:21
sits 25:6
sitting 34:1,23
situation 7:15 8:5
skating 18:18
skeletons 33:13

[realms - skeletons] Page 9

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



slated 4:25
slice 30:2
slides 15:13
slightly 8:1
slows 23:4 24:3
small 16:16 24:6

31:8
smaller 31:6
smores 24:11
snow 18:21 24:10
social 16:10 18:12

26:16 34:17
socialization 24:25
socialize 20:2
socioeconomic

29:16
soft 21:2 25:17

31:5,6
solutions 40:11
somewhat 35:2
son 26:23
sonya 40:3
soon 38:18
sorry 5:20 34:3
sort 21:14 22:13

25:1 30:20 35:20
37:3

sound 23:18
sounds 32:11
south 25:18
space 14:6 16:5

20:19 23:4 24:12
25:14 27:20,22,23

spano 4:6
speak 15:7
speaker 23:19
special 26:24
specific 29:20
specifically 8:5

12:25 18:5 20:6
34:6

speed 13:3
spend 24:14,14
sports 21:19 25:9
spot 33:15
spread 35:5
square 6:13 14:5

31:8,14
st 4:24
staff 16:8 18:9
stage 23:16
stand 9:8
standing 29:3
standpoint 25:15
star 18:17
start 4:5 14:1 19:8

19:9,12 27:24,25
started 13:6 15:5

36:2
starting 22:11
state 5:25 7:11 9:5

22:4
stay 39:4
step 23:3
stop 32:3 36:10
stopping 21:7
store 21:19 25:21

27:8,12 32:3
stores 26:10,14,15

33:17
stories 26:10
story 19:2 26:8,13

27:24 29:8
strategy 14:8

25:13
street 6:17 18:22

21:21,22 22:19,24
23:6 35:6

streets 16:15
18:24

stroll 21:3

strong 31:16
structure 35:17
stuff 16:15 26:25

33:19 36:13
successful 32:13
suite 40:13
summer 18:20

24:9,11
support 7:15

31:14
sure 8:25 10:25

11:1 15:12 32:20
surrounds 18:19
sushi 32:4
sustainable 6:20

7:7
swag 28:7
sweep 16:14

t

t 40:1,1
table 22:25
tabled 4:22 7:18
taconic 12:21

14:20 15:17,19
take 3:16 30:5

36:17 38:11
taken 6:17 9:2
takeover 12:17
takes 22:19,21
talk 8:5 11:14 12:8

34:5
talking 16:2 32:21
targeting 13:3
tax 11:22
taylor 21:15 23:23

25:2 31:4
team 17:21,22

18:14 19:10
teams 16:11
technology 17:18

22:6

tell 3:1 8:11 15:7
29:8

tenant 26:3 27:17
30:20 31:8

tenants 13:13 21:4
23:13,14 25:21,25
26:4 27:6 30:24
30:25

terminus 6:6
terrific 2:14
tetris 31:1
thank 10:6,12,18

12:10,11 35:7
38:1,24 39:1,3

thanks 5:8 10:15
12:12 34:18

theater 25:23
thing 16:6,7 26:3

29:12 34:5
things 16:16 17:11

18:3,4,22 20:8
23:16 26:11 27:1
28:9,21 34:25

think 6:11 7:5,21
8:23 12:6 21:19
24:7 28:2 29:20
31:17 32:1 33:12
35:16,22 36:1,2
37:22 38:3

thought 31:11
33:5

three 21:9
throw 27:15
tickets 28:17 29:3

29:4
tight 34:7
tim 11:3 12:11,13

14:1 15:12,15
16:1 29:18 32:15
32:24 33:3,7,10,24
34:22 35:15 37:14

[slated - tim] Page 10

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



37:18,24 38:1
39:1

time 6:5,20 12:6
12:12 23:4 24:14
30:3 33:12,13

times 30:8
tj 24:17 30:15
today 4:5 7:14

32:1
todd 11:3 12:20

14:19,21,21 37:18
37:21,25

toddler 19:14
top 34:23
town 34:7
trademarked

17:23
traffic 22:10,25

23:5 26:12 27:18
31:9

train 3:16,17,19
3:23 32:6

trained 18:8
trainers 18:8
training 18:1,7
transaction 11:5

13:3
transcript 40:4
transfer 10:23

11:10,17
tree 19:24
trekking 2:15
trending 26:2
trip 2:9,17 3:2,11
trolley 37:12,13

37:19
true 40:4
trying 29:16
tuesdays 19:14
turn 11:6 12:7

14:13

tv 33:20
twice 36:23
two 19:8 31:8
type 8:4

u

u.s. 15:3
understand 19:16

29:12
unique 19:2
unit 4:25 8:14
units 5:20,21 6:9

8:24 33:1
updates 38:15,16

38:17
upkeep 35:18,20

37:4
ups 23:3
urban 14:24
use 6:22 14:11

15:20 17:11 23:13
25:10 27:5,20

uses 33:25

v

valet 23:8 37:2
vehicles 23:25
vehicular 19:1

24:2 37:9
venture 11:12,18
veritext 40:11
versus 18:20 37:10
vice 4:17
view 15:9 25:1

29:17
visibility 17:12
vote 35:8

w

wait 4:1 28:7
waiting 2:1,22,23

30:12

waiver 7:1
walk 22:21
walkable 18:21
walker 17:16
walking 16:20

34:14
want 4:1 6:11

14:19 15:16 17:4
26:4 27:2,19 28:9
29:5 30:4,10
34:13,16 35:10

wanted 5:10 7:19
8:8 12:3 36:10,20

wanting 33:19
wants 26:23
watching 33:20
waterfront 6:16

7:8
way 17:16,17 21:6

25:5 36:11
ways 13:10 16:25
we've 6:17 16:8

25:23,24 30:13
31:24 33:10,11,14
35:23 36:1

weak 31:17
weather 23:17
wednesday 19:13

28:4
wednesdays 19:13
week 13:4 32:17
weekend 19:20
welcome 10:16
wellness 19:13

27:13 28:11
went 3:7 20:4
westchester 7:12

15:23 20:22
white 23:6
wholly 15:1

wife 30:11
wine 28:8 30:11
winter 18:19

24:10,11
wired 23:18
wonderful 2:13
word 17:23
work 6:22 17:16

19:20 34:25
worked 6:25
workforce 4:25

8:4 9:17
working 13:6

23:13 32:18
works 7:5
world 13:14 15:4

28:19
would've 2:16,17
wrong 16:19,19

y

yard 30:8
yeah 2:12,18,18,18

2:19 3:10,21 8:19
9:3,3,4,12 14:21
15:18 35:9 37:21
37:24 38:1 39:8

year 6:5,8 15:19
18:18 19:18 24:8
28:25

years 3:12 6:6
13:18 14:5 16:12
16:13 18:8 35:21

yedc 39:3
yoga 23:13 27:11
yonkers 1:12

11:21 20:22
york 12:20 14:23

15:19

[tim - york] Page 11

Diamond Reporting
800.727.6396 A Veritext Company www.veritext.com



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Current Month Ending December 31, 2021

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 588,583.54$     193,985.07$     394,598.47$     -$   588,583.54$    

Management Fees 80,000.00   2,000.00   78,000.00   - 80,000.00  

Application Fees -   -   -   -   -   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership - 10,000.00  (10,000.00)   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 5,000.00   10,000.00  (5,000.00)   15,000.00   (10,000.00)   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 898.61   1,161.98  (263.37)   - 898.61  

Repayment from COY 840,436.00   - 840,436.00  - 840,436.00  

Miscellaneous (840,070.50)   86,209.80   (926,280.30)  200.00   (840,270.50) 

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 674,847.65   303,356.85   371,490.80   15,200.00   659,647.65   

Workforce Grant 227,607.15   219,090.48   8,516.67   86,261.00   141,346.15   

Total Revenues 902,454.80   522,447.33   380,007.47   101,461.00   800,993.80   

Expenses

Salaries 55,411.53   47,508.43   7,903.10   45,500.00   9,911.53   

Rental Expense 18,130.00   17,602.06   527.94   13,666.00   4,464.00   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 4,200.56   4,396.26   (195.70)   4,358.00   (157.44)   

Pension Costs (61,190.00)   100,008.77   (161,198.77)   - (61,190.00)  

Depreciation Expense 2,045.00   1,665.00   380.00   - 2,045.00  

Payroll Taxes-UI -   -   -   -   -  

Payroll / Tax Processing 353.14   639.23   (286.09)   528.00   (174.86)  

Employee Benefits 7,664.17   12,357.43   (4,693.26)   22,726.00   (15,061.83) 

Office Supplies (608.87)   1,641.13   (2,250.00)   700.00   (1,308.87)  

Office Furniture - (1,850.00) 1,850.00   5,000.00   (5,000.00)  

Equipment - (2,567.00)  2,567.00   -   -   

Postage & Delivery - - -   600.00   (600.00)   

Printing & Reproduction 470.98   941.96   (470.98)   800.00   (329.02)   

Appraisal Fees -   -   -   6,250.00   (6,250.00)   

Insurance -   -   -   3,046.00   (3,046.00)   

Legal Fees (56,504.81)   61,582.00   (118,086.81)   15,000.00   (71,504.81)   

Professional Fees 840,436.00   - 840,436.00 - 840,436.00 

Public Hearings -   -   -   400.00   (400.00)  

Audit & Accounting Fees 32,500.00   35,400.00   (2,900.00)   2,000.00   30,500.00  

Consulting Fees 5,000.00   5,000.00   - 8,000.00 (3,000.00)  

Advertising (825,666.00)   9,108.00   (834,774.00)   38,967.00   (864,633.00)   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense -   1,095.40   (1,095.40)   500.00   (500.00)   

Conferences & Travel -   -   -   556.00   (556.00)   

Business Meetings 1,210.95   - 1,210.95 450.00   760.95   

Dues & Subscriptions 201.60   - 201.60 625.00   (423.40)   

Miscellaneous -   0.30   (0.30)   100.00   (100.00)   

Communications 572.96   1,040.85   (467.89)   1,350.00   (777.04)   

Bad Debt Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 1,976.64   6,788.00   (4,811.36)   10,900.00   (8,923.36)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp 8,432.00   8,902.00   (470.00)   - 8,432.00  

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   9,426.94   (9,426.94)   8,333.00   (8,333.00)  

Pier Depreciation Expense 550,701.00   550,701.00   -   -   550,701.00 

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense - 152,500.00  (152,500.00)   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 585,336.85   1,023,887.76   (438,550.91)   190,355.00   394,981.85   

Workforce Salaries 73,903.93   100,942.01   (27,038.08)   62,034.00   11,869.93   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. 19,257.10   7,517.21   11,739.89   6,855.00   12,402.10   

Workforce Employee Benefits 25,688.06   62,439.40   (36,751.34)   17,372.00   8,316.06   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 118,849.09   170,898.62   (52,049.53)   86,261.00   32,588.09   

Total Expenses 704,185.94   1,194,786.38   (490,600.44)   276,616.00   427,569.94   

Net Income IDA 89,510.80   (720,530.91)   810,041.71   (175,155.00)   264,665.80   

Net Income WIB 108,758.06   48,191.86   60,566.20   - 108,758.06 

Net Income 198,268.86$     (672,339.05)$     870,607.91$       (175,155.00)$     373,423.86$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2021

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 2,363,119.32$     533,485.07$     1,829,634.25$     3,014,765.00$     (651,645.68)$      

Management Fees 159,000.00   73,500.00   85,500.00   120,000.00   39,000.00   

Application Fees 3,600.00   3,000.00   600.00   3,600.00     -   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   10,000.00   (10,000.00)   

Transfer Title/Ownership - 20,000.00  (20,000.00)   10,000.00   (10,000.00)   

Interest on Note purchased - - -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 120,000.00   120,000.00   - 180,000.00  (60,000.00)   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   - - -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 9,813.91   39,204.49   (29,390.58)   - 9,813.91  

Repayment from COY 840,436.00   - 840,436.00  - 840,436.00  

Miscellaneous 1,795.50   86,819.30   (85,023.80)  800.00   995.50   

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 3,497,764.73   876,008.86   2,621,755.87   3,339,165.00   158,599.73   

Workforce Grant 1,440,214.53   1,235,554.44   204,660.09   1,336,355.00   103,859.53   

Total Revenues 4,937,979.26   2,111,563.30   2,826,415.96   4,675,520.00   262,459.26   

Expenses

Salaries 435,484.97   355,218.97   80,266.00   409,500.00   25,984.97   

Rental Expense 137,850.41   166,773.25   (28,922.84)   141,706.00   (3,855.59)   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 32,647.29   26,852.94   5,794.35   39,447.00   (6,799.71)   

Pension Costs (28,484.00)   107,322.37   (135,806.37)   45,263.00   (73,747.00)   

Depreciation Expense 2,045.00   1,665.00   380.00   - 2,045.00  

Payroll Taxes-UI -   1,714.74   (1,714.74)   2,718.00   (2,718.00)  

Payroll / Tax Processing 5,629.51   5,093.43   536.08   4,851.00   778.51  

Employee Benefits 60,418.23   84,053.13   (23,634.90)   156,037.00   (95,618.77) 

Office Supplies 7,233.63   5,846.69   1,386.94   8,400.00   (1,166.37)  

Office Furniture - (1,850.00)  1,850.00   5,000.00   (5,000.00)  

Equipment -   359.64   (359.64)   6,100.00   (6,100.00)  

Postage & Delivery 2,154.20   1,505.53   648.67   2,590.00   (435.80)   

Printing & Reproduction 6,411.66   5,992.86   418.80   9,600.00   (3,188.34)   

Appraisal Fees - 18,100.00  (18,100.00)   75,000.00   (75,000.00)   

Insurance 5,212.64   3,332.81  1,879.83   5,994.00   (781.36)   

Legal Fees 299.43   86,277.00  (85,977.57)   180,000.00   (179,700.57)   

Professional Fees 840,436.00   - 840,436.00  - 840,436.00  

Public Hearings -   399.50   (399.50)   3,200.00   (3,200.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees 52,000.00   51,000.00   1,000.00   55,500.00   (3,500.00)   

Consulting Fees 60,000.00   83,150.00   (23,150.00)   146,000.00   (86,000.00)   

Advertising 171,805.31   424,318.00   (252,512.69)   564,500.00   (392,694.69)   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   150,698.00   (150,698.00)   

Auto Expense 5,036.20   6,287.00   (1,250.80)   7,400.00   (2,363.80)   

Conferences & Travel 100.00   70.00   30.00   12,980.00   (12,880.00)   

Business Meetings 4,284.80   280.00   4,004.80   6,000.00   (1,715.20)   

Dues & Subscriptions 1,626.60   4,154.70   (2,528.10)   11,400.00   (9,773.40)   

Miscellaneous 2,764.47   0.30   2,764.17   1,200.00   1,564.47   

Communications 15,715.64   21,173.75   (5,458.11)   18,000.00   (2,284.36)   

Bad Debt Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 10,171.88   17,284.94   (7,113.06)   130,800.00   (120,628.12)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp 21,047.50   22,232.17   (1,184.67)   71,518.00   (50,470.50)   

Pier Proj Other Expenses 2,762.50   150,345.55   (147,583.05)   100,000.00   (97,237.50)   

Pier Depreciation Expense 550,701.00   550,701.00   -   -   550,701.00   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense - 232,500.00  (232,500.00)   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 2,405,354.87   2,432,155.27   (26,800.40)   2,371,402.00   33,952.87   

Workforce Salaries 1,158,084.79   995,030.31   163,054.48   1,006,648.00   151,436.79   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. 104,103.00   83,865.84   20,237.16   113,664.00   (9,561.00)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 178,026.74   173,417.62   4,609.12   216,043.00   (38,016.26)   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 1,440,214.53   1,252,313.77   187,900.76   1,336,355.00   103,859.53   

Total Expenses 3,845,569.40   3,684,469.04   161,100.36   3,707,757.00   137,812.40   

Net Income IDA 1,092,409.86   (1,556,146.41)   2,648,556.27   967,763.00   124,646.86   

Net Income WIB - (16,759.33)  16,759.33   -   -   

Net Income 1,092,409.86$     (1,572,905.74)$     2,665,315.60$     967,763.00$     124,646.86$     

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2021

ASSETS

Current Assets

 Cash and equivalents $4,719,398.50

 Cash - Restricted - Pier Project 119,555.82

 Cash - Workforce Investment 67,082.38

Cash-Escrow 28,250.00

Pilot Payment Escrow Account 126,825.00

Accounts Receivable 15,000.00

 Accounts Receivable Pending Future Developer Chicken Island 670,000.00

    Offset In event of non-development of Chicken Island (670,000.00)

 Accounts Receivable - Pier 96,250.00

Allowance for Pier (96,250.00)

Accounts Receivable - Workforce 129,138.08

COVID Loan Receivable 243,208.37

Prepaid Expenses 9,229.17

 Restricted cash - Austin Ave 13,721.92

 Restricted cash - Kubasek/Post Projects 0.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage 2,629,000.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage Int 410,059.00

Allowance for Larkin Garage (3,039,059.00)

  Total Current Assets $5,471,409.24

 Equipment, net $2,363.32

 Pier Leasehold Improvements, net 3,028,860.00 3,031,223.32

     Total Assets 8,502,632.56   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 542,818.00   

  Total Assets & Deferred Outflows $9,045,450.56

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable/Accrued Liabilities 138,338.09   

 Workforce Acct Payable/Accr Liab 167,423.36

Pier Acct Payable/Accr Liab 18,935.00

 GASB 68 Pension Liability 2,189.00

Family leave payable 1,531.21

Escrow funds Payable 28,250.00

Escrow Deposits 126,825.00

Scholarship Payable 0.00

 Due to other entities 13,721.92

 Pier Sec 108 Note Payable 675,000.00

 Pier Sec NYPA Loan Payable 264,725.22

CBA Services 27,900.00

 Escrow Deposit - Kubasek/Post Projects 20.56

     Total Liabilities $1,464,859.36

Deferred Inflows of Resources 647,989.00   

  Total Liabilities & Deferred Outflows $2,112,848.36

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets $5,099,885.40

Contributed Capital 2,322,267.57  

Restricted 100,621.00   

Retained earnings 1,325,805.77   

 Pier Project 196,870.82

Unrestricted $310,040.21

  Total Net Position $6,932,602.20

  Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Net Position $9,045,450.56

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Current Month Ending January 31, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 5,000.00$     -$   5,000.00$    -$   5,000.00$   

Management Fees 36,990.00 45,000.00 (8,010.00)   - 36,990.00  

Application Fees 600.00   - 600.00 600.00   -   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 10,000.00   - 10,000.00 10,000.00   -   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 1,012.46   1,009.60   2.86   - 1,012.46 

Miscellaneous -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 53,602.46   46,009.60   7,592.86   10,600.00   43,002.46   

Workforce Grant 8,643.56   (3,277.71)   11,921.27   72,298.00   (63,654.44)   

Total Revenues 62,246.02   42,731.89   19,514.13   82,898.00   (20,651.98)   

Expenses

Salaries (1,385.68)   44,038.88   (45,424.56)   34,672.00   (36,057.68)   

Rental Expense -   -   -   13,233.00   (13,233.00)   

Payroll Taxes-FICA (110.86)   2,820.34   (2,931.20)   3,418.00   (3,528.86)   

Pension Costs 38,978.00   32,706.00   6,272.00   - 38,978.00  

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI 1,803.94   - 1,803.94 1,260.00   543.94   

Payroll / Tax Processing 455.00   427.89   27.11   452.00   3.00   

Employee Benefits 13,928.74   5,981.85   7,946.89   14,290.00   (361.26)   

Office Supplies 269.39   1,157.92   (888.53)   700.00   (430.61)   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   3,500.00   (3,500.00)   

Postage & Delivery 1,063.65   149.46   914.19   173.00   890.65   

Printing & Reproduction 556.80   35.70   521.10   800.00   (243.20)   

Appraisal Fees -   -   -   6,250.00   (6,250.00)   

Insurance 2,649.00   2,649.00   -   -   2,649.00   

Legal Fees -   -   -   -   -   

Public Hearings -   -   -   200.00   (200.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees 5,850.00   1,950.00   3,900.00   2,000.00   3,850.00   

Consulting Fees 28,150.00   5,000.00   23,150.00   33,000.00   (4,850.00)   

Advertising 13,310.00   9,190.25   4,119.75   35,167.00   (21,857.00)   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 775.40   - 775.40 795.00   (19.60)   

Conferences & Travel 180.00   - 180.00 2,850.00   (2,670.00)   

Business Meetings 503.00   - 503.00 450.00   53.00   

Dues & Subscriptions 2,201.60   - 2,201.60 425.00   1,776.60   

Miscellaneous 140.39   - 140.39  100.00   40.39   

Communications 3,574.41   454.64   3,119.77 1,909.00   1,665.41   

Bad Debt Expense 10,000.00   - 10,000.00 - 10,000.00  

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense -   6,788.30   (6,788.30)   10,503.00   (10,503.00)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp (8,432.00)   (8,902.00)   470.00   - (8,432.00) 

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   2,762.50   (2,762.50)   8,333.00   (8,333.00) 

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 114,460.78   107,210.73   7,250.05   174,480.00   (60,019.22)   

Workforce Salaries 40,730.82   42,346.20   (1,615.38)   42,948.00   (2,217.18)   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. (92,464.20)   5,922.35   (98,386.55)   11,115.00   (103,579.20)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 40,393.08   80,645.94   (40,252.86)   18,235.00   22,158.08   

Subtotal WIB Expenses (11,340.30)   128,914.49   (140,254.79)   72,298.00   (83,638.30)   

Total Expenses 103,120.48   236,125.22   (133,004.74)   246,778.00   (143,657.52)   

Net Income IDA (60,858.32)   (61,201.13)   342.81   (163,880.00)   103,021.68   

Net Income WIB 19,983.86   (132,192.20)   152,176.06   - 19,983.86  

Net Income (40,874.46)$     (193,393.33)$     152,518.87$       (163,880.00)$     123,005.54$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet

January 31, 2022

ASSETS

Current Assets

 Cash and equivalents $4,557,599.70

 Cash - Restricted - Pier Project 109,052.59

 Cash - Workforce Investment 157,707.08

Pilot Payment Escrow Account 126,825.00

 Accounts Receivable Pending Future Developer Chicken Island 670,000.00

    Offset In event of non-development of Chicken Island (670,000.00)

 Accounts Receivable - Pier 96,250.00

Allowance for Pier (96,250.00)

COVID Loan Receivable 214,008.35

Prepaid Expenses 9,229.17

 Restricted cash - Austin Ave 13,721.92

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage 2,629,000.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage Int 410,059.00

Allowance for Larkin Garage (3,039,059.00)

  Total Current Assets $5,188,143.81

 Equipment, net $2,363.32

 Pier Leasehold Improvements, net 3,028,860.00 3,031,223.32

     Total Assets 8,219,367.13   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 542,818.00   

  Total Assets & Deferred Outflows $8,762,185.13

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable/Accrued Liabilities 99,739.98   

 Workforce Acct Payable/Accr Liab 407.36

Pier Acct Payable/Accr Liab (0.23)

 GASB 68 Pension Liability 2,189.00

Family leave payable 939.88

Escrow Deposits 126,825.00

Scholarship Payable 0.00

 Due to other entities 13,721.92

 Pier Sec 108 Note Payable 675,000.00

 Pier Sec NYPA Loan Payable 264,725.22

CBA Services 38,900.00

 Escrow Deposit - Kubasek/Post Projects 20.56

     Total Liabilities $1,222,468.69

Deferred Inflows of Resources 647,989.00   

  Total Liabilities & Deferred Outflows $1,870,457.69

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets $3,715,777.93

Contributed Capital 2,322,267.57  

Restricted 100,621.00   

Retained earnings 2,418,215.81   

 Pier Project 205,302.82

Unrestricted $552,430.88

  Total Net Position $6,891,727.44

  Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Net Position $8,762,185.13

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Current Month Ending February 28, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 380,926.09$     2,500.00$    378,426.09$    -$   380,926.09$   

Management Fees 22,000.00   18,500.00   3,500.00   80,000.00   (58,000.00)   

Application Fees 600.00   - 600.00 - 600.00  

Refinancing Fee -   -   -  -   -  

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 25,000.00   10,000.00   15,000.00   10,000.00   15,000.00   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 884.16   716.25   167.91   - 884.16  

Miscellaneous 177.50   (10.00)   187.50   - 177.50  

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 429,587.75   31,706.25   397,881.50   90,000.00   339,587.75   

Workforce Grant 50,351.17   46,401.91   3,949.26   67,670.00   (17,318.83)   

Total Revenues 479,938.92   78,108.16   401,830.76   157,670.00   322,268.92   

Expenses

Salaries 29,742.86   25,888.88   3,853.98   34,672.00   (4,929.14)   

Rental Expense -   4,968.27   (4,968.27)   12,988.00   (12,988.00)   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 2,273.24   2,256.22   17.02   3,418.00   (1,144.76)   

Pension Costs (29,232.82)   - (29,232.82) 48,842.00   (78,074.82)   

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI 853.06   - 853.06 969.00   (115.94)   

Payroll / Tax Processing 350.40   330.24   20.16   352.00   (1.60)   

Employee Benefits 713.73   1,095.27   (381.54)   10,040.00   (9,326.27)   

Office Supplies 1,466.00   309.92   1,156.08   700.00   766.00   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   -   -   

Postage & Delivery 1,553.56   - 1,553.56 - 1,553.56 

Printing & Reproduction 1,118.24   470.98   647.26   800.00   318.24   

Appraisal Fees -   -   -   6,250.00   (6,250.00)   

Insurance -   -   -   -   -   

Legal Fees -   -   -   15,000.00   (15,000.00)   

Public Hearings -   -   -   200.00   (200.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees -   1,950.00   (1,950.00)   2,000.00   (2,000.00)   

Consulting Fees 5,000.00   10,375.00   (5,375.00)   8,000.00   (3,000.00)   

Advertising 87,426.96   4,500.00   82,926.96   35,167.00   52,259.96   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 350.00   350.00   -   400.00   (50.00)   

Conferences & Travel (180.00)   - (180.00) 350.00   (530.00)   

Business Meetings 436.50   - 436.50  550.00   (113.50)   

Dues & Subscriptions 201.60   425.00   (223.40) 925.00   (723.40)   

Miscellaneous -   -   100.00   (100.00)   

Communications 631.84   185.66   446.18  4,959.00   (4,327.16)   

Bad Debt Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 1,249.42   1,264.54   (15.12)   10,503.00   (9,253.58)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp 10,118.75   10,758.75   (640.00)   10,119.00   (0.25)   

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   -   -   8,333.00   (8,333.00)   

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 114,073.34   65,128.73   48,944.61   215,637.00   (101,563.66)   

Workforce Salaries 44,730.82   40,346.20   4,384.62   42,947.00   1,783.82   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. 4,106.83   4,307.85   (201.02)   6,488.00   (2,381.17)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 782.58   292.21   490.37   18,235.00   (17,452.42)   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 49,620.23   44,946.26   4,673.97   67,670.00   (18,049.77)   

Total Expenses 163,693.57   110,074.99   53,618.58   283,307.00   (119,613.43)   

Net Income IDA 315,514.41   (33,422.48)   348,936.89   (125,637.00)   441,151.41   

Net Income WIB 730.94   1,455.65   (724.71)   - 730.94  

Net Income 316,245.35$     (31,966.83)$     348,212.18$       (125,637.00)$     441,882.35$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Two Months Ending February 28, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 385,926.09$    2,500.00$    383,426.09$    -$   385,926.09$   

Management Fees 58,990.00   63,500.00   (4,510.00)   80,000.00   (21,010.00)   

Application Fees 1,200.00   - 1,200.00 600.00   600.00   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 35,000.00   10,000.00   25,000.00   20,000.00   15,000.00   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 1,896.62   1,725.85   170.77   - 1,896.62 

Miscellaneous 177.50   (10.00)   187.50   - 177.50  

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 483,190.21   77,715.85   405,474.36   100,600.00   382,590.21   

Workforce Grant 58,994.73   43,124.20   15,870.53   139,970.00   (80,975.27)   

Total Revenues 542,184.94   120,840.05   421,344.89   240,570.00   301,614.94   

Expenses

Salaries 28,357.18   69,927.76   (41,570.58)   69,344.00   (40,986.82)   

Rental Expense -   4,968.27   (4,968.27)   26,221.00   (26,221.00)   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 2,162.38   5,076.56   (2,914.18)   6,836.00   (4,673.62)   

Pension Costs 9,745.18   32,706.00   (22,960.82)   48,842.00   (39,096.82)   

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI 2,657.00   - 2,657.00 2,229.00   428.00   

Payroll / Tax Processing 805.40   758.13   47.27   804.00   1.40   

Employee Benefits 14,642.47   7,077.12   7,565.35   24,329.00   (9,686.53)   

Office Supplies 1,735.39   1,467.84   267.55   1,400.00   335.39   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   3,500.00   (3,500.00)   

Postage & Delivery 2,617.21   149.46   2,467.75   173.00   2,444.21   

Printing & Reproduction 1,675.04   506.68   1,168.36   1,600.00   75.04   

Appraisal Fees -   -   -   12,500.00   (12,500.00)   

Insurance 2,649.00   2,649.00   -   -   2,649.00   

Legal Fees -   -   -   30,000.00   (30,000.00)   

Public Hearings -   -   -   400.00   (400.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees 5,850.00   3,900.00   1,950.00   4,000.00   1,850.00   

Consulting Fees 33,150.00   15,375.00   17,775.00   41,000.00   (7,850.00)   

Advertising 100,736.96   13,690.25   87,046.71   70,334.00   30,402.96   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 1,125.40   350.00   775.40   1,195.00   (69.60)   

Conferences & Travel -   -   -   3,200.00   (3,200.00)   

Business Meetings 939.50   - 939.50 1,000.00   (60.50)   

Dues & Subscriptions 2,403.20   425.00   1,978.20   1,350.00   1,053.20   

Miscellaneous 140.69   - 140.69  200.00   (59.31)   

Communications 4,206.25   640.30   3,565.95 6,868.00   (2,661.75)   

Bad Debt Expense 10,000.00   - 10,000.00 - 10,000.00  

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 1,249.42   8,052.84   (6,803.42)   21,006.00   (19,756.58)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp 1,686.75   1,856.75   (170.00)   10,119.00   (8,432.25)   

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   2,762.50   (2,762.50)   16,667.00   (16,667.00)   

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 228,534.42   172,339.46   56,194.96   405,117.00   (176,582.58)   

Workforce Salaries 85,461.64   82,692.40   2,769.24   85,894.00   (432.36)   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. (88,357.37)   10,230.20   (98,587.57)   17,604.00   (105,961.37)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 41,175.66   80,938.15   (39,762.49)   36,472.00   4,703.66   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 38,279.93   173,860.75   (135,580.82)   139,970.00   (101,690.07)   

Total Expenses 266,814.35   346,200.21   (79,385.86)   545,087.00   (278,272.65)   

Net Income IDA 254,655.79   (94,623.61)   349,279.40   (304,517.00)   559,172.79   

Net Income WIB 20,714.80   (130,736.55)   151,451.35   - 20,714.80  

Net Income 275,370.59$     (225,360.16)$     500,730.75$       (304,517.00)$     579,887.59$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet

February 28, 2022

ASSETS

Current Assets

 Cash and equivalents $4,886,992.76

 Cash - Restricted - Pier Project 77,927.38

 Cash - Workforce Investment 159,257.00

Pilot Payment Escrow Account 126,825.00

 Accounts Receivable Pending Future Developer Chicken Island 670,000.00

    Offset In event of non-development of Chicken Island (670,000.00)

 Accounts Receivable - Pier 96,250.00

Allowance for Pier (96,250.00)

COVID Loan Receivable 186,958.32

Prepaid Expenses 9,229.17

 Restricted cash - Austin Ave 13,721.92

 Restricted cash - Kubasek/Post Projects 0.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage 2,629,000.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage Int 410,059.00

Allowance for Larkin Garage (3,039,059.00)

  Total Current Assets $5,460,911.55

 Equipment, net $2,363.32

 Pier Leasehold Improvements, net 3,028,860.00 3,031,223.32

     Total Assets 8,492,134.87   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 542,818.00   

  Total Assets & Deferred Outflows $9,034,952.87

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable/Accrued Liabilities 70,151.17   

 Workforce Acct Payable/Accr Liab 407.36

Pier Acct Payable/Accr Liab (0.23)

 GASB 68 Pension Liability 2,189.00

Family leave payable 1,317.94

Escrow funds Payable 0.00

Escrow Deposits 126,825.00

Scholarship Payable 0.00

 Due to other entities 13,721.92

 Pier Sec 108 Note Payable 675,000.00

 Pier Sec NYPA Loan Payable 244,968.18

CBA Services 44,400.00

 Escrow Deposit - Kubasek/Post Projects 20.56

     Total Liabilities $1,179,000.90

Deferred Inflows of Resources 647,989.00   

  Total Liabilities & Deferred Outflows $1,826,989.90

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets $4,019,670.88

Contributed Capital 2,322,267.57  

Restricted 100,621.00   

Retained earnings 2,418,215.81   

 Pier Project 174,177.61

Unrestricted $595,898.67

  Total Net Position $7,207,962.97

  Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Net Position $9,034,952.87

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Current Month Ending March 31, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees -$   2,500.00$   (2,500.00)$     -$   -$    

Management Fees 13,000.00   12,000.00   1,000.00   - 13,000.00  

Application Fees 1,200.00   1,200.00   -   600.00   600.00   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 15,000.00   10,000.00   5,000.00   10,000.00   5,000.00   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 1,029.24   697.18   332.06   - 1,029.24 

Miscellaneous 731.97   - 731.97 200.00   531.97   

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 30,961.21   26,397.18   4,564.03   10,800.00   20,161.21   

Workforce Grant 57,138.82   52,992.78   4,146.04   66,490.00   (9,351.18)   

Total Revenues 88,100.03   79,389.96   8,710.07   77,290.00   10,810.03   

Expenses

Salaries 28,538.48   25,888.88   2,649.60   34,672.00   (6,133.52)   

Rental Expense 45,083.35   36,260.24   8,823.11   12,510.00   32,573.35   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 2,413.44   2,227.12   186.32   3,418.00   (1,004.56)   

Pension Costs -   -   -   -   -   

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI 76.15   - 76.15 423.00   (346.85)   

Payroll / Tax Processing 344.92   991.06   (646.14)   352.00   (7.08)   

Employee Benefits 6,439.21   16,055.66   (9,616.45)   10,040.00   (3,600.79)   

Office Supplies -   794.16   (794.16)   700.00   (700.00)   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   -   -   

Postage & Delivery 298.92   1,155.27   (856.35)   100.00   198.92   

Printing & Reproduction 1,118.24   539.65   578.59   800.00   318.24   

Appraisal Fees -   -   -   6,250.00   (6,250.00)   

Insurance -   -   -   -   -   

Legal Fees - 53,291.74  (53,291.74)   15,000.00   (15,000.00)   

Public Hearings - - -   400.00   (400.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees 3,900.00   - 3,900.00  2,000.00   1,900.00   

Consulting Fees - 10,375.00 (10,375.00)  8,000.00   (8,000.00)   

Advertising 15,883.00   73,733.88 (57,850.88)  36,166.00   (20,283.00)   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 350.00   745.40   (395.40)   400.00   (50.00)   

Conferences & Travel -   -   -   350.00   (350.00)   

Business Meetings -   1,199.40   (1,199.40)   550.00   (550.00)   

Dues & Subscriptions 961.30   - 961.30 2,525.00   (1,563.70)   

Miscellaneous -   -   -  100.00   (100.00)   

Communications 867.33   2,858.42   (1,991.09)   1,459.00   (591.67)   

Bad Debt Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense -   292.50   (292.50)   10,503.00   (10,503.00)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   -   -   8,333.00   (8,333.00)   

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 106,274.34   226,408.38   (120,134.04)   155,051.00   (48,776.66)   

Workforce Salaries 40,730.82   40,346.20   384.62   42,947.00   (2,216.18)   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. 2,799.17   3,685.96   (886.79)   5,218.00   (2,418.83)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 5,889.30   17,600.39   (11,711.09)   18,325.00   (12,435.70)   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 49,419.29   61,632.55   (12,213.26)   66,490.00   (17,070.71)   

Total Expenses 155,693.63   288,040.93   (132,347.30)   221,541.00   (65,847.37)   

Net Income IDA (75,313.13)   (200,011.20)   124,698.07   (144,251.00)   68,937.87   

Net Income WIB 7,719.53   (8,639.77)   16,359.30   - 7,719.53  

Net Income (67,593.60)$     (208,650.97)$     141,057.37$       (144,251.00)$     76,657.40$   

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Three Months Ending March 31, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 385,926.09$    5,000.00$    380,926.09$    -$   385,926.09$   

Management Fees 71,990.00   75,500.00   (3,510.00)   80,000.00   (8,010.00)   

Application Fees 2,400.00   1,200.00   1,200.00   1,200.00   1,200.00   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 50,000.00   20,000.00   30,000.00   30,000.00   20,000.00   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 2,925.86   2,423.03   502.83   - 2,925.86 

Miscellaneous 909.47   (10.00)   919.47   200.00   709.47   

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 514,151.42   104,113.03   410,038.39   111,400.00   402,751.42   

Workforce Grant 116,133.55   96,116.98   20,016.57   206,458.00   (90,324.45)   

Total Revenues 630,284.97   200,230.01   430,054.96   317,858.00   312,426.97   

Expenses

Salaries 56,895.66   95,816.64   (38,920.98)   104,016.00   (47,120.34)   

Rental Expense 45,083.35   41,228.51   3,854.84   38,731.00   6,352.35   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 4,575.82   7,303.68   (2,727.86)   10,254.00   (5,678.18)   

Pension Costs 9,745.18   32,706.00   (22,960.82)   48,842.00   (39,096.82)   

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI 2,733.15   - 2,733.15 2,652.00   81.15   

Payroll / Tax Processing 1,150.32   1,749.19   (598.87)   1,156.00   (5.68)   

Employee Benefits 21,081.68   23,132.78   (2,051.10)   34,369.00   (13,287.32)   

Office Supplies 1,735.39   2,262.00   (526.61)   2,100.00   (364.61)   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   3,500.00   (3,500.00)   

Postage & Delivery 2,916.13   1,304.73   1,611.40   273.00   2,643.13   

Printing & Reproduction 2,793.28   1,046.33   1,746.95   2,400.00   393.28   

Appraisal Fees -   -   -   18,750.00   (18,750.00)   

Insurance 2,649.00   2,649.00   -   -   2,649.00   

Legal Fees - 53,291.74  (53,291.74)   45,000.00   (45,000.00)   

Public Hearings - - -   800.00   (800.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees 9,750.00   3,900.00   5,850.00   6,000.00   3,750.00   

Consulting Fees 33,150.00   25,750.00   7,400.00   49,000.00   (15,850.00)   

Advertising 116,619.96   87,424.13   29,195.83   106,500.00   10,119.96   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 1,475.40   1,095.40   380.00   1,595.00   (119.60)   

Conferences & Travel -   -   -   3,550.00   (3,550.00)   

Business Meetings 939.50   1,199.40   (259.90)   1,550.00   (610.50)   

Dues & Subscriptions 3,364.50   425.00   2,939.50   3,875.00   (510.50)   

Miscellaneous 140.69   - 140.69  300.00   (159.31)   

Communications 5,073.58   3,498.72   1,574.86 8,327.00   (3,253.42)   

Bad Debt Expense 10,000.00   - 10,000.00 - 10,000.00  

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 1,249.42   8,345.34   (7,095.92)   31,510.00   (30,260.58)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp 1,686.75   1,856.75   (170.00)   10,119.00   (8,432.25)   

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   2,762.50   (2,762.50)   25,000.00   (25,000.00)   

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 334,808.76   398,747.84   (63,939.08)   560,169.00   (225,360.24)   

Workforce Salaries 126,192.46   123,038.60   3,153.86   128,841.00   (2,648.54)   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. (85,558.20)   13,916.16   (99,474.36)   22,820.00   (108,378.20)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 47,064.96   98,538.54   (51,473.58)   54,797.00   (7,732.04)   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 87,699.22   235,493.30   (147,794.08)   206,458.00   (118,758.78)   

Total Expenses 422,507.98   634,241.14   (211,733.16)   766,627.00   (344,119.02)   

Net Income IDA 179,342.66   (294,634.81)   473,977.47   (448,769.00)   628,111.66   

Net Income WIB 28,434.33   (139,376.32)   167,810.65   - 28,434.33  

Net Income 207,776.99$     (434,011.13)$     641,788.12$       (448,769.00)$     656,545.99$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet

March 31, 2022

ASSETS

Current Assets

 Cash and equivalents $4,769,951.63

 Cash - Restricted - Pier Project 77,927.38

 Cash - Workforce Investment 172,898.81

Pilot Payment Escrow Account 126,860.82

 Accounts Receivable Pending Future Developer Chicken Island 670,000.00

    Offset In event of non-development of Chicken Island (670,000.00)

 Accounts Receivable - Pier 96,250.00

Allowance for Pier (96,250.00)

COVID Loan Receivable 172,375.00

Prepaid Expenses 9,229.17

 Restricted cash - Austin Ave 13,721.92

 Restricted cash - Kubasek/Post Projects 0.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage 2,629,000.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage Int 410,059.00

Allowance for Larkin Garage (3,039,059.00)

  Total Current Assets $5,342,964.73

 Equipment, net $2,363.32

 Pier Leasehold Improvements, net 3,028,860.00 3,031,223.32

     Total Assets 8,374,188.05   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 542,818.00   

  Total Assets & Deferred Outflows $8,917,006.05

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable/Accrued Liabilities 19,429.72   

 Workforce Acct Payable/Accr Liab 407.36

Pier Acct Payable/Accr Liab

 GASB 68 Pension Liability 2,189.00

Family leave payable 1,686.17

Escrow funds Payable 0.00

Escrow Deposits 126,825.00

Scholarship Payable 0.00

 Due to other entities 13,721.92

 Pier Sec 108 Note Payable 675,000.00

 Pier Sec NYPA Loan Payable 244,968.18

CBA Services 44,400.00

 Escrow Deposit - Kubasek/Post Projects 20.56

     Total Liabilities 1,128,647.91   

Deferred Inflows of Resources 647,989.00   

  Total Liabilities & Deferred Outflows $1,776,636.91

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets $3,901,724.29

Contributed Capital 2,322,267.57  

Restricted 100,621.00   

Retained earnings 2,418,215.81   

 Pier Project 174,177.38

Unrestricted $646,251.66

  Total Net Position $7,140,369.14

  Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Net Position $8,917,006.05

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Current Month Ending April 30, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 91,544.98$     -$   91,544.98$   -$   91,544.98$   

Management Fees 2,000.00   2,000.00   -   -   2,000.00   

Application Fees 600.00   600.00   -   -   600.00   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 15,000.00   - 15,000.00 10,000.00   5,000.00   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 946.59   624.16   322.43   - 946.59  

Miscellaneous -   -   -   -   -  

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 110,091.57   3,224.16   106,867.41   10,000.00   100,091.57   

Workforce Grant 44,555.87   61,189.55   (16,633.68)   69,122.00   (24,566.13)   

Total Revenues 154,647.44   64,413.71   90,233.73   79,122.00   75,525.44   

Expenses

Salaries 29,398.23   25,888.88   3,509.35   34,672.00   (5,273.77)   

Rental Expense 9,337.01   - 9,337.01 12,104.00   (2,766.99)   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 2,275.25   1,975.58   299.67  3,418.00   (1,142.75)   

Pension Costs -   -   -   -   -   

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI -   -   -   187.00   (187.00)   

Payroll / Tax Processing 355.88   643.90   (288.02)   352.00   3.88   

Employee Benefits 10,395.67   6,440.70   3,954.97   10,040.00   355.67   

Office Supplies 704.00   348.14   355.86   700.00   4.00   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   -   -   

Postage & Delivery 149.46   149.46   -   673.00   (523.54)   

Printing & Reproduction 612.42   519.61   92.81   800.00   (187.58)   

Appraisal Fees 12,500.00   - 12,500.00 6,250.00   6,250.00   

Insurance 272.00   2,563.64   (2,291.64)  2,947.00   (2,675.00)   

Legal Fees -   -   -   15,000.00   (15,000.00)   

Public Hearings -   -   -   200.00   (200.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees -   3,900.00   (3,900.00)   34,500.00   (34,500.00)   

Consulting Fees 5,000.00   5,375.00   (375.00)   8,000.00   (3,000.00)   

Advertising 55,275.00   25,000.00   30,275.00   40,166.00   15,109.00   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 775.40   350.00   425.40   795.00   (19.60)   

Conferences & Travel -   -   -   2,850.00   (2,850.00)   

Business Meetings 466.25   - 466.25  450.00   16.25   

Dues & Subscriptions 626.60   - 626.60  425.00   201.60   

Miscellaneous -   2,751.87   (2,751.87)  100.00   (100.00)   

Communications 3,568.86   888.54   2,680.32  1,909.00   1,659.86   

Bad Debt Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 590.37   (6,788.00)   7,378.37   10,503.00   (9,912.63)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   -   -   8,333.00   (8,333.00)   

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 132,302.40   70,007.32   62,295.08   195,374.00   (63,071.60)   

Workforce Salaries 40,730.82   40,346.20   384.62   42,947.00   (2,216.18)   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. 3,932.94   3,262.59   670.35   4,940.00   (1,007.06)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 16,673.78   9,268.80   7,404.98   21,235.00   (4,561.22)   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 61,337.54   52,877.59   8,459.95   69,122.00   (7,784.46)   

Total Expenses 193,639.94   122,884.91   70,755.03   264,496.00   (70,856.06)   

Net Income IDA (22,210.83)   (66,783.16)   44,572.33   (185,374.00)   163,163.17   

Net Income WIB (16,781.67)   8,311.96   (25,093.63)   - (16,781.67)  

Net Income (38,992.50)$     (58,471.20)$     19,478.70$     (185,374.00)$     146,381.50$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Income Statement

For the Four Months Ending April 30, 2022

Current Month
This Year

Current Month
Last Year

Variance 
Over/(Under)

Current Month
Budget

Variance Budget
Current Month

Revenues

Agency Fees 477,471.07$    5,000.00$    472,471.07$    -$   477,471.07$   

Management Fees 73,990.00   77,500.00   (3,510.00)   80,000.00   (6,010.00)   

Application Fees 3,000.00   1,800.00   1,200.00   1,200.00   1,800.00   

Refinancing Fee -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer Title/Ownership -   -   -   -   -   

Interest on Note purchased -   -   -   -   -   

Pier License Fee 65,000.00   20,000.00   45,000.00   40,000.00   25,000.00   

Write Up To Value Note-Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Interest Earned IDA Savings 3,872.45   3,047.19   825.26   - 3,872.45 

Miscellaneous 909.47   (10.00)   919.47   200.00   709.47   

Subtotal  IDA Revenues 624,242.99   107,337.19   516,905.80   121,400.00   502,842.99   

Workforce Grant 160,689.42   157,306.53   3,382.89   275,580.00   (114,890.58)   

Total Revenues 784,932.41   264,643.72   520,288.69   396,980.00   387,952.41   

Expenses

Salaries 86,293.89   121,705.52   (35,411.63)   138,688.00   (52,394.11)   

Rental Expense 54,420.36   41,228.51   13,191.85   50,836.00   3,584.36   

Payroll Taxes-FICA 6,851.07   9,279.26   (2,428.19)   13,672.00   (6,820.93)   

Pension Costs 9,745.18   32,706.00   (22,960.82)   48,842.00   (39,096.82)   

Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Payroll Taxes-UI 2,733.15   - 2,733.15 2,839.00   (105.85)   

Payroll / Tax Processing 1,506.20   2,393.09   (886.89)   1,508.00   (1.80)   

Employee Benefits 31,477.35   29,573.48   1,903.87   44,409.00   (12,931.65)   

Office Supplies 2,439.39   2,610.14   (170.75)   2,800.00   (360.61)   

Office Furniture -   -   -   -   -   

Equipment -   -   -   3,500.00   (3,500.00)   

Postage & Delivery 3,065.59   1,454.19   1,611.40   945.00   2,120.59   

Printing & Reproduction 3,405.70   1,565.94   1,839.76   3,200.00   205.70   

Appraisal Fees 12,500.00   - 12,500.00  25,000.00   (12,500.00)   

Insurance 2,921.00   5,212.64   (2,291.64)  2,947.00   (26.00)   

Legal Fees - 53,291.74  (53,291.74)  60,000.00   (60,000.00)   

Public Hearings - - -  1,000.00   (1,000.00)   

Audit & Accounting Fees 9,750.00   7,800.00   1,950.00  40,500.00   (30,750.00)   

Consulting Fees 38,150.00   31,125.00   7,025.00  57,000.00   (18,850.00)   

Advertising 171,894.96   112,424.13   59,470.83  146,666.00   25,228.96   

Pre-Apprenticeship Expenses -   -   -   -   -   

Auto Expense 2,250.80   1,445.40   805.40   2,390.00   (139.20)   

Conferences & Travel -   -   -   6,400.00   (6,400.00)   

Business Meetings 1,405.75   1,199.40   206.35   2,000.00   (594.25)   

Dues & Subscriptions 3,991.10   425.00   3,566.10   4,300.00   (308.90)   

Miscellaneous 140.69   2,751.87   (2,611.18)   400.00   (259.31)   

Communications 8,642.44   4,387.26   4,255.18   10,236.00   (1,593.56)   

Bad Debt Expense 10,000.00   - 10,000.00 - 10,000.00  

Community Relations -   -   -   -   -   

Yonkers Raceway Fnds-Education -   -   -   -   -   

Pier Proj NYPA Expense 1,839.79   1,557.34   282.45   42,013.00   (40,173.21)   

Pier Proj Sec 108 Note Int Exp 1,686.75   1,856.75   (170.00)   10,119.00   (8,432.25)   

Pier Proj Other Expenses -   2,762.50   (2,762.50)   33,333.00   (33,333.00)   

Pier Depreciation Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Write Down to Current -Larkin -   -   -   -   -   

Transfer to YCDA -   -   -   -   -   

COVID Grant Expense -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal  IDA Expenses 467,111.16   468,755.16   (1,644.00)   755,543.00   (288,431.84)   

Workforce Salaries 166,923.28   163,384.80   3,538.48   171,787.00   (4,863.72)   

Workforce-Payroll Related Exp. (81,625.26)   17,178.75   (98,804.01)   27,761.00   (109,386.26)   

Workforce Employee Benefits 63,738.74   107,807.34   (44,068.60)   76,032.00   (12,293.26)   

Subtotal WIB Expenses 149,036.76   288,370.89   (139,334.13)   275,580.00   (126,543.24)   

Total Expenses 616,147.92   757,126.05   (140,978.13)   1,031,123.00   (414,975.08)   

Net Income IDA 157,131.83   (361,417.97)   518,549.80   (634,143.00)   791,274.83   

Net Income WIB 11,652.66   (131,064.36)   142,717.02   - 11,652.66  

Net Income 168,784.49$     (492,482.33)$     661,266.82$       (634,143.00)$     802,927.49$       

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



Yonkers Industrial Development Agency
Balance Sheet
April 30, 2022

Current Assets

 Cash and equivalents $4,754,283.88

 Cash - Restricted - Pier Project 67,424.15

 Cash - Workforce Investment 172,823.72

Pilot Payment Escrow Account 126,881.54

 Accounts Receivable Pending Future Developer Chicken Island 670,000.00

    Offset In event of non-development of Chicken Island (670,000.00)

 Accounts Receivable - Pier 96,250.00

Allowance for Pier (96,250.00)

COVID Loan Receivable 134,041.78

Prepaid Expenses 9,229.17

 Restricted cash - Austin Ave 13,721.92

 Restricted cash - Kubasek/Post Projects 0.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage 2,629,000.00

Loan Receivable Larkin Garage- Due from Yonkers Larkin Garage Int 410,059.00

Allowance for Larkin Garage (3,039,059.00)

  Total Current Assets $5,278,406.16

 Equipment, net $2,363.32

 Pier Leasehold Improvements, net 3,028,860.00 3,031,223.32

     Total Assets 8,309,629.48   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 542,818.00   

  Total Assets & Deferred Outflows $8,852,447.48

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable/Accrued Liabilities 27,337.19   

 Workforce Acct Payable/Accr Liab 407.36

Pier Acct Payable/Accr Liab 0.00

 GASB 68 Pension Liability 2,189.00

Family leave payable 1,125.67

Escrow funds Payable 0.00

Escrow Deposits 126,825.00

Scholarship Payable 0.00

 Due to other entities 13,721.92

 Pier Sec 108 Note Payable 675,000.00

 Pier Sec NYPA Loan Payable 235,055.32

CBA Services 21,400.00

 Escrow Deposit - Kubasek/Post Projects 20.56

     Total Liabilities $1,103,082.02

Deferred Inflows of Resources 647,989.00   

  Total Liabilities & Deferred Outflows $1,751,071.02

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets $4,940,078.99

Contributed Capital 2,322,267.57  

Restricted 100,621.00   

Retained earnings 1,325,805.77   

 Pier Project 163,674.15

Unrestricted $671,817.55

  Total Net Position $7,101,376.46

  Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Net Position $8,852,447.48

Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

DRAFT



 

 

FINAL RESOLUTION 

(St. Clair Development LLC Project) 

A regular meeting of the City of Yonkers Industrial Development Agency was convened in on 

July 5, 2022. The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit: 

Resolution No. 07/2022-11 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF YONKERS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (i) ACKNOWLEDGING THE PUBLIC HEARING HELD BY THE 

AGENCY WITH RESPECT TO THE ST. CLAIR DEVELOPMENT LLC 

PROJECT, (ii) AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN 

AGENT, FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND PROJECT AGREEMENT, LEASE 

AGREEMENT, LEASEBACK AGREEMENT, TAX AGREEMENT, TAX 

AGREEMENT MORTGAGE AND RELATED DOCUMENTS; (iii) 

AUTHORIZING FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO ST. CLAIR DEVELOPMENT, 

LLC IN THE FORM OF (A) A SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION FOR 

PURCHASES AND RENTALS RELATED TO THE ACQUISITION, 

CONSTRUCTION, RECONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION AND EQUIPPING 

OF THE PROJECT, (B) A REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT 

STRUCTURED THROUGH A TAX AGREEMENT, AND (C) A MORTGAGE 

RECORDING TAX EXEMPTION AS PERMITTED BY NEW YORK STATE 

LAW; AND (iv) AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 

MORTGAGE AND RELATED DOCUMENTS.   

 

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 

York, as amended, and Chapter 83 of the Laws of 1982 of the State of New York, as amended 

(hereinafter collectively called the “Act”), CITY OF YONKERS INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (hereinafter called the “Agency”) was created with the authority 

and power to own, lease and sell property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring, 

constructing and equipping civic, industrial, manufacturing and commercial facilities as authorized 

by the Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, ST. CLAIR DEVELOPMENT LLC, for itself or an entity to be formed (the 

“Company”) has submitted an application (the “Application”) to the Agency requesting the 

Agency’s assistance with a certain project (the “Project”) consisting of: (i) the acquisition or 

retention of vacant parcels commonly known as 32, 36, 38 Main Street and 1 and 3 Riverdale 

Avenue (Section 1, Block 501, Lots 18, 19, 20, 22, and 23) (the “Land”); (ii) the construction, 

renovation, improving, maintaining and equipping on the Land of a 10-story mixed-use residential 

and commercial building comprising 76 affordable rental units, including 12 studio, 36 one-

bedroom, 23 two-bedroom, and 5 three-bedroom units, commercial space on the ground floor, and 

34 off-street parking spaces, totaling approximately 81,105 square feet (the “Improvements”); and 

(iii) the acquisition and installation in and around the Land and Improvements of certain items of 

equipment and other tangible personal property (the “Equipment”, which together with the Land 

and Improvements are the “Facility”); and 

 

DRAFT 



IDA Resolution No. 07/2022-11 
Final Resolution – St. Clair Development LLC 
July 5, 2022 
TC: Harris Beach PLLC 

 

Page 2 

WHEREAS, on April 20, 2022, the Agency adopted a resolution with respect to the Project: 

(i) accepting the Application of the Company, (ii) directing that a public hearing be held, and (iii) 

describing the Financial Assistance (as hereinafter defined) being contemplated by the Agency 

with respect to the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the Agency will enter into an agent, financial assistance 

and project agreement, pursuant to which the Agency will designate the Company as its agent for 

the purpose of constructing and equipping the Project (the “Agent Agreement”), (ii) negotiate and 

enter into a lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”), leaseback agreement (the “Leaseback 

Agreement”) and tax agreement (the “Tax Agreement”) with the Company, and, if required by the 

Agency, a Tax Agreement mortgage (the “Tax Agreement Mortgage”), (iii) take a leasehold 

interest in the Land, the Improvements and personal property constituting the Project (once the 

Lease Agreement, Leaseback Agreement and Tax Agreement (and Tax Agreement Mortgage, if 

applicable have been negotiated), and (iv) provide Financial Assistance to the Company in the 

form of (a) a sales and use tax exemption for purchases and rentals related to the acquisition, 

construction and equipping of the Project, (b) a partial real property tax abatement structured 

through the Tax Agreement, and (c) a mortgage recording tax exemption as permitted by New 

York State Law (collectively, the “Financial Assistance”); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 859-a, on June 27, 2022, at 3:00 

p.m., at the offices of Agency at 470 Nepperhan Avenue, Suite 200, Yonkers, New York 10701, 

the Agency held a public hearing with respect to the Project and the proposed Financial Assistance 

being contemplated by the Agency (the “Public Hearing”) whereat interested parties were provided 

a reasonable opportunity, both orally and in writing, to present their views.  A copy of the Notice 

of Public Hearing - published and forwarded to the affected taxing jurisdictions with Notice Letter 

at least ten (10) days prior to said Public Hearing - is attached hereto as Exhibit A, along with the 

Affidavit of Publication of The Journal News, and Minutes of the Public Hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Yonkers Planning Board (“Yonkers Planning Board”), as lead 

agency, conducted a review of the Project pursuant to the New York State Environmental Quality 

Review Act, Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and its implementing regulations 

at 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617 (collectively referred to as “SEQRA”), which resulted in the issuance of 

a negative declaration by the Yonkers Planning Board dated January 12, 2022 (the “Negative 

Declaration”) attached hereto as Exhibit B, concluding the SEQRA process; and  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE CITY OF 

YONKERS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Public Hearing held concerning the Project and the Financial 

Assistance was duly held in accordance with the Act, including, but not limited to, the giving of at 

least ten (10) days published notice of the Public Hearing (such notice also provided to the Chief 

Executive Officer of each affected tax jurisdiction), affording interested parties a reasonable 

opportunity, both orally and in writing, to present their views with respect to the Project. The 

Agency hereby determines that the Project is a “commercial” project under the Act, and that 



IDA Resolution No. 07/2022-11 
Final Resolution – St. Clair Development LLC 
July 5, 2022 
TC: Harris Beach PLLC 

 

Page 3 

undertaking and providing financial assistance to the Project (i) will promote and maintain the job 

opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of the City of 

Yonkers and the State of New York (“State”) and improve their standard of living, (ii) will preserve 

the competitive position of the Project and will not result in the removal of an industrial, 

manufacturing or commercial plant of the Company or any occupant of the Project from one area 

of the State to another area of the State or in the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities 

of the Company or any occupant of the Project except as permitted by the Act, and (iii) is 

authorized by the Act and will be in furtherance of the policy of the State as set forth therein.   

 

Section 2. The Agency is hereby authorized to provide to the Company the Financial 

Assistance in the form of (a) a sales and use tax exemption for purchases and rentals related to the 

acquisition, construction, reconstruction, renovation and equipping of the Project, (b) a real 

property tax abatement structured through the Tax Agreement, and (c) a mortgage recording tax 

exemption for the Mortgage as permitted by State law, except for an amount representing the 

“additional tax” imposed on each mortgage of real property situated within the State imposed by 

paragraph (a) of subdivision (2) of Section 253 of the Tax Law. 

  

Section 3. Subject to the Company executing an Agent Agreement (in a form to be 

approved by Counsel to the Agency and/or Transaction Counsel) and the delivery to the Agency 

of a binder, certificate or other evidence of liability insurance policy for the Project satisfactory to 

the Agency, the Agency hereby authorizes the Company to proceed with the acquisition, 

construction and equipping of the Project and hereby appoints the Company as the true and lawful 

agent of the Agency: (i) to acquire, construct and equip the Project; (ii) to make, execute, 

acknowledge and deliver any contracts, orders, receipts, writings and instructions, as the stated 

agent for the Agency with the authority to delegate such agency, in whole or in part, to agents, 

subagents, contractors, and subcontractors of such agents and subagents and to such other parties 

as the Company chooses; and (iii) in general, to do all things which may be requisite or proper for 

completing the Project, all with the same powers and the same validity that the Agency could do 

if acting in its own behalf; provided, however, the Agent Agreement shall expire on December 

31, 2025 (unless extended for good cause by the Executive Director of the Agency) if the Lease 

Agreement, Leaseback Agreement, Tax Agreement and Tax Agreement Mortgage contemplated 

have not been executed and delivered. 

 

Section 4.  Based upon the representation and warranties made by the Company in its 

Application for financial assistance, the Agency hereby authorizes and approves the Company as 

its agent to make purchases of goods and services relating to the Project and that would otherwise 

be subject to State and local sales and use tax in an amount up to $17,700,000.00, which result in 

State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits (“sales and use tax exemption benefits”) not 

to exceed $1,570,875.00.  The Agency agrees to consider any requests by the Company for 

increase to the amount of sales and use tax exemption benefits authorized by the Agency upon 

being provided with appropriate documentation detailing the additional purchases of property or 

services. 

 

Section 5. Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the New York General Municipal Law, the 

Agency may recover or recapture from the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or 



IDA Resolution No. 07/2022-11 
Final Resolution – St. Clair Development LLC 
July 5, 2022 
TC: Harris Beach PLLC 

 

Page 4 

any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, any sales and use tax 

exemption benefits taken or purported to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, 

subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, if it 

is determined that: (i) the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, is not entitled to the sales and use tax 

exemption benefits; (ii) the sales and use tax exemption benefits are in excess of the amounts 

authorized to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project; (iii) the sales and use tax exemption 

benefits are for property or services not authorized by the Agency as part of the Project; or (iv) the 

sales and use tax exemption benefits are taken in cases where the Company, its agents, consultants, 

subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, fails 

to comply with a material term or condition to use property or services in the manner approved by 

the Agency in connection with the Project.  As a condition precedent of receiving sales and use 

tax exemption benefits, the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, must (i) cooperate with the Agency in 

its efforts to recover or recapture any sales and use tax exemption benefits, and (ii) promptly pay 

over any such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands. 

 

 Section 6. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, President, Executive Director, Secretary 

and/or the CFO of the Agency the Agency are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to 

negotiate and enter into (A) the Agent Agreement, (B) the Lease Agreement, pursuant to which 

the Company leases the Project to the Agency, (C) the related Leaseback Agreement, pursuant to 

which the Agency leases its interest in the Project back to the Company, and (D) the Tax 

Agreement and Tax Agreement Mortgage; provided, that, (i) the rental payments under the 

Leaseback Agreement include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency arising out of or 

related to the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company for actions taken by the 

Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the Project; and (ii) the terms of the Tax 

Agreement are consistent with the Agency's Uniform Tax Exemption Policy or the procedures for 

deviation have been complied with. 

 

Section 7. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and/or the Secretary of 

the Agency are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute, deliver and record any 

mortgage, security agreement, UCC-1 Financing Statements and all documents reasonably 

contemplated by these resolutions or required by any Lender identified by the Company (the 

“Lender”) up to a maximum principal amount necessary to refinance existing Company debt and 

to undertake the Project, acquire the Facility and/or finance or refinance the Facility or equipment 

and other personal property and related transactional costs (hereinafter, with the Agent Agreement, 

Lease Agreement, Leaseback Agreement, Tax Agreement and Tax Agreement Mortgage, 

collectively called the “Agency Documents”); and, where appropriate, the Secretary or Assistant 

Secretary of the Agency is hereby authorized to affix the seal of the Agency to the Agency 

Documents and to attest the same, all with such changes, variations, omissions and insertions as 

the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and/or the Secretary of the Agency shall 

approve, the execution thereof by the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and/or the 



IDA Resolution No. 07/2022-11 
Final Resolution – St. Clair Development LLC 
July 5, 2022 
TC: Harris Beach PLLC 

 

Page 5 

Secretary of the Agency to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval; provided in all events 

recourse against the Agency is limited to the Agency’s interest in the Project. 

 

Section 8. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized 

and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required and 

to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees, charges 

and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the opinion of 

the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of the foregoing 

resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants and provisions 

of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 

Section 9. The Yonkers Planning Board (the “Lead Agency”) has conducted a review 

pursuant to SEQRA and issued a Negative Declaration, determining that the Project did not present 

a potential significant adverse environmental impact.  Having reviewed the Negative Declaration, 

as well as the other representations and information submitted with the Application, the Agency 

concurs with the Lead Agency's findings and Negative Declaration.  The Agency further 

determines that the Project does not pose a potential significant adverse environmental impact. 

 

Section 10. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.  

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, 

which resulted as follows: 

 

 

    Yea  Nay  Abstain Absent 

 

Mayor Mike Spano   [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Marlyn Anderson  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Melissa Nacerino  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Hon. Cecile D. Singer  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Henry Djonbalaj  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Roberto Espiritu  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

 

 

 

The Resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 



IDA Resolution No. 07/2022-11 
Final Resolution – St. Clair Development LLC 
July 5, 2022 
TC: Harris Beach PLLC 

 

Page 6 

CERTIFICATION 

(St. Clair Development LLC Project) 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER ) ss.: 

 

I, MARLYN ANDERSON, the undersigned Secretary of the City of Yonkers Industrial 

Development Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 

That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of the City of Yonkers 

Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”), including the resolution contained therein, held 

on July 5, 2022, with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a true and correct 

copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolution set forth therein and of the whole of 

said original insofar as the same related to the subject matters therein referred to. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting, 

that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public Officers 

Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public notice of 

the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with Article 7. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present 

throughout said meeting. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force 

and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said Agency 

this ____ day of July, 2022. 

 

 

 

              

        Marlyn Anderson, Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



�����������	
��		
��������	���������	���	���������	������	�	�����	���		� !�"��#$	��%	 !�"	&���&		'(&�)*�(+,-*&						%%%./!�"��#�0�.1!2	

�.��&( &	!3	&�	

456786	9:;6<	=>?@ABC?DAEF	A?@>GHEDA>?	IJ>KFB	LMN	OC	A?ICGDCB	A?	DJAI	@>GH	EI	DJAI	@>GH	PAFF	OC	Q>IDCB	>?	>KG	RSTUVWSX		YZZ	[\]̂V_S]WV̀Z	V]̂\ab̀WV\]	Uc\dZ_	TS	V]USaWS_	Te	b̀afV]g	hUSS	[\]̂V_S]WV̀Z	̀WẀ[cbS]W	]\WS	ij	SW[X	���������		��
��k�����	lmmnopqrstu	vqwxy	 z���	!3	3���{	���{�1���!�	��|2�##�!�}		~~~~~~	�	~~~~~~~	�	~~~~~~~~~	��2�	!3	���#!�	�!2�{�����	���{�1���!�	��0	���{�}	��2�	!3	�!2���/	'�3	���{�1�|{�)}	�00��##}	��!��}	 �!|�{�}	 �2��{}	������	��
��k�����	��!��1�	�00��##}	�{!1"'#)	�	�!�'#)}	���#���	����{	�%���	!3	����}	 �#	���{�1�����33�{����	���#���	!%���	!3	���	#����				 	 �#					�!	�!%	%�{{	���	#���	|�	�1�����0}	���	�����������	 ����	�#	���	#���	�{����0	�!	|�	�1�����0}	�������	�!��}							 ��!�!#�0	�!��}	 ���	��/	������1�	���0�0}	�#	���#	��!��1�	{!1���0	��}	 z�#���##�0	����}	 	 �#	 	�!	 ��3	��"�!%�$	�{��#�	�������	%���	�z�	���33�!�2��	�2����	�!��}	 	 �#	 	�!	���������	��	�
	�������		����1�	/!��	3�{{	��!��1�	���������	�����2���	0�#1��|���	��!��1�	'�.�}	{��0	�1���#���!�$	#1!��	!3	1!�#���1��!�$	��2�{���$	#�	3!!����$	�#���	|���"0!%�$	����1�����0	�������#$	1!����|���!�	�!	1!22����/$	��1.)	��0	���0�����#	�!	���	1!2�{���0	���{�1���!�	��!�	3���{	#�|2�##�!�.		�#	���	{!1���!�	1������{/}	 		 �1���	{��0			�|��0!��0			��	�#�	�	!11����0	�{��#�	��!��0�	�	|���3	0�#1�����!�	!3	���	1������	�#�	!3	��!��1�	{!1���!�'#)}	 ��!�!#�0	¡¢£¤xpstu	£mx¢qso£r	s¥mxy			�!22��1��{					����3�1������				�����}	~~~~~~~~~~~~			¦����{	'1!2�{���	�����{	���#��!������)									�!�#���}		����!�	�	�33!�0�|{�	�	���"��	¦���		�3	�!�#���	�{��#�	��!��0�		§	!3	����#$	����	2�̈$	#�����	{���{	�#�}	�{��#�	��!��0�	�	|���3	0�#1�����!�	!3	���	����1���{	�#�	!3	��!��1�	��!�	1!2�{���!�}	©ª«¬ª®̄	̄ª®	°±²³®́ª	µ«¶¶	·®®̄	ª²	̧®¹«·	ºª«¶«»«·¹	̧®·®¼«ª©�			 ½½½½½½		¾	½½½½½		¾	½½½½½½½½½½½	�«¿®¶«À²²̄	²¼	́ ²́¬°¶«©À«·¹	°±²°²©®̄	°±²³®́ª	µ«ªÀ«·	ªÀ±®®	ÁÂÃ	Ä®±©}	 	��"�{/					!�						Å�{�"�{/	

ÆÇÈÉ ÊËÌÍ	ÎËÏÎ	ÐÏÎÑ	ÌËÒÓÏÔÕÖ	×ÎÏØÒËÑ	ÓÐ	ÙÚØÛØ×	ÜÚÏÎÑ	ÚØ	ÝÞÝßÞàà	

áß áÝ àáàà

âãäåææçåçèèç âãäåéãâåêãëè ìíîïðñòóóîôõîñö÷òøùò��ñ�õ�ù���óîð���ò	òó�ïõò�ù
������øòï��ïðñòóóî
��÷ù��ð�ò���òï�òøò�ùîùð	òñ����îñö÷òøùò����õïî�ðòø
�äé���ð�ù��	ò�÷ò
��÷ðùò�ãëë
��òóîõ
��ò�������ãë�ëééæ��îð���ù�òòù�î���é���îð���ù�òòù��éè��îð���ù�òòù
�ã��ð	ò��îóò��	ò�÷ò
�é��ð	ò��îóò��	ò�÷ò�êëãåã�
�êëãåãâ
�êëãåèë
�êëãåèè
�êëãåèé�ù���óîð���ò	òó�ïõò�ù
�����î�����������������õ����� ��ùø�èë
�èè
���èé �ê�èè����õ���������ùø�ã����ãâ����ò������ïïóðñî�ù
çæ��ò�ùîó���òóóð�!�÷�ðùø��ðù�!��÷����ó����ñ�õõò�ñðîó�òò�îùùîñò��"#ð�ðù���

$�òøð�ò�ùðîó��÷ðó�ð�!















































































































0 | PAGE 

0 | PAGE 

St. Clair Residences Project 

 St. Clair Development, LLC
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS FOR THE 

CITY OF YONKERS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

JULY 1, 2022

DRAFT



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   1 | PAGE 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

PURPOSE OF THIS ANALYSIS 

St. Clair Development, LLC (Applicant) requests  financial 

assistance from the City of Yonkers IDA (Agency) for St. Clair 

Residences, an affordable housing and mixed use facility (Project.)  

Storrs Associates, LLC has been engaged to conduct an objective, 

third-party analysis to assist the Agency with its evaluation of the 

application. The Project includes: 

 75 affordable housing units in the Mixed-Use Downtown Zoning 

District 

 34 parking spaces and a payment in lieu for 32 

 Financing from NYS HFA, Westchester HOME, and Low-Income 

Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC) 

 5,700 Square Feet of leasable commercial space 

Financial assistance requested includes: 

 30-Year PILOT schedule with a 35% maximum abatement, 

present value of savings of $1,974,659 

 Construction Materials Sales Tax Abatement of $1,155,386  

CONCLUSIONS 

This analysis concludes that the financial assistance is necessary 

for financial feasibility, and without it, the Project would not be 

built, and would not be able to repay debt. 

The financial return on an affordable housing project with HFA 

participation is a Developer’s Fee, calculated and limited by HFA 

based on the Project costs.  The fee is a gross number and does 

not specifically include expenses for development costs such as 

planning, assembling financing, or approvals. The fee is divided 

into an up-front fee paid out of equity, in this case from LIHTC 

investors, and a deferred fee that is received from project net 

cashflow over no more than 15 years. HFA approves both. 

 Developer Fee is expected to be $7,010,220, 11.19% of 

development costs and within a common range of 10% - 12% for 

HFA supported projects. The Applicant assumes the risk of non-

completion and insufficient cashflow to pay the full fee.  

This analysis further estimates the following benefits: 

 Project construction is expected to generate 341 direct jobs,  and 

add more than $36 million to the city’s Gross Regional Product 

(GRP), the local version of U.S. GDP.  

 Annual operations are estimated to support 17 on-site 

employees, and 5 jobs in the city from spending on local goods 

and services. This activity adds an estimated $3 million annually 

to GRP in Yonkers. 

The benefit/cost ratio within Yonkers is $2.36/$1.00. 

The fiscal benefit is estimated to be $3,107,675 over 30 years. 

CONTENTS OF THIS REPORT:  

IDA BENEFITS TO PROJECT 3 

PROJECT BENEFITS TO YONKERS 4 

FISCAL BENEFITS AND COSTS 6 

PROJECT OPERATIONS 7 

FINANCING PLAN 9 

PILOT ANALYSIS 11 

 

  



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   2 | PAGE 

 

SUMMARY OF RESULTS  

ESTIMATED BENEFITS AND COSTS FOR YONKERS 

ESTIMATED RETURNS FOR APPLICANT 

The total Developer Fee is expected to be $7,010,220, 11.19% of 

development costs, subject to final approval by HFA. This is within 

a common range of 10% - 12% for HFA supported projects1. The 

Applicant assumes the risk of non-completion, and of insufficient 

cashflow over 15 years to pay deferred component. The fee is paid: 

 
1 HFA calculates the fee as (1) up to 15% of certain construction costs plus 

(2) up to 10% of acquisition costs. The aggregate fee is therefore less than 

 $4,221,022 paid by LIHTC investors upon timely completion and 

rent-up.  

 $2,789,178 deferred and paid by Project cashflow over 15 years.  

ESTIMATED ECONOMIC IMPACT & OUTPUT 

 22 ongoing jobs created in the City of Yonkers, and a $2,903,642 

estimated annual increase to the Gross Regional Product (GRP), 

the local equivalent of US GDP. 

 Construction spending creates 341 direct jobs and adds 

$36,440,188 to GRP during a 28-36 month construction period. 

15%  for all projects and the range from the blended formula commonly 

yields between 10% and 12% to the developer. HFA approves the fee. 

Fiscal Benefits (Total New Revenue over 30 Years)

Sales Tax from Construction Materials Purchases $585,781

Sales Tax from Construction Worker Spending 51,584

Sales Tax from On-Site Worker and Household Spending 239,609

Sales Tax from Operations, Taxable Purchases 163,835

Real Property Tax 4,348,677

Total Fiscal Benefits $5,389,485

Fiscal Costs (Foregone Revenue)

Property Tax $1,696,030

Mortgage Recording Tax 0

Construction Sales Tax 585,781

Total Fiscal Costs (Foregone Revenue) $2,281,811

Net Benefit $3,107,675

Benefit/Cost Ratio $2.36 to $1.00

Note: Taxes are calculated for PILOT period, then discounted by 3%.

Jobs and Worker Income During Construction Period

Direct Indirect Induced Total

New Jobs 341 3 2 346

Labor Income $29,817,681 $234,982 $129,766 $30,182,429

Average Income $87,442 $78,327 $64,883 $230,652

Value Added, or Contribution to Yonkers GRP $36,440,188

Construction Trades Workers Detail, All Jobs are Direct

Direct

New Jobs 125

Hours Worked 244,545

Compensation $10,019,454

Avg Hourly Rate $41

 Direct Jobs are at the Project during construction or operation 

 Indirect Jobs are supported by business to business purchases 

 Induced Jobs are supported by employee and household spending 

Jobs and Income -  Employees and Resident and Business Purchases

Direct Indirect Induced Total

New Jobs 17 2 3 22

Labor Income $1,053,210 $94,178 $156,466 $1,303,853

Average Income $61,269 $55,075 $59,720 $176,063

Value Added, or Contribution to Yonkers GRP $2,903,642



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   3 | PAGE 

 

IDA BENEFITS TO PROJECT 
Storrs Associates analyzed pro forma cashflows and project 

financing details submitted by the Applicant. With Agency 

assistance: 

 The Applicant is expected to earn the $7,010,220 Developer’s 

Fee, which is limited and approved by HFA, including $4,221,022 

paid up front and $2,789,178 within the 15-year cutoff period 

established by the IRS for LIHTC-funded projects. 

 Project cash flow will meet or exceed annual debt service on the 

HFA loan. 

 Project operations will generate net cash flow for each of the 30 

years of operation, and the facility will continue to operate.  

 Table 2 summarizes the value of the assistance over 30 Years. 

Details of the PILOT are provided below in the PILOT Analysis. 

Table 1 

Table 2 

Project Financial Performance Measures

With PILOT No PILOT

Total Project Cost, with Developer Fee $63,035,454 $63,035,454

Developer Fee, Limited by NYS HFA $7,010,220 $7,010,220

Progress Toward Earning Deferred Developer's Fee: Target is $2,789,178

Cumulative Cashflow by Year 15 $2,789,178 $615,742

% of Deferred Fee Earned by Year 15 100.00% 22.08%

Cumulative Cashflow, Year 30 (end) $6,433,663 $3,556,256

Progress Toward Repaying Construction Cost Debt

Annual Debt Service is Covered by 

Operating Cash Flow Each Year Yes No

Performance assumes operations begin in PILOT Year 4, with completion and isuance of a Temporary 

Certificate of Occupancy (TCO). An earlier TCO would improve the Project's financial performance but 

would not increase the Developer Fee earned by the Applicant.

Estimated Financial Assistance Requested Total Project City of Yonkers 

Yonkers School 

District

Westchester 

County State, MTA Table Reference

Sales Tax Exemption on Construction Materials

Construction Materials Costs, Estimated (1) $13,018,438 $13,018,438 $0 $0 $13,018,438

Sales Tax Rate Subject to Exemption (2) 8.875% 4.500% 0.000% 4.000% 4.375%

Estimated Sales Tax Exemption (3) $1,155,386 $585,781 $0 not calculated $569,557 This table

Real Property Tax Abatement

Estimated Real Property Taxes if no PILOT, Present Value $5,063,091 $1,420,563 $2,928,114 $714,414 n/a Tables 14 - 17

Less: Estimated PILOT Tax Payments, Present Value (3,088,432) (866,529) (1,786,119) (435,785) n/a Tables 14 - 17

Real Property Tax Abatement, Present Value 1,974,659 554,035 1,141,995 278,629 0

Estimated Financial Assistance Requested, Total Present Value $3,130,045 $1,139,816 $1,141,995 $278,629 $569,557

Present Value Discount Rate is 3%

(1) All materials are estimated to be purchased in Yonkers, using a retail or wholesale supplier.

(2) City of Yonkers retains 50.7% of the total rate of 8.875% on purchases within the City, or 4.5%. Source: City of Yonkers IDA. 

(3) Total is maximum abatement assuming all materials purchases owe the full 8.875%. Actual abatement will vary depending on sales tax rates at the location of purchase.



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   4 | PAGE 

 

PROJECT BENEFITS TO 

YONKERS 
341 jobs are estimated2 to be required for all activities needed to 

design, build, and finance the Project, including site work and 

infrastructure, building construction, architecture and 

engineering, and professional fees. Interest costs, permits, fees, 

and reserves are not included.  

All of the construction jobs contribute to the Yonkers economy 

because the Project is in Yonkers, regardless of where the workers 

live. The Applicant expects that approximately 80% of on-site 

workers will originate within the 100-mile local hiring radius.  

 
2 Jobs, wages, and GRP calculated with the IMPLAN input-output model. 

The impact of Project operations1 is calculated using the 

Applicant’s estimated payroll for retail workers in the commercial 

space, plus facility management. 75 new households are 

estimated to earn $3,496,500 annually, with 11% of income, after 

housing costs, taxes, and modest savings, spent within the city. 

Economic Impact of Construction in Yonkers

Basic Information

Timeframe 36 Months, Treated as 1 Year for Calculations

Construction Costs $40,956,038

Jobs and Worker Income During Construction Period

Direct Indirect Induced Total

New Jobs 341 3 2 346

Labor Income $29,817,681 $234,982 $129,766 $30,182,429

Average Income $87,442 $78,327 $64,883 $230,652

Value Added, or Contribution to Yonkers GRP $36,440,188

Construction Trades Workers Detail, All Jobs are Direct

Direct

New Jobs 125

Hours Worked 244,545

Compensation $10,019,454

Avg Hourly Rate $41

Table 3 

Table 5 

Table 4 

Economic Impact of Project Operations in Yonkers

Basic Information

Timeframe Annually

Payroll $1,020,000

Additional Purchases $310,705

Jobs and Worker Income for Project Employees

Direct Indirect Induced

New Jobs 17 2 0

Labor Income $1,053,210 $94,178 $1,774

Average Income $61,269 $55,075 $59,139

Value Added, or Contribution to Yonkers GRP $2,587,362

Economic Impact of New Households in Yonkers

Basic Information

Timeframe Annually

Income $3,496,500

Jobs and Worker Income, Resident Spending

Induced

New Jobs 3

Labor Income $154,691

Average Income $59,726

Value Added, or Contribution to Yonkers GRP $316,280



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   5 | PAGE 

 

The economic activity from Project construction, Project operation, 

and household spending also generates sales taxes on a portion 

of the goods and services purchased. New sales tax revenue 

generated by the Project is estimated as follows, and shown in 

Table 6. 

 Within Yonkers a sales tax rate of 8.875% is applied, with 4.5% 

of collected taxes retained as city revenue. 

 Construction workers purchase meals, gas, and workday 

incidentals for each day worked. The NYS per diem for 

Westchester County, $50, is used. Workdays are hours worked 

from Table 3, above, divided by 8-hour days. 75% of purchases 

are expected to be taxable. 

 Retail and management workers at St. Clair Residences are 

expected to purchase meals, gas, and incidentals, but to spend 

only $25 per day because of the ongoing nature of the job and 

the slightly lower salary.  

 Based on the Applicant’s pro forma cash flows, taxable 

operations costs include electricity, estimated at $125,000 per 

year. The City earns its 4.5% sales tax. 

 Households are estimated to spend 11% of income after taxes3 

and housing costs in the City of Yonkers. These purchases are 

more likely to include non-taxable goods such as groceries, and 

45% are estimated to be taxable in New York4.  

  

 
3 Based on purchases calculated by the IMPLAN input-output model. 4 Estimates by Storrs Associates using data from the NYS Dept. of Tax and 

Finance and Bureau of Economic Analysis expenditures. 

Table 6 

Sales Tax Revenue from Project Construction and Operation

Construction Worker Spending, Construction Period Only

Construction Worker Per Diem, $50 for 30,568 workdays $1,528,406

75% Taxable Spending at 8.875% Tax Rate 101,735

4.5% Sales Tax Retained by City of Yonkers $51,584

On-Site Worker Spending

On-Site Worker Per Diem, $25 for 245 annual workdays $105,289

75% Taxable Spending at 8.875% Tax Rate 7,008

4.5% Sales Tax Retained by City of Yonkers, First Year $3,553

Present Value of Annual Tax over 30 Years $103,500

Facility Operations, Taxable Purchases

Electricity Purchase $125,000

4.5% Sales Tax Retained by City of Yonkers, First Year $5,625

Present Value of Annual Tax over 30 Years $163,835

Resident Household Spending

Household Income after Housing and Taxes $2,097,900

11% Spent in City of Yonkers 103,846

45% Taxable Spending at 8.875% Tax Rate 9,216

4.5% Sales Tax Retained by City of Yonkers, First Year $4,673

Present Value of Annual Tax over 30 Years $136,109

Sales Taxes from Operations and Households over 30 Years $403,444

Household and Project spending are estimated to increase 3% annually. Spending is 

discounted Present Value at a rate of 3%.



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   6 | PAGE 

 

FISCAL BENEFITS AND COSTS 
FISCAL BENEFIT / COST RATIO 

A ratio of tax benefits to foregone tax revenue, or savings to the 

Project can help evaluate the effects of both the Project and the 

financial assistance. This is a hypothetical analysis only, as without 

the requested financial assistance the Project would not be built.  

 

 

 

 

New York State requires Industrial Development Agencies to 

conduct a cost/benefit (benefit/cost) analysis but does not 

establish a ratio or benchmark. The Agency can use the 

benefit/cost ratio to compare similar projects over time, and to 

understand how the Project affects different jurisdictions. 

  Table 7 

Estimated Fiscal Benefits and Costs of Financial Assistance in Yonkers

Fiscal Benefits  City of Yonkers

Yonkers School 

District

Total Effects in 

Yonkers Table Reference

One-time Sales Tax Revenue from Construction Materials Purchase $585,781 $0 $585,781 Table 6

One-time Sales Tax Revenue from Construction Labor Per Diem 51,584 0 51,584 Table 6

Sales Tax Revenue from On-Site Employee Per Diem, Present Value 103,500 0 103,500 Table 6

Sales Tax Revenue from Household Spending, Present Value 136,109 0 136,109 Table 6

Sales Tax Revenue from On-Site Operations, Present Value 163,835 0 163,835 Table 6

Property Tax Revenue from Project if No PILOT is Awarded 1,420,563 2,928,114 4,348,677 Tables 14 - 17

Total Fiscal Benefits $2,461,372 $2,928,114 $5,389,485

Fiscal Costs (Foregone Revenue)

Foregone One-Time Sales Tax on Construction Materials Sales $585,781 $0 $585,781 Table 2

Foregone One-Time Mortgage Recording Tax 0 0 0 Not Requested

Foregone Property Tax Revenue, Present Value (Exemption) 554,035 1,141,995 1,696,030 Tables 14 - 17

Total Costs of Financial Assistance $1,139,816 $1,141,995 $2,281,811

Benefit to Cost Ratios 2.16 2.56 2.36

(1) 125 workers on site per day, spending $50 per day, the state's per diem for Westchester County. This accounts for meals, gas, and incidentals, 75% of which is taxable.

(2) 17 workers on site per day, spending $25 per day, 75% of which is taxable, over 30 years and discounted by 3%.

(3) 75 households spending 11% of disposable income after shelter and taxes within the City of Yonkers, 45% of which is taxable.



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   7 | PAGE 

 

PROJECT OPERATIONS 
RENT AND AFFORDABILITY 

The Applicant provided details of rents5 for the project, shown in 

Table 8, below. Commercial space at $25.00/SF is less costly than 

Westchester County’s average of $29.486.  

 
5 Rents subject to final approval by HFA 
6 Source: CBRE Westchester County Q4 2021 

Storrs Associates calculated an Estimated Household Income 

needed for each household to pay no more than 30% of annual 

income in rent, and confirmed the leases meet the Area Median 

Income thresholds.7 

  

7 Source: Westchester County 2022 Income & Rent Program Guidelines 

Area Median Income (AMI), Sales & Rent Limits. 

Table 8 Rent Data from St. Clair Development

Type

Affordable 

% AMI 

# of 

Units or 

Spaces

Per Unit 

Monthly Rent

Per Unit 

Annual Rent

Estimated 

Household 

Income (1)

First Year 

Income to 

Project

Commercial, 5,700 SF 3 n/a $25/SF n/a $142,500

Housing: 100% Low-Income Units

Studio 50% 2 $1,213 $14,556 $48,520 $29,112

1BR 50% 17 $1,300 $15,600 $52,000 $265,200

2BR 50% 10 $1,560 $18,720 $62,400 $187,200

3BR 50% 3 $1,802 $21,624 $72,080 $64,872

Studio 60% 2 $1,456 $17,472 $58,240 $34,944

1BR 60% 10 $1,560 $18,720 $62,400 $187,200

2BR 60% 10 $1,872 $22,464 $74,880 $224,640

3BR 60% 6 $2,163 $25,956 $86,520 $155,736

Studio 80% 1 $1,941 $23,292 $77,640 $23,292

1BR 80% 5 $2,080 $24,960 $83,200 $124,800

2BR 80% 6 $2,496 $29,952 $99,840 $179,712

3BR 80% 3 $2,884 $34,608 $115,360 $103,824

Totals $1,580,532

Garage Parking 46 $65 $780 n/a $35,880

(1) Income needed to pay no more than 30% on rent, calculated by Storrs Associates.



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   8 | PAGE 

 

OPERATING SNAPSHOT AT PILOT YEAR 5 

The second full year of operations is used to create a snapshot of 

Project performance. Storrs Associates finds the operating 

assumptions in the Applicant’s pro forma and Application to be 

reasonable for this type of project. The following operating factors 

were specifically evaluated: 

 A 5% vacancy rate is used for residential units and parking, 

conforming to HFA standards and in line with the market rate of 

5.2%8 for multifamily housing. 

 A 10% vacancy rate is used for the commercial space, 

conforming to HFA standards and in line with the 10.7% vacancy 

reported by CBRE9 for the southern part of Westchester County. 

 Income increases by 2% per year, and operating costs by 3%, 

except real property taxes. Both of these escalators  conform to 

HFA standards. For a project where rents are restricted, but 

costs are subject to inflation, this is both conservative and 

reasonable, and consistent with estimates for prior affordable 

housing projects in the City. 

 An Expense Ratio of 41% with the PILOT, compared with a 

benchmark of 45.21%, shows the Project is not overestimating 

operating costs. With no PILOT, the higher real property taxes 

drive the Expense Ratio above the benchmark to 51%. 

 

  

 
8 Source: CBRE Westchester County Q4 2021 9 Ibid 

Table 9 

Comparison of Operating Results, Second Year of Operations

30 Year PILOT No PILOT

Net Operating Income

Gross Operating Income after Vacancy $1,704,408 $1,704,408

Less: Operating Expenses (693,677) (869,513)

  Non-Tax Operating Expenses and Reserve (599,343) (599,343)

  Real Property Tax Expense (94,334) (270,170)

Net Operating Income (NOI) $1,010,731 $834,895

Net Income after Debt Service

Debt Service ($879,497) ($879,497)

Net Operating Income after Debt Service $131,234 ($44,603)

NOI after Debt Service as a % of EGI 8% -3%

Non-Tax Operating Expenses as a % of EGI 35% 35%

Real Property Tax Expense as a % of EGI 6% 16%

Expense Ratio, Benchmark 45.21% 41% 51%

Benchmark from RealtyRates.com 2022 Q2 Market Survey



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   9 | PAGE 

 

FINANCING PLAN 
CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

Project costs will be paid with a combination of debt, public grants, 

State and Federal Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC and 

SLIHC), and the deferred portion of the Developer Fee. As shown 

in Table 10, Project costs are estimated to be $63,035,454, 

including the HFA-conforming Developer Fee of $7,010,220. 

Storrs Associates reviewed the capital structure, and confirmed 

the terms and costs of the long-term debt as reasonable in the 

current market, and finds it to be reasonable and customary for 

this type of project. HFA also approves the capital structure. 

   

Table 10 

Table 11 

Financing Terms, Long Term Debt

Principal $11,160,000

Term in Years 30

Interest Rate 4.75%

Years of Interest Only 0

Market Value (NOI/CapRate) after 30 Years

Net Income (NOI) $1,242,539

Capitalization Rate (CapRate) 7.90%

Market Value (NOI/CapRate) $15,728,347

Principal Outstanding $0

Source: Applicant. CapRate from RealtyRates.com Investor Survey, Q2 2022

Sources and Uses of Funds

Sources of Funds Amount Percent

Debt Repaid by Operations

HFA Bonds, Long Term Debt $11,160,000 18%

Debt Not Repaid by Operations (1)

HFA New Construction Capital Program $10,640,000 17%

Westchester Land Acquisition Funds 1,960,000 3%

Grant Funding

NYSERDA $152,000 0%

Westchester HOME Funds 1,100,000 2%

NYS CIF Funds 1,023,637 2%

Low-Income Housing Tax Credits

Federal LIHTC $23,176,161 37%

State SLIHC 5,249,475 8%

Brownfield Equity 5,000,000 8%

Equity

Deferred Developer Fee $2,789,178 4%

Accrued Interest 785,003 1%

Total Sources $63,035,454 100%

Uses of Funds

Land Acquisition $1,960,000 3%

Hard Costs 37,537,351 60%

Soft Costs 5,982,002 9%

Developer Fee, Limited by NYS HFA 7,010,220 11%

Financing Costs 10,545,881 17%

Total Uses $63,035,454 100%

Source: Applicant

(1) Applicant lists these under debt but they do not contribute to annual debt service costs.



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   10 | PAGE 

 

DEVELOPER FEE 

As discussed in the Executive Summary and throughout this 

report, The financial return on an affordable housing project with 

HFA participation is a Developer’s Fee, calculated and limited by 

HFA based on the Project costs.   

The Applicant assumes the risk of non-completion, and of 

insufficient cashflow over 15 years to pay deferred component. 

The IRS allows only 15 years for payment of the deferred fee, after 

which the developer can no longer collect the fee, regardless of 

whether the full amount was paid. 

The fee is a gross number and does not specifically include 

expenses for development costs such as planning, assembling 

financing, or approvals. The fee is divided into an up-front fee paid 

out of equity, in this case from LIHTC investors, and a deferred fee 

 
10 HFA calculates the fee as (1) up to 15% of certain construction costs plus 

(2) up to 10% of acquisition costs. The aggregate fee is therefore less than 

that is received from project net cashflow over no more than 15 

years. HFA approves both. 

The total Developer Fee is expected to be $7,010,220, 11.19% of 

development costs, subject to final approval by HFA. This is within 

a common range of 10% - 12% for HFA supported projects10.  

The fee is paid: 

 $4,221,022 paid by LIHTC investors upon timely completion and 

rent-up.  

 $2,789,178 deferred and paid by Project cashflow over 15 years 

to cover time and expertise to manage the Project.  

 

  

15%  for all projects and the range from the blended formula commonly 

yields between 10% and 12% to the developer. HFA approves the fee. 

Calculation and Confirmation of Developer Fee

Total Fee Component, % Fee Component, $ HFA Fee Cap

Development Costs $61,075,454 11.16% $6,814,220 15.00%

Property Acquisition Costs $1,960,000 10.00% $196,000 10.00%

Totals $63,035,454 11.12% $7,010,220 See Note

Notes: Total fees allowed by NYS HFA are customarily between 10% and 12%. Fees subject to approval by HFA.

HFA allows up to 15% of selected development costs, with exclusions such as required reserves, and is therefore never 15% of full 

development costs or project costs. The fee for development costs is shown here as a percent of all development costs so that it 

can be compared to other projects in which HFA participates.

Table 12 



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   11 | PAGE 

 

PILOT ANALYSIS 
NOTES AND DISCLAIMERS: 

This PILOT analysis is an estimate based on currently available 

information, including operating information from the Applicant, 

and the actual Project revenue, assessed value, tax rates, and tax 

obligations may be different. 

If a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (TCO) is issued prior to 

Year 4, the PILOT abatement will begin in that year. 

METHODOLOGY 

1. Calculate the taxes on the Base Value and escalate by 1% 

annually.  

2. Calculate an estimated future/full market value after completion 

of the Project, and estimate taxes using the income approach 

recommended by the city’s Assessor. 

3. Calculate the increase in assessment, or Added Value, from the 

Project and create a PILOT schedule that reduces taxes on the 

Added Value.  

4. Calculate the savings to the Project from the PILOT, annually and 

over 30 years, discounted to present value. Calculate the 

percent abatement over the PILOT period. 

 

Summary results are presented in Table 13 and Figure 1. Full tables 

follow on the next pages. 

  

Comparison of Taxes on Full Value of Project, and Project with PILOT

City of Yonkers School District County All Jurisdictions

Taxes without PILOT 1,420,563$      2,928,114$      714,414$         5,063,091$      

Less: PILOT Payments (866,529)$        (1,786,119)$     (435,785)$        (3,088,432)$     

Foregone Revenue 554,035$         1,141,995$      278,629$         1,974,659$      

Abatement Percent 35% 35% 35% 35%

Net New Taxes Compared with No Project

PILOT Payments 866,529$         1,786,119$      435,785$         3,088,432$      

Less: Taxes without Project (69,472)$          (143,198)$        (34,938)$          (247,607)$        

Net New Tax Revenue 797,057$         1,642,921$      400,847$         2,840,825$      

All taxes are present value with a discount rate of 3%

Table 13 

Figure 1 



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   12 | PAGE 

 

ESTIMATED PILOT and Foregone Revenue, All Jurisdictions ESTIMATED PILOT and Foregone Revenue, City of Yonkers

PILOT Year

Total 

Estimated 

Taxes without 

PILOT

PILOT 

Payments

Foregone 

Revenue, all 

Jurisdictions

Abatement: 

Reduction from 

Full Taxes PILOT Year

Total 

Estimated 

Taxes without 

PILOT

PILOT 

Payments

Foregone 

Revenue, all 

Jurisdictions

Abatement: 

Reduction from 

Full Taxes

1 $11,136 $11,136 $0 0% 1 $3,124 $3,124 $0 0%

2 11,247 11,247 0 0% 2 3,156 3,156 0 0%

3 11,360 11,360 0 0% 3 3,187 3,187 0 0%

4 267,496 88,280 (179,216) 67% 4 75,052 24,769 (50,283) 67%

5 270,170 94,334 (175,836) 65% 5 75,802 26,468 (49,335) 65%

6 272,872 100,501 (172,371) 63% 6 76,560 28,198 (48,363) 63%

7 275,601 106,782 (168,819) 61% 7 77,326 29,960 (47,366) 61%

8 278,357 118,506 (159,851) 57% 8 78,099 33,250 (44,850) 57%

9 281,141 125,073 (156,068) 56% 9 78,880 35,092 (43,788) 56%

10 283,952 131,759 (152,193) 54% 10 79,669 36,968 (42,701) 54%

11 286,791 138,567 (148,225) 52% 11 80,466 38,878 (41,588) 52%

12 289,659 151,042 (138,618) 48% 12 81,270 42,378 (38,892) 48%

13 292,556 158,152 (134,404) 46% 13 82,083 44,373 (37,710) 46%

14 295,481 165,390 (130,092) 44% 14 82,904 46,404 (36,500) 44%

15 298,436 172,756 (125,680) 42% 15 83,733 48,471 (35,262) 42%

16 301,421 186,024 (115,397) 38% 16 84,570 52,193 (32,377) 38%

17 304,435 193,712 (110,723) 36% 17 85,416 54,350 (31,066) 36%

18 307,479 201,534 (105,945) 34% 18 86,270 56,545 (29,725) 34%

19 310,554 209,494 (101,060) 33% 19 87,133 58,778 (28,355) 33%

20 313,660 223,598 (90,062) 29% 20 88,004 62,735 (25,269) 29%

21 316,796 231,898 (84,898) 27% 21 88,884 65,064 (23,820) 27%

22 319,964 240,342 (79,623) 25% 22 89,773 67,433 (22,340) 25%

23 323,164 248,931 (74,233) 23% 23 90,671 69,843 (20,828) 23%

24 326,395 263,916 (62,479) 19% 24 91,578 74,048 (17,530) 19%

25 329,659 272,866 (56,794) 17% 25 92,493 76,559 (15,935) 17%

26 332,956 281,968 (50,988) 15% 26 93,418 79,112 (14,306) 15%

27 336,286 291,225 (45,061) 13% 27 94,352 81,710 (12,643) 13%

28 339,648 307,140 (32,508) 10% 28 95,296 86,175 (9,121) 10%

29 343,045 316,778 (26,266) 8% 29 96,249 88,879 (7,370) 8%

30 346,475 346,475 0 0% 30 97,211 97,211 0 0%

Total $8,278,193 $5,400,786 ($2,877,407) 35% Total $2,322,632 $1,515,311 ($807,321) 35%

Present Value $5,063,091 $3,088,432 ($1,974,659) n/a Present Value $1,420,563 $866,529 ($554,035) n/a

Source: Applicant, Storrs Associates. Present Value discount rate is 3.0%. Source: Applicant, Storrs Associates. Present Value discount rate is 3.0%.

Tables 14 and 15  



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   13 | PAGE 

 

  

ESTIMATED PILOT and Foregone Revenue, Yonkers School District ESTIMATED PILOT and Foregone Revenue, Westchester County

PILOT Year

Total 

Estimated 

Taxes without 

PILOT

PILOT 

Payments

Foregone 

Revenue, all 

Jurisdictions

Abatement: 

Reduction from 

Full Taxes PILOT Year

Total 

Estimated 

Taxes without 

PILOT

PILOT 

Payments

Foregone 

Revenue, all 

Jurisdictions

Abatement: 

Reduction from 

Full Taxes

1 $6,440 $6,440 $0 0% 1 $1,571 $1,571 $0 0%

2 6,505 6,505 0 0% 2 1,587 1,587 0 0%

3 6,570 6,570 0 0% 3 1,603 1,603 0 0%

4 154,699 51,055 (103,645) 67% 4 37,744 12,457 (25,288) 67%

5 156,246 54,556 (101,690) 65% 5 38,122 13,311 (24,811) 65%

6 157,809 58,122 (99,687) 63% 6 38,503 14,181 (24,322) 63%

7 159,387 61,755 (97,632) 61% 7 38,888 15,067 (23,821) 61%

8 160,981 68,535 (92,446) 57% 8 39,277 16,722 (22,555) 57%

9 162,591 72,333 (90,258) 56% 9 39,670 17,648 (22,022) 56%

10 164,217 76,200 (88,017) 54% 10 40,066 18,592 (21,475) 54%

11 165,859 80,137 (85,722) 52% 11 40,467 19,552 (20,915) 52%

12 167,517 87,351 (80,166) 48% 12 40,872 21,312 (19,559) 48%

13 169,192 91,463 (77,729) 46% 13 41,280 22,316 (18,965) 46%

14 170,884 95,649 (75,235) 44% 14 41,693 23,337 (18,356) 44%

15 172,593 99,909 (72,684) 42% 15 42,110 24,376 (17,734) 42%

16 174,319 107,582 (66,737) 38% 16 42,531 26,248 (16,283) 38%

17 176,062 112,028 (64,034) 36% 17 42,956 27,333 (15,623) 36%

18 177,823 116,552 (61,271) 34% 18 43,386 28,437 (14,949) 34%

19 179,601 121,156 (58,445) 33% 19 43,820 29,560 (14,260) 33%

20 181,397 129,312 (52,085) 29% 20 44,258 31,550 (12,708) 29%

21 183,211 134,112 (49,099) 27% 21 44,701 32,721 (11,979) 27%

22 185,043 138,996 (46,048) 25% 22 45,148 33,913 (11,235) 25%

23 186,894 143,963 (42,931) 23% 23 45,599 35,125 (10,474) 23%

24 188,763 152,629 (36,133) 19% 24 46,055 37,239 (8,816) 19%

25 190,650 157,805 (32,845) 17% 25 46,516 38,502 (8,014) 17%

26 192,557 163,069 (29,488) 15% 26 46,981 39,786 (7,195) 15%

27 194,482 168,423 (26,060) 13% 27 47,451 41,093 (6,358) 13%

28 196,427 177,627 (18,800) 10% 28 47,925 43,338 (4,587) 10%

29 198,392 183,201 (15,191) 8% 29 48,404 44,698 (3,706) 8%

30 200,375 200,375 0 0% 30 48,888 48,888 0 0%

Total $4,787,488 $3,123,411 ($1,664,077) 35% Total $1,168,073 $762,064 ($406,009) 35%

Present Value $2,928,114 $1,786,119 ($1,141,995) n/a Present Value $714,414 $435,785 ($278,629) n/a

Source: Applicant, Storrs Associates. Present Value discount rate is 3.0%. Source: Applicant, Storrs Associates. Present Value discount rate is 3.0%.

Tables 16 and 17  



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   14 | PAGE 

 

    

Table 18  

Estimated Per-Unit Taxes, Full Taxes and PILOT Payments, and Per-Unit Savings from PILOT

PILOT Year

Estimated Full 

Taxes, No 

Abatement

Estimated Payment 

per Unit PILOT Payment

Savings to Project 

(Foregone Revenue)

Estimated Payment 

per Unit Savings Per Unit

1 11,136 Unimproved 11,136 $0 Unimproved Unimproved

2 11,247 Unimproved 11,247 $0 Unimproved Unimproved

3 11,360 Unimproved 11,360 $0 Unimproved Unimproved

4 267,496 3,567 88,280 179,216 1,177 2,390

5 270,170 3,602 94,334 175,836 1,258 2,344

6 272,872 3,638 100,501 172,371 1,340 2,298

7 275,601 3,675 106,782 168,819 1,424 2,251

8 278,357 3,711 118,506 159,851 1,580 2,131

9 281,141 3,749 125,073 156,068 1,668 2,081

10 283,952 3,786 131,759 152,193 1,757 2,029

11 286,791 3,824 138,567 148,225 1,848 1,976

12 289,659 3,862 151,042 138,618 2,014 1,848

13 292,556 3,901 158,152 134,404 2,109 1,792

14 295,481 3,940 165,390 130,092 2,205 1,735

15 298,436 3,979 172,756 125,680 2,303 1,676

16 301,421 4,019 186,024 115,397 2,480 1,539

17 304,435 4,059 193,712 110,723 2,583 1,476

18 307,479 4,100 201,534 105,945 2,687 1,413

19 310,554 4,141 209,494 101,060 2,793 1,347

20 313,660 4,182 223,598 90,062 2,981 1,201

21 316,796 4,224 231,898 84,898 3,092 1,132

22 319,964 4,266 240,342 79,623 3,205 1,062

23 323,164 4,309 248,931 74,233 3,319 990

24 326,395 4,352 263,916 62,479 3,519 833

25 329,659 4,395 272,866 56,794 3,638 757

26 332,956 4,439 281,968 50,988 3,760 680

27 336,286 4,484 291,225 45,061 3,883 601

28 339,648 4,529 307,140 32,508 4,095 433

29 343,045 4,574 316,778 26,266 4,224 350

30 346,475 4,620 346,475 0 4,620 0

Total, 30 Years $8,278,193 n/a $5,400,786 $2,877,407 n/a n/a

NPV,  3.0% $5,063,091 $3,088,432 $1,974,659



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   15 | PAGE 

 

ABOUT THIS REPORT 
SCOPE OF SERVICES - FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT 

ANALYSIS 

The purpose of the report is to provide a consistent, accurate, and 

reliable analysis of a proposed project that has asked the Agency 

for financial assistance. The three basic components are: 

1. Evaluate the capital structure, operating assumptions, and 

financial performance of the Project, calculate return on 

investment, and provide an opinion on whether the 

requested financial assistance is necessary and 

reasonable. This includes drafting a PILOT schedule for the 

Agency’s approval. 

2. Estimate the economic impact of construction, ongoing 

project operations, and household spending using jobs, 

labor income, and contribution to the Gross Regional 

Product (GRP) of the City of Yonkers. 

3. Create a benefit/cost analysis that compares new tax 

revenue resulting from the Project with the costs of the 

financial assistance. 

DATA SOURCES 

DEMOGRAPHIC AND HOUSING INFORMATION  

Esri is an internationally-recognized provider 

of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and 

demographic  data and visualization tools. 

Esri’s demographic data is gathered from the U.S. Census, the 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, and Bureau of Economic Analysis. Esri 

uses current and historical data to create estimates of future 

demographic characteristics. Any estimates used by Storrs 

Associates are clearly labeled as such. 

ECONOMIC IMPACT  

IMPLAN is a regional economic analysis software application that 

is designed to estimate the impact or 

ripple effect (specifically backward 

linkages) of a given economic activity 

within a specific geographic area through 

the implementation of its Input-Output model. Studies, results, 

and reports that rely on IMPLAN data or applications are limited 

by the researcher’s assumptions concerning the subject or event 

being modeled. Studies such as this one are in no way endorsed 

or verified by IMPLAN Group, LLC unless otherwise stated by a 

representative of IMPLAN. IMPLAN® model, 2022 Data, using 

inputs provided by the user and IMPLAN Group LLC, IMPLAN 

System (data and software), 16905 Northcross Dr., Suite 120, 

Huntersville, NC 28078 www.IMPLAN.com.  

MARKET BENCHMARKS AND TRENDS  

RealtyRates.com™ is a comprehensive 

resource of real estate investment and development news, trends, 

analytics, and market research that support real estate 

professionals involved with more than 50 income producing and 

sell-out property types throughout the U.S. RealtyRates.com™ is 

the publisher of the award-winning Investor, Developer and 

Market Surveys, providing data essential to the appraisal, 

evaluation, disposition and marketing of investment and 

development real estate nationwide. 



STORRS ASSOCIATES FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND IMPACT ANALYSIS OF ST. CLAIR RESIDENCES PROJECT, YONKERS IDA   16 | PAGE 

 

ABOUT STORRS ASSOCIATES 

Storrs Associates, LLC is a partner and advisor to public and private 

entities seeking to encourage economic growth and to make direct 

public and private investments. We deliver client-driven, high 

quality advice, customized analyses and reports, public speaking 

and learning sessions, and transaction management. Victoria 

Storrs, the company President, founded the firm in 2021 to provide 

direct, responsive service to municipal governments and the public 

and private organizations who work with and for them.  She has 

worked with municipal governments for more than 20 years, 

beginning as an investment banker at First Albany Corporation and 

managing debt financings for state public authorities. She taught 

money and capital markets at the State University of New York at 

Albany School of Business, and has been a development finance 

and economic development consultant for more than seven years, 

including five years at Camoin Associates of Saratoga Springs, NY, 

where she became the firm’s first Development Finance Practice 

Leader.  

Storrs Associates, LLC is located in Albany County, NY, and serves 

clients throughout New York and the Northeast. Learn more at 

www.storrsassociates.com and on LinkedIn. 

 

This report was prepared by Victoria Storrs, President and 

Founder. 

Vstorrs@storrsassociates.com 

(518) 512-9537 

 

 

 

 

 

Terms of Use 

This report was created for the Yonkers Industrial Development 

Agency, for its sole and exclusive use, which includes publication 

by the Agency in connection with its review of a project’s request 

for financial assistance.  

This report and the data generated may not be reproduced in any 

form or manner without attribution to Storrs Associates, LLC.

http://www.storrsassociates.com/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/victoriastorrs/


 

 

PREPARED BY STORRS ASSOCIATES, LLC FOR  

THE YONKERS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

(518) 512-9537  •  VStorrs@StorrsAssociates.com 

Expert, Reliable Advice & Research for Economic Development 


	Agenda
	Minutes - March 31, 2022
	Minutes - April 20, 2022
	Financials - December 2021 thru April 2022 
	Final Resolution - St. Clair Development LLC



